
MEETING AGENDA 

JOINT/CONCURRENT MEETINGS OF THE MOUNTAIN BROOK CITY COUNCIL AND 
THE MOUNTAIN BROOK EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS DISTRICT 

CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBER 
56 CHURCH STREET 

MOUNTAIN BROOK, AL 35213 

FEBRUARY 9,2015,7:00 P.M. 

1. Approval of the minutes of the January 26,2015 organizational meeting of the Mountain Brook 
Emergency Communications District (the only business matter before the Board of Commissioners of the 
Mountain Brook Emergency Communications District). 

2. Approval of the minutes of the January 26,2015 regular meeting of the City Council. 

3. Consideration: Resolution adopting the "City of Mountain Brook Amended and Restated Section 115 
Trust Agreement, Effective February 9, 2015" with respect to the City's post-employment benefits 
(medical insurance) plan. 

4. Consideration: Resolution authorizing execution a franchise agreement with Southern Light, LLC with 
respect to their use of City right-of-way for the provision of local exchange telecommunications services. 

5. Consideration: Resolution authorizing the execution of the (MWCF) Preferred Pay Plan Agreement 
Addendum with respect to the City's workers' compensation plan effective February 1,2015. 

6. Public hearing: Consideration of an ordinance repealing Sections 109-3 1, 109-32, 109-1 95, 109-227, and 
18-20 of the City Code and adopting the 2015 International Building Code, 2015 International Residential 
Code, 20 15 International Fuel Gas Code, 20 15 International Mechanical Code, 201 5 International 
Plumbing Code, the 2015 International Fire Code (all to become effective April 1,2015). 

7. Public hearing: South Brookwood Road at Brookwood Forest Elementary proposed traffic improvements. 

8. Public hearing: Overhill Road at Balmoral Road, Hastings Road, and Laurel Lane proposed traffic 
improvements. 

9. Announcement: The next regular meeting of the City Council is February 23,2015, at 7:00 p.m. in the 
Council Chamber of City Hall located at 56 Church Street, Mountain Brook, AL 35213. 

10. Comments from residents. 

1 1. Adjourn. 

boone
Text Box
2015-023

boone
Text Box
2015-024

boone
Text Box
2015-025

boone
Text Box
1926

boone
Text Box
1927

boone
Text Box
1928



Minute Book 86 

MINUTES OF THE ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING OF THE 
MOUNTAIN BROOK EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS DISTRICT 

JANUARY 26,2015 

The Mountain Brook Emergency Communications District ("District") met in a regular public session 
to conduct its organizational meeting in the City Hall Council Chambers (Room A 108) of the City of 
Mountain Brook on Monday, the 26th day of January 201 5, at 655P.M. 

The meeting was called to order and the roll of the Board of Commissioners was called with the 
following results: 

Present: Jack D. Carl 
William S. ("Billy") Pritchard, I11 
Lloyd C. Shelton 
Alice B. Womack 

Absent: Virginia C. Smith 

Also present were Attorney Whit Colvin, Mayor of City of Mountain Brook Lawrence T. Oden, City 
of Mountain Brook Manager Sam Gaston, and City of Mountain Brook Clerk Steven Boone. 

1. ELECTION OF THE CHAIRMAN AND VICE-CHAIRMAN OF DISTRICT BOARD 

District member Pritchard announced that, at its November 3,2014 organizational meeting, the 
Mountain Brook City Council appointed the members of the City Council as the Board of Commissioners of 
the Mountain Brook Emergency Communications District ("District") (City Council Motion No. 2014-149). 
District member Pritchard then invited a motion appointing a new Chairman of the District. District member 
Shelton made a motion (2015-009) that District member Virginia C. Smith be appointed Chairman of the 
District. The motion was seconded by District member Womack. There being no further comments or 
discussion, a vote on that motion was called with the following results: 

Ayes: Jack D. Carl 
William S. ("Billy") Pritchard, I11 
Lloyd C. Shelton 
Alice B. Womack 

Nays: None 

District member Pritchard then declared that the motion (No. 201 5-009) carried by a vote of 4-4. 

District member Pritchard then invited a motion appointing a new Vice-Chairman of the District. 
District member Womack made a motion (201 5-010) that District member Pritchard be appointed Vice- 
Chairman of the District. The motion was seconded by District member Shelton. There being no further 
comments or discussion, a vote on that motion was called with the following results: 

Ayes: Jack D. Carl 
William S. ("Billy") Pritchard, I11 
Lloyd C. Shelton 
Alice B. Womack 

Nays: None 

District member Pritchard then declared that the motion (No. 20 15-0 10) carried by a vote of 4 - 4 .  

J:Ulinutes & AgendasE911 District\2015\20150126 Minutes E911 (Organizational Meeting).doc January 26,20 15 



Minute Book 86 

2. CONSENT AGENDA 

Newly elected Vice-Chairman Pritchard announced that the following matters will be considered at 
one time as consent items provided no one in attendance objects: 

Index No. . 
2015-011 Adoption of the rules of order and procedure 
Motion 

Appendix 1 

2015-012 Appoint the Chief of Police of the City of Mountain Brook as 
Motion the District Administrator 

2015-013 Appoint the City ClerklFinance Director of the City of 
Motion Mountain Brook as the Clerk and Finance Director of the 

District 

2015-014 Ratify and accept the fiscal 2015 District operating budget as Appendix 2 
previously adopted by the Mountain Brook City Council upon 
its adoption of Ordinance No. 19 15 on September 22,20 14 

2015-015 Ratify the transfer(s) of funds a) $9,843.75 for fiscal 2014 and Exhibit 1 
b) 14,822.64 for fiscal 2015 from the District's E-911 (Regions 
Bank) checking account to the City of Mountain Brook's 
Capital Projects Fund (441) to reimburse the City for its 
purchases on behalf of the District 

2015-016 Authorize the District Administrator to enter a Professional Exhibit 2, 
Services Agreement with 91 lconsult, Inc. with respect to Appendix 3 
consulting services for the replacementlupgrade of the District's 
E911 computer servers and software systems, and other services 

2015-017 Accept the $1 54,423 quotation of Ryan Public Safety Solutions Appendix 4 
(RPSS) for the District to purchase an upgraded E911 hardware 
purchaselsoftware licenselwarranty agreement for the District, 
and, subject to the approval of District counsel and the District 
Administrator, authorize the Chairman to execute an agreement 
with RPSS for the supply, install and maintain that upgraded 
system 

2015-018 Authorize the transfer from the District's E-911 (Regions Bank) Exhibit 3 
checking account of funds in the amount of $154,423 to 
reimburse the City of Mountain Brook's Capital Projects Fund 
(441) for its anticipated purchase from RPSS of the upgraded 
E911 hardware and software and services as approved in 201 5- 
0 17 (above) 

Thereupon, the foregoing motions (Nos. 20 15-0 1 1 through 20 15-0 13) and resolutions (Nos. 20 15-0 14 
through 201 5-0 18) were introduced by Vice-Chairman Pritchard and the motion for the unanimous consent for 
their immediate consideration was made by District member Shelton. District member Womack seconded the 
motion. District Vice-Chairman Pritchard then called for a vote with the following results: 

Ayes: Jack D. Carl 
William S. ("Billy") Pritchard, 111, Vice-Chairman 
Lloyd C. Shelton 
Alice B. Womack 

J:\Minutes & AgendasE911 District\2015\20150126 Minutes E911 (Organizational Meeting).doc January 26,20 15 



Minute Book 86 

Nays: None 

District Vice-Chairman Pritchard then declared that the motion carried by a vote of 4 - 4 .  

The motions and resolutions were then considered by the District. District Vice-Chairman Pritchard 
then invited a motion adopting the motions (Nos. 20 15-0 1 1 through 201 5-0 13) and resolutions (Nos. 20 15-0 14 
through 201 5-01 8). District member Womack made a motion that the motions (Nos. 201 5-0 1 1 through 20 15- 
0 13) and resolutions (Nos. 20 15-0 14 through 20 15-0 18) be adopted. The motion was seconded by District 
member Shelton. There being no further comments or discussion, a vote on that motion was called with the 
following results: 

Ayes: Jack D. Carl 
William S. ("Billy") Pritchard, 111, Vice-Chairman 
Lloyd C. Shelton 
Alice B. Womack 

Nays: None 

Vice-Chairman Pritchard thereupon declared that said motions (Nos. 20 15-0 1 1 through 20 15-0 13) and 
Resolutions (Nos. 2015-014 through 201 5-01 8) are adopted by a vote of 4--0. 

3. ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the District at this time, Vice-Chairman Pritchard 
adjourned the meeting. 

Steven Boone, District Clerk 

EXHIBIT 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2015-015 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the Mountain Brook Emergency 
Communications District that the Board hereby ratifies and approves the May 21,2014 transfer of funds 
(IVAP14819) from the District to the City of Mountain Brook Capital Projects Fund to reimburse the City for 
the following capital purchases made by the City on May 21,2014 on behalf of the District: 

Vendor Short Description #441-3490-6730-0801 Amount 
Net Motion Wireless, Inc. (P. 0. 5981) software license (25 seats) for the 

District's public safety mobile data terminals $9,843.75 
Total $9.843.75 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the Board of Commissioners of the Mountain Brook Emergency 
Communications District that the Board hereby ratifies and approves the December 30,2014 transfer of funds 
(GJ 12-27) from the District to the City of Mountain Brook Capital Projects Fund to reimburse the City for the 
following capital purchases made by the City between October 1,2013 and September 30,2014 on behalf of 
the District: 

Vendor Short Description #441-3590-6730-0709 Amount 
Bryan Lourcey (P. 0.5927) labor to case and install custom door $1,300.00 
Ryan Public Safety Solutions (P. 0.5868) E911 dispatch equipment 1,730.00 

J:\Minutes & Agendas\E9l l DistrictU015U0150126 Minutes E9l l (Organizational Meeting).doc January 26,201 5 



Minute Book 86 

MOUNTAIN BROOK CITY COUNCIL 
PRE-MEETING DISCUSSION 

JANUARY 26,2015 

The City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama met in public session in the Pre-council 
Room (A 106) of City Hall at 6:00 p.m. on Monday, the 26th day of January. The Council President Pro 
Tempore called the meeting to order and the roll was called with the following results: 

Present: William S. Pritchard, 111, Council President Pro Tempore 
Alice B. Womack 
Jack D. Carl 
Lloyd C. Shelton 
Lawrence T. Oden, Mayor 

Absent: Virginia C. Smith, Council President 

Also present were City Attorney Whit Colvin, City Manager Sam Gaston, and City Clerk Steven 
Boone. 

1. AGENDA 

1. Presentation of South Brookwood Road at Brookwood Forest Elementary traffic study - Richard 
Caudle of Skipper Consultants (Appendix 1). 

2. Presentation of Hastings Road and Laurel Lane traffic study - Richard Caudle of Skipper Consultants 
(Appendix 2). 

3. Traffic study proposed for English Village including exit from Little Hardware and left-turn arrow 
from Cahaba Road southbound onto Fairway Drive (or include this in one (I)  of the eight (8) 
intersections to be reviewed under the APPLE grant? (Appendix 3) 

The determination as to whether this intersection will be included in the City-wide (Apple Grant) 
traffic study will be made after the conlmunity involvenlent meeting set in agenda item 4 below. 

4. Set date for public involvement meeting for our APPLE grant to determine which eight (8) traffic 
intersections are to be reviewed by City and Skipper Consultants (Appendix 4). 

The community involvement was set for Tuesday, February 10 at 6:00 p.m. 

5. Southern Lights franchise agreement - Steve Stine and Chris Glenos (Appendix 5). 

After hearing about the proposed franchise agreement, the members of the City Council stated that 
they wanted more time to review the proposal and that this matter will be considered again at the 
February 9th meeting. 

6 .  Athletic Field Leases/Agreements update - White Colvin 

7. Review and discussion of the 7 p.m. City Council formal meeting agenda topics. 

Upon conclusion of the City Council's review of the other formal [7 p.m.] agenda issues, Council 
President Pro Tempore Pritchard adjourned the meeting. 

Steven Boone, City Clerk 

January 26,20 15 



Minute Book 86 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA 

JANUARY 26,2015 

The City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama met in public session in the City Hall 
Council Chamber at 7:00 p.m. on Monday, the 26th day of January, 2015. The Council President Pro Tempore 
called the meeting to order and the roll was called with the following results: 

Present: William S. Pritchard, 111, Council President Pro Tempore 
Alice B. Womack 
Jack D. Carl 
Lloyd C. Shelton 
Lawrence T. Oden, Mayor 

Absent: Virginia C. Smith, Council President 

Also present were City Attorney Whit Colvin, City Manager Sam Gaston, and City Clerk Steven 
Boone. 

The City Council President Pro Tempore stated that a quorum was present and that the meeting was 
open for the transaction of business. 

1. JASON HARPE AND CATHERINE CASEY WITH CARR, RIGGS AND INGRAM, LLC 

Jason Harpe and Catherine Casey with Carr, Riggs and Ingram, LLC, presented and discussed a draft 
of the City's 2014 audit report (Appendix 1). 

2. CONSENT AGENDA 

Council President Pro Tempore Pritchard announced that the following matters will be considered at 
one time on the consent agenda provided no one in attendance objects: 

Approval of the minutes of the January 12,2015 regular meeting of the City Council 

2015-019 Accept the September 30,2014 audited financial statements and Appendix 1 
Motion Single Audit of the City as presented by the City's independent 

auditing firm, Carr, Riggs & Ingram, LLC 

2015-020 Set a public hearing for February 23,201 5 to consider an Exhibit 1 
ordinance amending Chapter 129 of the City Code with respect 
to the Vine Street Transitional District 

2015-021 Set a public hearing for February 23,2015 to consider an Exhibit 2 
ordinance rezoning the property located at 30 Vine Street from 
Residence D to Vine Street Transitional District 

2015-022 Authorize the execution of a service agreement between the Exhibit 3 
City and McWane Science Center Appendix 2 

Thereupon, the foregoing minutes, motion and resolutions were introduced by Council President Pro 
Tempore Pritchard and their immediate adoption was moved by Council member Shelton. The minutes and 
resolutions were then considered by the City Council. Council member Womack seconded the motion to 
adopt the foregoing minutes, motion and resolutions. Then, upon the question being put and the roll called, the 
vote was recorded as follows: 

Ayes: William S. Pritchard, 111, Council President Pro Tempore 
Jack D. Carl 

January 26,20 15 



Minute Book 86 

Lloyd C. Shelton 
Alice Womack 

Nays: None 

Council President Pro Tempore Pritchard thereupon declared that said minutes, motion (No. 201 5- 
0 19) and Resolution Nos. 20 15-020 through 20 15-022 are adopted by a vote of 4-4. 

3. CONSIDERATION: RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE INSTALLATION OF A STREET 
LIGHT IN THE ALLEY BEHIND 708 EUCLID AVENUE AND 707 BRADDOCK AVENUE 
(APPENDIX 3) 

The resolution was introduced in writing by the President Pro Tempore who then invited comments 
and input from the audience. 

Carol Seal of 1 15 Fairmont Drive: 
Questions the location of the pole illustrated in the agenda packet. Claims that the pole is located at 
the corner of her backyard. 
Objects to the light because it will [unnecessarily] light up her back yard 
She enjoys looking at the night sky and night owls which she thinks will be less enjoyable if the alley 
is lighted 
Suggested her neighbors install motion sensing outdoor lighting if they want it 
Does not want the light shining into her bedroom 
Asked that the City Council consider installing a speed bump to slow down traffic in the alley 

Shawn Ligon of 708 Euclid Avenue: 
Objects to the light because it will light up his back yard 
The map illustrating where the light is to be located is not correct 
States the pole is actually between 71 1 and 709 Euclid Avenue which is directly behind his house 
Reported that at one time there was a street light at the intersection of the two alleys (at house 
numbers 71 1, 712 and 710) that was removed. Does not object to that light being re-installed. 

Michael James of 7 10 Euclid Avenue: 
Does not object to a street light being installed at the intersection of the two alleys 
Expressed concern about speeding traffic and suspicious people in the alley 

There being no further comments or discussion, Council President Pro Tempore Pritchard suggested 
this matter be continued pending further investigation and possibly bring this matter back for consideration at 
the February 9,2015 meeting of the City Council. 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS REGARDING THE NEXT REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY 
COUNCIL 

Council President Pro Tempore Pritchard announced that the next meeting of the Mountain Brook 
City Council will be held on Monday February 9,2015 at 7:00 p.m. in the Council Chamber of City Hall 
located at 56 Church Street, Mountain Brook, AL 35213. Please visit the City's web site (www.mtnbrook.orq) 
for more information. 

5. EXECUTIVE SESSION AND ADJOURNMENT 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was moved by Council member 
Shelton that the City Council convene in executive session to discuss a matter involving an ongoing real estate 
negotiation. The motion was seconded by Council member Womack. The City Attorney certified that the 
subject of said executive session is allowed pursuant to the Open Meetings Act. Then, upon the question being 
put and the roll called, the vote was recorded as follows: 

Ayes: William S. Pritchard, 111, Council President Pro Tempore 

January 26,20 15 



Minute Book 86 

Jack D. Carl 
Lloyd C. Shelton 
Alice Womack 

Nays: None 

President Pro Tempore Pritchard declared that the motion carried by a vote of 4 - 4  and then asked 
that the members of the audience be excused. President Pro Tempore Pritchard also announced that the City 
Council will adjourn upon conclusion of the executive session. 

Steven Boone, City Clerk 

EXHIBIT 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 2015-020 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook that, at the meeting of the City 
Council to be held on Monday, February 23,2015, at 7:00 p.m., in the Council Chamber of the Mountain Brook 
City Hall, the City Council will hold a public hearing regarding the adoption of an ordinance amending Section 
129-573 of the City Code. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook that the City 
Clerk be, and he hereby is, authorized and directed to cause to be published not fewer than fifteen (15) days 
prior to February 23,2015, by posting in four (4) conspicuous places within the City of Mountain Brook, as 
follows: City Hall - 56 Church Street, Gilchrist Drug Company - 2805 Cahaba Road, The Invitation Place - 
3 150 Overton Road and Overton Park - 3020 Overton Road notices of said public hearing in words and figures 
substantially as follows: 

"NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
PROPOSED ZONING CODE NOTICE 

Notice is hereby given that at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook to 
be held on Monday, February 23,2015, at 7:00 p.m., in the Council Chamber of the Mountain Brook City Hall 
located at 56 Church Street, Mountain Brook, Alabama 35213, the City Council will hold a public hearing 
regarding a proposal that the City Council adopt an ordinance in words and figures substantially as follows: 

'ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 129-573 OF THE CITY CODE 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, that 
Section 129-573 of the City Code is hereby amended as follows: 

1. "Section 129-573 (b). Minimum Yards and Building Setbacks. 
(1) Minimum front (primary) yard setback ..... 5 feet 

(2) Minimum front (secondary) yard setback ..... 8 feet 

(3) Minimum rear yard setback ...A feet 

(4) Minimum side yard setback: 

Zero feet if party wall; 

Five feet for end units or a detached single-family dwelling. 

J:\Minutes & Agendas\CouncilU015\20150126 Minutes.doc January 26,20 15 



pursuant to the written direction of the City or a City Agent. Any direction of the City or a City Agent 
shall constitute a certification that the distribution or payment so directed is one which the City or City 
Agent is authorized to direct. 

2.2 Im~ossibilitv of Diversion Prior to Satisfaction of all Liabilities. Except as set forth below in this 
Section 2.2, it shall be impossible at any time for any part of the Trust Fund to be used for, or diverted to, 
purposes other than to pay premiums toward the Plan andor provide the benefits contemplated under the 
Plan for the exclusive benefit of covered retirees and their eligible spouses and dependents, except that 
any reasonable expenses of administering the Plan or Trust Fund may be made from the Trust Fund as 
provided for herein. Upon termination of the Trust Fund, any assets remaining in the Trust Fund will be 
used solely to meet its obligations to pay premiums toward the Plan andor provide benefits under the 
Plan to the City's retirees, their eligible spouses and dependents who participate in the Plan and to satisfy 
any other remaining debts or liabilities of the Trust Fund. Any assets remaining in the Trust Fund after 
meeting its obligations for premiums or to participants and satisfying any liabilities of the Trust Fund 
shall revert solely to the City, or, as determined solely by the City, to any other entity that is a state, a 
political subdivision of the state or an entity the income of which is excluded from gross income under 
Section 1 15. However, in no event shall any assets of the Trust Fund be transferred for the benefit of any 
entity that is not a state, a political subdivision of the state or an entity the income of which is excluded 

I from gross income under Section 115. NeAhxPursuant to ALA. CODE 4 11-104-1, et seq. (i) neither the 
legislature of Alabama, nor any other entity, person or organization shall have the power or authority to 

I appropriate any assets of the T r u s t A k  and (ii) the assets of the Trust shall not be subject to the claims 
of any creditors and will not be subject to execution, attachment, garnishment, the operation of 
bankruptcy, the insolvency laws, or other processes whatsoever, nor shall any assignment thereof be 
enforceable in court. 

2.3 Transfer of Assets. To the extent allowed by law, the City, in its sole discretion, may direct the 
Trustee to transfer the assets of the Trust Fund to any other trust (including an agent multiple-employer 
trust) or account if such other trust or account complies with Section 11 5 and GASB 45 and such trust or 
account also will maintain a segregated accounting of assets to be used for the same purpose set forth in 
Section 2.2. However, if the transfer is to be made to a trust for which the Trustee is not the trustee, the 
notice provisions of Section 6.2 and the termination provisions of Section 8.2 herein shall apply. 

2.4 Tax-Exem~t Status. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if the 
Trust Fund established hereunder shall for any reason fail to be granted, or otherwise lose, tax-exempt 
status under Section 115 of the Code, and the Internal Revenue Service notifies the City that the Plan 
andor Trust Fund do not so qualify, the City shall provide the Trustee with a copy of such notification, 
and the Trust Fund shall continue to be operated in accordance with this Agreement, subject to being 
modified to comply with Section 115 of the Code and subject to termination pursuant to Section 8.2. 

ARTICLE I11 
INVESTMENTS 

3.1 General. The Trustee shall invest and reinvest the principal and income of the Trust Fund and 
keep the Trust Fund invested, without distinction between principal and income, in such securities or in 
such property, real or personal, tangible or intangible, as the Trustee shall deem advisable, including but 
not limited to stocks, common or preferred, trust and participation certificates, interest in investment 
companies whether so-called "open-end mutual funds" or "closed-end mutual funds," leaseholds, fee 
titles, bonds, or notes and mortgages, and other evidences of indebtedness or ownership (which 
investments may include any investment vehicles maintained, managed or advised by the Trustee or any 
of its affiliates); however, investments shall be governed by andor limited as set forth in Sections 3.2 and 
3.3. Investments shall be so diversified as to minimize the risk of large losses unless under the 

Page 3 of 11 



RESOLUTION NO. 2015-023 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, that the City 
Council hereby adopts the "City of Mountain Brook Amended and Restated Section 1 15 Trust 
Agreement, Effective February 9,2015", in the form as attached hereto as Exhibit A, with respect to the 
City's post-employment benefits (medical insurance) trust. 

ADOPTED: This 9th day of February, 2015. 

Council President 

APPROVED: This 9th day of February, 201 5. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama hereby certifL the above to 
be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook at 
its meeting held on February 9,201 5, as same appears in the minutes of record of said meeting. 

City Clerk 

Amended and Restated Section 115 (OPEB) Trust Agreement 



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK 
AMENDED AND RESTATED 

SECTION 115 TRUST AGREEMENT 

Effective as of February 9,2015 



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK 
AMENDED AND RESTATED 

SECTION 115 TRUST AGREEMENT 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE I CONTRIBUTIONS .......................................................................................................... 1 

.................................................................................................................. 1.1 Receipt of Contributions 2 
1.2 Compliance with Laws .................................................................................................................... 2 
1.3 Directions to Trustee by the Company or Company Agents ........................................................... 2 

ARTICLE I1 PAYMENTS FROM TRUST FUND .............................................................................. 2 

2.1 Payments Directed by Company or a Company Agent ................................................................... 2 
.................................................... 2.2 Impossibility of Diversion Prior to Satisfaction of all Liabilities 3 

............................................................................................................................ 2.3 Transfer of Assets 3 
2.4 Tax-Exempt Status ........................................................................................................................... 3 

ARTICLE 111 INVESTMENTS ............................................................................................................... 3 

3.1 General ............................................................................................................................................. 3 
3.2 Trustee's Adherence to Investment Guidelines ................................................................................ 4 
3.3 Appointment of an Investment Manager ......................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE IV POWERS OF TRUSTEE ................................................................................................. 4 

4.1 Powers .............................................................................................................................................. 4 
4.2 Fees and Expenses ........................................................................................................................... 6 

ARTICLE V TRUSTEE'S DUTIES ....................................................................................................... 6 

5.1 General ............................................................................................................................................. 6 
5.2 Consultation ..................................................................................................................................... 6 
5.3 Accounts and Records ...................................................................................................................... 6 
5.4 Limitation on Trustee's Liability and Indemnification .................................................................... 7 
5.5 Finality of Decisions or Acts ........................................................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE VI RESIGNATION. REMOVAL AND SUCCESSION OF TRUSTEE ........................... 7 

6.1 Resignation ...................................................................................................................................... 7 
........................................................................................................................................... 6.2 Removal 7 

............................................................................................................................ 6.3 Successor Trustee 7 
6.4 Report by Trustee ........................................................................................................................... 7 

.............................................................................................................................. 6.5 Waiver of Notice 8 

ARTICLE VII REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY ......................... 8 

......................................................... 7.1 Authority to Establish Trust Fund and Enter into Agreement 8 
7.2 Authorized Person ............................................................................................................................ 8 



ARTICLE VIII AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT ............................... 8 

8.1 Amendment ...................................................................................................................................... 8 
8.2 Termination ...................................................................................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE IX GENERAL ......................................................................................................................... 8 

............................................................................................ Limited Effect of Plan and Trust Fund 8 
Protective Clause ............................................................................................................................. 8 

.............................................................................................................. Construction of Agreement 9 
.............................................................................................................................. Trust Exemption 9 

......................................................................................................................... Gender and Number 9 
Headings .......................................................................................................................................... 9 

................................................................................................................. Written Communications 9 
Electronic Data Exchange .............................................................................................................. 10 
Severability .................................................................................................................................... 10 
Assignment of Agreement ............................................................................................................. 10 
No Effect on Current or Future Benefits ........................................................................................ 10 



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK 
AMENDED AND RESTATED 

SECTION 115 TRUST AGREEMENT 

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED SECTION 115 TRUST AGREEMENT (this 
"Agreement") is made, entered into, and effective as of February 9, 2015 by and between the City of 
Mountain Brook (the "City") and Steven Boone (the "Trustee"). 

WHEREAS, in furtherance of its essential governmental function, the City has heretofore or 
herewith adopted one or more retiree welfare benefit plans (which may be a multiple-employer plan), 
attached hereto as Exhibit A, which may be amended from time to time in the sole discretion of the City 
in accordance with Section 8.1, (collectively, the "Plan"), the purpose of which is to provide certain 
welfare benefits for those retirees of the City and their eligible spouses and dependents covered by the 
Plan; 

WHEREAS, the City has contributed funds to a trust fund (the "Trust Fund") for the benefit of 
the retirees and their eligible spouses and dependents under and in accordance with the Plan, and such 
Trust Fund has been established pursuant to that certain City of Mountain Brook Section 115 Trust 
Agreement dated effective as of July 27, 2009 (the "Trust Agreement"), entered into by and between the 
City and Regions Bank d/b/a Regions Morgan Keegan Trust (the "Original Trustee"); 

WHEREAS, the Trust Fund constitutes a tax-exempt trust pursuant to Section 11 5 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") andlor Treasury Regulations 5 30 1.770 1 - 1 (a)(3) as 
confirmed by the Internal Revenue Service by the issuance of Private Letter Ruling 200937023 dated 
June 15,2009; 

WHEREAS, The City has decided to remove the Original Trustee and appoint the Trustee named 
above as the successor trustee to administer the Trust Fund and has notified the Original Trustee of such 
removal; 

WHEREAS, the Trustee named above has accepted the appointment by the City as successor 
trustee, as evidenced by the Trustee's execution of this Agreement; 

WHEREAS, the City and Trustee desire to make certain changes to the Trust Agreement in order 
to (i) confirm the replacement of the Original Trustee with the Trustee as successor trustee and (ii) make 
certain changes to Article IV and V of the Trust Agreement in order to clarify certain powers and duties 
of the Trustee; 

WHEREAS, Section 8.1 of the Trust Agreement provides that the Trust Agreement may be 
amended at any time provided that the Trust Fund assets shall continue to be used exclusively for the 
purpose of providing health benefits for the Plan; 

WHEREAS, in order to accomplish the amendment and restatement of the Trust Agreement to 
reflect the changes described above, the City and Trustee have prepared this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual covenants contained 
herein, the City and the Trustee agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

Page 1 of 10 



CONTRIBUTIONS 

1.1 Receipt of Contributions. The Trustee shall receive any contributions paid to it in cash or in the 
form of such other property as it may from time to time deem acceptable and which shall have been 
delivered to it. Any contribution of property will be made at its fair market value (unless otherwise 
required) and such value will be provided to the Trustee when contributed. All contributions so received, 
together with the income therefrom and any other increment thereon shall be held, invested, reinvested 
and administered by the Trustee pursuant to the terms of this Agreement without distinction between 
principal and income. The Trustee shall not be responsible for the calculation or collection of any 
contribution under the Plan, but shall be responsible only for property received by it pursuant to this 
Agreement. All contributions to the Trust Fund shall be made by the City. 

1.2 Compliance with Laws. This Agreement (including Exhibits A and B) and the Trust Fund are 
intended to comply with all of the requirements of Statement No. 45 of the Government Accounting 
Standard Board ("GASB") in order to allow the use of a higher discount rate in determining the present 
value of Other Post-Employment Benefits ("OPEB") liabilities and also to constitute an essential 
governmental purpose under Section 11 5 of the Code. City hereby represents and warrants to the Trustee 
that the Investment Policies or other investment guidelines set forth in Exhibit B, as may be amended 
from time to time in the sole discretion of City, are compliant with any and all applicable laws, rules and 
ordinances, including but not necessarily limited to ALA. CODE § 11-104-1, et seq. (2014) (collectively, 
"Laws") and represent all applicable Laws with which the Trustee must comply in performing its duties 
and obligations hereunder. The Trustee shall be bound to perform its duties and obligations in accordance 
with Exhibit B. It shall be the sole obligation of the City to update Exhibit B to conform with any changes 
in the Laws, and the Trustee shall not be bound by such changes until such time as Trustee has received 
written notice from the City of a modification to Exhibit B. 

1.3 Directions to Trustee by the Citv or City's Agents. The City shall have sole responsibility for 
determining the existence, non-existence, nature and amount of the rights and interests of all persons in 
the Trust Fund. All directions by the City or a City Agent (as defined below) to the Trustee shall be in 
writing signed by or on behalf of the City. The City shall furnish to the Trustee the name(s) of any 
employee of the City who is designated and authorized to direct the Trustee in writing to take action on 
the City's behalf. The City also shall furnish to the Trustee the name of each other person who is 
designated and authorized to direct the Trustee in writing to take action on the City's behalf (a "City 
Agent"). The Trustee shall be entitled to rely fully on the written instructions of the City, a City Agent 
and/or a City Agent who is an investment manager (per Section 3.3) in the discharge of the Trustee's 
duties and shall not be liable for any loss or other liability resulting from such direction (or lack of 
direction). The City promptly shall notify the Trustee in writing of the removal, replacement of, or 
change in the scope of authority or responsibilities of any employee of the City, City Agent or City Agent 
who is an investment manager, and unless and until notified by the City in writing of such changes, the 
Trustee shall be fully protected in acting upon the assumption that the City employee, the City Agent or 
the City Agent who is an investment manager has not been removed and/or replaced and that the scope of 
authority and responsibilities of the City employee, City Agent or the City Agent who is an investment 
manager have not been altered by the City or its Council. 

ARTICLE I1 
PAYMENTS FROM TRUST FUND 

2.1 Payments Directed by Citv or a Citv Agent. The Trustee shall from time to time, at either the 
City's or City Agent's direction, make payments out of the Trust Fund to the persons or entities to whom 
such monies are to be paid in such amounts and for such purposes as may be specified in the written 
directions. To the extent permitted by law, the Trustee shall be under no liability for any payment made 

Page 2 of 10 



pursuant to the written direction of the City or a City Agent. Any direction of the City or a City Agent 
shall constitute a certification that the distribution or payment so directed is one which the City or City 
Agent is authorized to direct. 

2.2 Im~ossibilitv of Diversion Prior to Satisfaction of all Liabilities. Except as set forth below in this 
Section 2.2, it shall be impossible at any time for any part of the Trust Fund to be used for, or diverted to, 
purposes other than to pay premiums toward the Plan andor provide the benefits contemplated under the 
Plan for the exclusive benefit of covered retirees and their eligible spouses and dependents, except that 
any reasonable expenses of administering the Plan or Trust Fund may be made from the Trust Fund as 
provided for herein. Upon termination of the Trust Fund, any assets remaining in the Trust Fund will be 
used solely to meet its obligations to pay premiums toward the Plan andor provide benefits under the 
Plan to the City's retirees, their eligible spouses and dependents who participate in the Plan and to satisfy 
any other remaining debts or liabilities of the Trust Fund. Any assets remaining in the Trust Fund after 
meeting its obligations for premiums or to participants and satisfying any liabilities of the Trust Fund 
shall revert solely to the City, or, as determined solely by the City, to any other entity that is a state, a 
political subdivision of the state or an entity the income of which is excluded from gross income under 
Section 1 15. However, in no event shall any assets of the Trust Fund be transferred for the benefit of any 
entity that is not a state, a political subdivision of the state or an entity the income of which is excluded 
from gross income under Section 115. Pursuant to ALA. CODE 11-104-1, et seq. (i) neither the 
legislature of Alabama, nor any other entity, person or organization shall have the power or authority to 
appropriate any assets of the Trust and (ii) the assets of the Trust shall not be subject to the claims of any 
creditors and will not be subject to execution, attachment, garnishment, the operation of bankruptcy, the 
insolvency laws, or other processes whatsoever, nor shall any assignment thereof be enforceable in court. 

2.3 Transfer of Assets. To the extent allowed by law, the City, in its sole discretion, may direct the 
Trustee to transfer the assets of the Trust Fund to any other trust (including an agent multiple-employer 
trust) or account if such other trust or account complies with Section 115 and GASB 45 and such trust or 
account also will maintain a segregated accounting of assets to be used for the same purpose set forth in 
Section 2.2. However, if the transfer is to be made to a trust for which the Trustee is not the trustee, the 
notice provisions of Section 6.2 and the termination provisions of Section 8.2 herein shall apply. 

2.4 Tax-Exempt Status. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if the 
Trust Fund established hereunder shall for any reason fail to be granted, or otherwise lose, tax-exempt 
status under Section 115 of the Code, and the Internal Revenue Service notifies the City that the Plan 
andor Trust Fund do not so qualify, the City shall provide the Trustee with a copy of such notification, 
and the Trust Fund shall continue to be operated in accordance with this Agreement, subject to being 
modified to comply with Section 115 of the Code and subject to termination pursuant to Section 8.2. 

ARTICLE 111 
INVESTMENTS 

3.1 General. The Trustee shall invest and reinvest the principal and income of the Trust Fund and 
keep the Trust Fund invested, without distinction between principal and income, in such securities or in 
such property, real or personal, tangible or intangible, as the Trustee shall deem advisable, including but 
not limited to stocks, common or preferred, trust and participation certificates, interest in investment 
companies whether so-called "open-end mutual funds" or "closed-end mutual funds," leaseholds, fee 
titles, bonds, or notes and mortgages, and other evidences of indebtedness or ownership (which 
investments may include any investment vehicles maintained, managed or advised by the Trustee or any 
of its affiliates); however, investments shall be governed by andor limited as set forth in Sections 3.2 and 
3.3. Investments shall be so diversified as to minimize the risk of large losses unless under the 
circumstances it is clearly prudent not to do so in the sole judgment of the Trustee. In performance of its 

Page 3 of 10 



duties under this Section 3.1, the Trustee may recommend the City engage one or more financial 
institutions as an investment manager pursuant to Section 3.3 in order to make investment transaction 
decisions and hold investments. 

3.2 Trustee's Adherence to Investment Guidelines. The discretion of the Trustee or any investment 
manager appointed pursuant to Section 3.3 in investing and reinvesting the principal and income of the 
Trust Fund shall be subject to any investment guidelines or policy set forth in Exhibit B, and any written 
changes thereto from time to time, as the City may adopt and communicate in writing. The Trustee and 
any investment manager appointed pursuant to Section 3.3 shall have the duty to act strictly in accordance 
with Exhibit B, and any changes thereto, as so communicated by the City from time to time in writing. 

3.3 ADDointment of an Investment Manager. Upon the recommendation of Trustee, the City may 
appoint an investment manager or managers to manage all or any part of the Trust Fund. In the event of 
such appointment, the City shall obtain the investment manager's written acknowledgment that it is a 
fiduciary with respect to the Plan and Trust Fund. Any investment manager shall have all powers of the 
Trustee in the management of such part of the Trust Fund, including the power to acquire or dispose of 
assets of the Trust Fund. In the event an investment manager is so appointed, the Trustee shall not be 
liable for the acts or omissions of such investment manager or be under any obligation to invest or 
otherwise manage that part of the Trust Fund that is subject to the management of the investment 
manager. The Trustee shall not be responsible for any loss or investment performance caused by its acting 
upon any instructions from any investment manager which the Trustee reasonably believes to be genuine. 
At the direction of the City, the Trustee shall segregate such portion of the Trust Fund held by it as will be 
subject to the management of an investment manager into one or more separate accounts to be known as 
investment manager accounts. The Trustee shall follow the directions of the investment manager with 
respect to the account of such investment manager and shall not be obligated to invest or otherwise 
manage any such investment manager account other than to the extent that the investment manager may 
utilize the Trustee as a manager of reserves. Subject to procedures and conditions as may be established 
by the City, the Trustee and the investment manager, the investment manager may place direct orders for 
the purchase or sale of securities or other property for its investment manager account. The Trustee shall 
retain custody of the assets comprising said account, unless custodial arrangements satisfactory to the 
Trustee shall otherwise be made. The City may remove an investment manager and appoint a successor 
to manage any investment manager account. If no successor investment manager is appointed, the 
portion of the Trust Fund held in such investment manager's account shall return to the unsegregated 
portion of the Trust Fund and the Trustee shall have authority to manage such account. The Trustee shall 
be fully protected in relying upon the appointment/removal of an investment manager. 

ARTICLE IV 
POWERS OF TRUSTEE 

4.1 Powers. Subject to the provisions of Article 111, the Trustee, in addition to all powers and 
authorities under common law, statutory authority, and other provisions of this Agreement including 
without limitation those set forth in Article 111, shall have the following powers and authorities, to be 
exercised in the Trustee's sole discretion: 

(a) To purchase, or subscribe for, any securities or other property and to retain the same in 
trust; 

(b) To sell, exchange, convey, transfer, grant options to purchase, or otherwise dispose of 
any securities or other property held by the Trustee, by private contract or at public auction, and 
any sale may be made for cash or upon credit, or partly for cash and partly upon credit. No person 

Page 4 of 10 



dealing with the Trustee shall be bound to see to the application of the purchase money or to 
inquire into the validity, expediency, or propriety of any such sale or other disposition; 

(c) To vote upon any stocks, bonds, or other securities; to give general or special proxies or 
powers of attorney with or without power of substitution; to exercise any conversion privileges, 
subscription rights, or other options, and to make any payments incidental thereto; to oppose, or 
to consent to, or otherwise participate in, corporate reorganizations or other changes affecting 
corporate securities, and to delegate discretionary powers, and to pay any assessments or charges 
in connection therewith; and generally to exercise any of the powers of an owner with respect to 
stock, bonds, securities or other property held as part of the Trust Fund; however, the Trustee 
shall not vote proxies relating to securities for which it has not been assigned full investment 
management responsibilities. In the event another party has been assigned such investment 
management responsibilities, the Trustee shall deliver the proxies to said party who will then 
have full responsibility for voting those proxies; 

(d) To cause any securities or other property held as part of the Trust Fund to be registered in 
the Trustee's own name or in the name of one or more of the Trustee's nominees, and to hold any 
investments in bearer form, but the books and records of the Trustee shall at all times show that 
all such investments are part of the Trust Fund; 

(e) To borrow or raise money for the purposes of the Trust in such amount, and upon such 
terms and conditions, as the Trustee shall deem advisable; and for any sum so borrowed, to issue 
a promissory note as Trustee, and to secure the repayment thereof by pledging all, or any part, of 
the Trust Fund; and no person lending money to the Trustee shall be bound to see to the 
application of the money lent or to inquire into the validity, expediency, or propriety of any 
borrowing; 

(f) To keep such portion of the Trust Fund in cash or cash balances as the Trustee may, from 
time to time, deem to be in the best interests of the trust created hereby, without liability for 
interest thereon; 

(g) To accept and retain for such time as it may deem advisable any securities or other 
property received or acquired by it as Trustee hereunder, whether or not such securities or other 
property would normally be purchased as investments hereunder; 

(h) To make, execute, acknowledge, and deliver any and all documents of transfer and 
conveyance and any and all other instruments that may be necessary or appropriate to carry out 
the powers herein granted; 

(i) To settle, compromise, or submit to arbitration any claims, debts, or damages to or owing 
to or from the Trust Fund, to commence or defend suits or legal or administrative proceedings, 
and to represent the Trust Fund in all suits and legal and administrative proceedings; 

(i) To invest funds of the Trust Fund in night deposits or savings accounts maintained by 
Regions Bank or its affiliates, which deposits or accounts bear a reasonable rate of interest; 

(k) To invest in Treasury Bills and other forms of United States government obligations; 

(1) To deposit monies in federally insured savings accounts or certificates of deposit in banks 
or savings and loan associations, including accounts and deposits maintained, managed or advised 
by Regions Bank or any of its affiliates; 

Page 5 of 10 



(m) To do all such acts, take all such proceedings, and exercise all such rights and privileges, 
although not specifically mentioned herein, as the Trustee may deem necessary to administer the 
Trust Fund, and to cany out the purposes of this Agreement. 

4.2 Fees and Expenses. The Trustee will not receive any compensation for the services performed by 
Trustee under this Agreement. The Trustee shall, however, be reimbursed for any reasonable expenses 
directly incurred by the Trustee in the administration of the Trust Fund. The Trustee may enter contracts 
or arrangements under which persons (including, without limitation, agents, auditors, certified public 
accountants, internal auditors, and/or counsel) will advise or assist the Trustee in the carrying out of the 
Trustee's duties under this Agreement. Such expenses shall be paid from the Trust Fund, unless 
otherwise paid by the City. The City may direct the Trustee to pay the fees and expenses of investment 
managers from the Trust Fund. The Trustee shall not be responsible for determining the reasonableness 
of any compensation paid or agreed to be paid to an investment manager. 

ARTICLE V 
TRUSTEE'S DUTIES 

5.1 General. The Trustee shall discharge its duties under this Agreement solely in the interests of the 
retirees and their eligible spouses and dependents covered under the Plan and for the exclusive purposes 
of paying premiums, providing benefits to such persons and defraying reasonable expenses of 
administering the Trust Fund, with the care, skill, prudence and diligence under the circumstances then 
prevailing that a prudent man acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in the 
conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with like aims, and by diversifying the investments of the 
Trust Fund so as to minimize the risk of large losses, unless under the circumstances it is clearly prudent 
not to do so, all in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement insofar as they are consistent with 
applicable law, as this Agreement and applicable law may be from time to time amended; but the duties 
and obligations of the Trustee as such shall be limited to those expressly imposed upon it by this 
Agreement notwithstanding any reference herein to the Plan, or the provisions thereof, it being hereby 
expressly agreed that the Trustee is not a party to the Plan. 

5.2 Consultation. The Trustee may consult with counsel, and the Trustee shall not be deemed 
imprudent by reason of its taking or refraining from taking any action in accordance with the opinion of 
counsel. The Trustee shall not be required to give any bond or any other security for the faithful 
performance of its duties under this Agreement, except such as may be required by a law which prohibits 
the waiver thereof. 

5.3 Accounts and Records. The Trustee shall keep accurate and detailed accounts of all investments, 
receipts, disbursements, and other transactions hereunder and all such accounts and other records relating 
thereto shall be open to inspection and audit at all reasonable times by any person designated by the City. 
The Trustee shall furnish to the City a written statement of account upon request by the Mountain Brook 
City Council setting forth all receipts and disbursements for the requested accounting period (or such 
more frequent reporting basis as agreed to by the parties). Additionally, the Trustee shall furnish to the 
City an annual written statement of account within 120 days after the end of the Trust's year end setting 
forth all receipts and disbursements. Failure by the City or City Agent to disapprove any such statement 
of account within 120 days after its receipt thereof shall be deemed approval thereof. The approval by the 
City or a City Agent of the statement of account shall serve to release and discharge the Trustee from any 
liability or accountability to the City as respects the propriety of the Trustee's acts or transactions shown 
in the statement of account, except with respect to any acts or transactions as to which the City or a City 
Agent shall file written objections with the Trustee within the 120-day time period prescribed. The 

Page 6 of 10 



Trustee shall not be required by the terms of this Agreement or by the sole capacity of acting as trustee to 
file an accounting with any court. 

5.4 Limitation on Trustee's Liability and Indemnification. The City, or its designated third party 
administrator, shall administer the Plan as provided therein, and the Trustee shall not be responsible in 
any respect for administering the Plan nor shall the Trustee be responsible for the adequacy of 
contributions to the Trust Fund to meet or discharge any payments or liabilities under the Plan. Further, 
the Trustee shall not be responsible in any respect for any act or omission of any prior trustee or custodian 
of any assets of the Trust Fund or the Plan, and the City agrees, to the extent permitted law, to indemnify 
and hold the Trustee harmless from and against any liabilities that the Trustee may incur, which are the 
direct or indirect result of a prior trustee's or custodian's acts or omissions. The City further agrees to 
indemnify and hold harmless the Trustee against any and all claims, damages, liabilities, costs and 
expenses (including without limitation attorneys' fees) assessed against, incurred by or imposed upon the 
Trustee andlor its successor in connection with or arising out of any claim, demand, proceeding, action, 
suit, settlement or compromise in which the Trustee may be involved or to which it may be a party by 
reason of its acting and serving as Trustee hereunder, except in the case of willful negligence or willful 
misconduct on the part of the Trustee. The right to be defended, indemnified and held harmless 
hereunder shall extend to the Trustee and its successor and shall continue to apply after the Trustee ceases 
to serve as Trustee with respect to acts or omissions committed prior to such cessation. Therefore, the 
provision of this section shall survive the removal or resignation of the Trustee as to acts or omissions 
committed prior to such removal or resignation. Such right to indemnification shall not be exclusive of 
other rights to which the Trustee may be entitled as a matter of law. 

5.5 Finalitv of Decisions or Acts. Except for the right of a participant to appeal the denial of a claim, 
any decision or action of the Trustee made or done in good faith upon any matter within the scope of 
authority and discretion of the Trustee shall be final and binding upon all persons. In the event of judicial 
review of actions taken by any fiduciary within the scope of its duties in accordance with the terms of the 
Plan and this Agreement, such actions shall be upheld unless determined to have been arbitrary and 
capricious. 

ARTICLE VI 
RESIGNATION, REMOVAL AND SUCCESSION OF TRUSTEE 

6.1 Resignation. The Trustee may resign at any time by giving 30 days' notice in writing to the City. 

6.2 Removal. The City may remove the Trustee at any time upon 30 days' notice in writing to the 
Trustee. 

6.3 Successor Trustee. Upon the resignation or removal of the Trustee, the City shall appoint a 
successor trustee who shall have the same powers and duties as those conferred upon the Trustee 
hereunder. Upon acceptance of such appointment by the successor trustee, the Trustee shall assign, 
transfer, and pay over to such successor trustee the funds and properties then constituting the Trust Fund. 
The Trustee is authorized, however, to reserve such reasonable sum of money, as it may deem advisable, 
for payment of its fees and expenses in connection with the settlement of its account or otherwise, and 
any balance of such reserve remaining after the payment of such fees and expenses shall be paid over to 
the successor trustee. Until such a successor is appointed, the current Trustee shall have full authority to 
act hereunder; provided, however, that if no successor is appointed on or before the effective date of a 
resignation or removal, the Trustee may file a civil action to seek the appointment of a successor. 

6.4 Report by Trustee. Within 120 days after the resignation or removal of the Trustee, the Trustee 
shall furnish to the City a written statement of account with respect to the portion of the year for which 

Page 7 of 10 



the Trustee served. Failure by the City or a City Agent to disapprove any such statement of account 
within 60 days after its receipt thereof shall be deemed approval thereof. The approval by the City or a 
City Agent of the statement of account shall serve to release and discharge the Trustee from any liability 
or accountability to the City as respects the propriety of the Trustee's acts or transactions shown in the 
statement of account, except with respect to any acts or transactions as to which the City or a City Agent 
shall file written objections with the Trustee within the 60-day time period prescribed. 

6.5 Waiver of Notice. In the event of any resignation or removal of the Trustee, the Trustee and the 
City may in writing waive any notice of resignation or removal as may be provided hereunder. 

ARTICLE VII 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE CITY 

7.1 Authority to Establish Trust Fund and Enter into Agreement. The City hereby represents and 
warrants that it has consulted with legal counsel regarding the City's authority to establish the Trust Fund 
and to enter into this Agreement and that it has been conclusively determined that the City has the 
authority to establish the Trust Fund and to enter into this Agreement. 

7.2 Authorized Person. The City represents and warrants that the person executing this Agreement 
below is authorized by the City to enter into this Agreement. 

ARTICLE VIII 
AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 

8.1 Amendment. Any or all of the provisions of this Agreement may be amended at any time and 
from time to time, in whole or in part, by an instrument in writing, signed by the Trustee and the City. No 
such amendment shall authorize or permit any part of the Trust Fund (other than such part as is required 
to pay administration expenses) to be used for or diverted to purposes other than for the exclusive benefit 
of the retirees and their eligible spouses and dependents; except as provided in Section 2.2, no such 
amendment shall cause or permit any portion of the Trust Fund to revert to or become the property of the 
City. Exhibit A may be amended from time to time in the sole discretion of the City to add or remove 
plans that are covered by the Trust; however, a plan may not be removed from coverage under the Trust 
unless and until all liabilities associated with such plan have first been satisfied. 

8.2 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time by the City, and upon such 
termination, or upon the dissolution or liquidation of the City, the Trust Fund shall be paid out by the 
Trustee as and when directed by the City or a City Agent, in accordance with the provisions of Article I1 
hereof and the terms of the Plan. 

ARTICLE IX 
GENERAL 

9.1 Limited Effect of Plan and Trust Fund. Neither the establishment of the Plan nor the Trust Fund 
nor any modification thereof, nor the creation of any fund or account, nor the payment of any welfare 
benefits, shall be construed as giving to any person covered under the Plan or other person any legal or 
equitable right against the Trustee, the City, or any officer or employee thereof, except as may otherwise 
be provided in the Plan or in this Agreement. 

9.2 Protective Clause. Neither the City nor the Trustee shall be responsible for the validity of any 
contract of insurance issued in connection with the Plan or Trust Fund or for the failure on the part of the 

Page 8 of 10 



insurer to make payments provided by such contract, or for the action of any person which may delay 
payment or render a contract null and void or unenforceable in whole or in part. 

9.3 Construction of Agreement. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced according to the 
laws of the State of Alabama. 

9.4 Trust Exemution. The City has previously submitted this Agreement to the Internal Revenue 
Service for a private letter ruling on its status as a tax-exempt trust under Section 1 15 of the Code. 

9.5 Gender and Number. Wherever any words are used herein in the masculine, feminine or neuter, 
they shall be construed as though they were also used in another gender in all cases where they would so 
apply, and whenever any words are used herein in the singular or plural form, they shall be construed as 
though they were also used in the other form in all cases where they would so apply. 

9.6 Headings. The headings and sub-headings of this Agreement have been inserted for convenience 
of reference and are to be ignored in any construction of the provisions hereof. 

9.7 Written Communications. All notices, demands, directions, designations, specifications, 
consents, instructions, approvals, requirements, information, statements or communications between the 
City and the Trustee required or permitted to be given, made, disclosed, furnished or transmitted under 
this Agreement shall be in writing andor an electronic medium or format agreed upon by the City and 
Trustee and directed by first-class (postage prepaid) U.S. mail, electronic facsimile transmission, or 
electronic mail to the recipient at its physical address, facsimile number, or electronic mail address set 
forth below in this Section 9.7 or at any other physical address, facsimile number, or electronic mail 
address of which a party shall have notified the other party in accordance with the procedures of this 
Section 9.7. All notices, demands, directions, designations, specifications, consents, instructions, 
approvals, requirements, information, statements or communications between a City Agent (including a 
City Agent who is an investment manager) and the Trustee required or permitted to be given, made, 
disclosed, furnished or transmitted under this Agreement shall be in writing andor an electronic medium 
or format agreed upon by the City (or if applicable, a City Agent) and the Trustee and directed by first- 
class (postage prepaid) U.S. mail, electronic facsimile transmission, or electronic mail (1) to the Trustee 
at its physical address, or facsimile number set forth below in this Section 9.7 or at any other physical 
address, facsimile number, or electronic mail address of which the Trustee shall have notified the City 
Agent in accordance with this Section 9.7 and (2) to the City Agent at a physical address, facsimile 
number, or electronic mail address of which the City or City Agent shall have notified the Trustee. 
Notice of a change in a City Agent's physical address, facsimile number or electronic email address shall 
be given in accordance with the procedures of this Section 9.7. 

(a) If to the City: 

City Manager 
City of Mountain Brook 
56 Church Street 
Birmingham, AL 35213-3700 
Fax: 205.870.3577 

Electronic Mail Address: gastons@mtnbrook.org 

(b) If to the Trustee: 

Chief Financial Officer 

Page 9 of 10 



City of Mountain Brook 
56 Church Street 
Birmingham, AL 352 13-3700 
Fax: 205.874.061 1 
Electronic Mail Address: boones@,mtnbrook.org 

9.8 Electronic Data Exchange. Notwithstanding the foregoing Section 9.7, the City (or a City Agent, 
if applicable) and the Trustee may establish procedures to facilitate the secure electronic transmission and 
exchange of data (such as computer files) between the City (or a City Agent, if applicable) and the 
Trustee. All communications pertaining to any such procedures shall be subject to Section 9.7. 

9.9 Severabilitv. If any provisions of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable, such 
invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions hereof, and this Agreement shall be 
construed and enforced as if such provision, to the extent invalid or unenforceable had not been included. 

9.10 Assignment of Agreement. The Trustee may not assign this Agreement to any other trustee, 
corporation, person or entity unless the City consents to such assignment in writing in advance of the 
effective date thereof. 

9.1 1 No Effect on Current or Future Benefits. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to define 
or otherwise grant any right or privilege to any benefits to any person. Benefits, if any, shall be governed 
by the terms of the applicable plan document. Further, this Agreement is not intended to assure or deny 
any existing or future employee, retired employee, any of their dependents, or any other person of any 
right of employment or entitlement to any benefit or otherwise restrict the ability of the City to modify or 
eliminate any existing or future benefit. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed the day and year first above written. 

"CITY" 

City of Mountain Brook 

By: 

Its: 

"TRUSTEE" 

Steven Boone 

Page 10 of 10 



EXHIBIT A 

Copies of Retiree Welfare Benefit Plan@) Covered under the Section 115 Trust Agreement 

(attached) 



Local Government 
Health Benefit 

Plan 

Local Government Plan 
Effective January 1,2014 

Lo& Governmm Hsmh buunms Propm 
&netit Plan 

Admlnklend By: 
S l b ~ C u U M B o v d  





- OVERVIEW OF THE PLAN 

Purpom ot Ma Plan 
n* LGUlP bhmmaa low pu s a v o u  c a r d d . p n d n b p s y l w h . m s b d n r d d  on. Ths 
L G H ~  a.u m p y  IU .I& your m d w  ms. FW n.mpb pu may ba n p u ~  lo p y  d.dum9as. 
mp)mnu. and cd"I"ua. 

BW &ie Blw y l*m d ulbnu (BCIS) b ma WIN -.a IU me LOHIP BCBSs horv 
pp. on ma hlmw b r*nbmdmn. U pr 90 mm. pu II .n uc!Jm ol BCBS'I Mrr p9a 
EILd )lldlU.Cmaa R . O b M  lm ~*IY.CIOU Is nsy m d  sawn O n u  you hn. mhW, you 

undr th. LGHIP. 

Danmocl. 
H n r h . n d d h b ~ r o u * Y ~ d a u ~ d d ~ ~ * h * h l d e ~ W e e n d ~ ~ ~  

R.~d* .d * . lC .n  
E v a  I ma LWW doU mt m u  b.IUIb. pu M pur W r  meY M6. ha1 m and toemmnl 
r a n r u r r . Y o u . n d p u p a # r n m w m I I ~ k f ~ W b . d O m  

LIm*dl~m and Exdualons 
h w l e N k M ~ ~ ~ d m e ~ ~ H l ~ a . n - l k l h . l b ~ a l b b b ~ p l v l m r n b r r h .  
L O H I P o m W 1 s ~ ~ n b r d ~ b u V u ( h R b n m . R u r r a ~ ( r r Q d ~ ~ s h d p u n r d ~ m Y  
p c P l l r . w a a o l l . T h u e p n a a s . n h u n d ~ h h e m . h 6 r d W b o O n . Y o u w d  
l e b . ~ d m ~ ~ M . ~ n d ~ a d u * a 1 h ~ I ~ W 1 ~ m ~ g l d h . L G U l P  

W l u l  Naaaalty and PmuMcaIon 
n * L G H P r U + ~ . y b r u n h . l b d * . * n ~ r ) . & n o l h r ~ u b u ~ b y  
eces. Bces d m b p d  n w d w  mdrd. v M BCBS *hn &8S rm*n nvdul Mrmv 
d.unnk.la. 0Cm pimhae m u  ~ d a r d s  m ma 1-1 eIm.bob..LmmbrwlMpor(0. Tha 
dhaadmoul n e o ~ I s h M h h . U ~ ~ . ' r d a o l W a O r m  

h p ~ m d k h & . ~ m r m n p u m ~ ~ r b d l h a - s . B C w s ~ r u  
a p a l M ~ h . p o . l M b h l b u h s p n ~ p m u ( o r p u  Y a r p m b m r s t w l d O Y  
y o u r l m 6 n n ~ b a f W  Y w m m p a l b * ( o r m l k g ~ W ~ p U p a ( d u m a n d  

a my p e c W l b b a  m q d m a a  und., me LGHlP Ruu nob haI pram- n*o 
~ b h . ~ n r u ~ d u m . l l B s m t m a V u l ~ u . r l l b . m n n d v l b h . C O H P  
- I m . L I O 6 a n M m . u l h . l r h m b m l r l d . I ~ r n e ~ u r r r b o u . d n k h b . B n d  

b * N m m e . h i ~ l n m n ( b ~ * ~ * u ~ d ~ r ~ . s ~ ~ ~ l ~ ~ l # ~ ~ u n d . r h ;  
LGHIP. Mabaaly. 4 Dm*M haw nd omDlsD6 rh BtBS w m y  m a  Clou 
S h W l p l u , I U n q & d ~ m d m M y o u b r m o u n b h e ~ d Y * . D n d ~ n t r u n d r h .  
LGW.  

A . p . d I I f a a M d ~ p l n g k n ) a r . r m s L 1 h e ~ N k O n d ~ ~ I Y U C W P W .  
E e c k M B L * C l o u ~ a ~ e 9 * l d p v l d ~ e l u W c k d I D W 1 1 1 e P P O ~ n  Inaam 
~ l o r r Y a P P O ~ ~ h y o u u r . p u s W ~ ~ a W a ~ P W ( r r ( n e . m u r . I . e I f ~ f C  
0LUE I=) a rM h e  BL*Cud PPO Rlxldr F W r  - E Mp-bms.m. To radm In- 
n e ~ ~ ~ ~ b . m ( l u ~ ~ ~ m . m . ~ r e ~ m u n ~ ~ m m a h e ~ m n d b r ~ h l e ~ h l ~ d  
p b n b W . d h m a s n a a w a u p w ~ h ~ . m * n ~ a ~ ~ ~ c m n a r ~ b m k .  

~ a ~ ~ ~ ~ ( M l h e ~ m p u h . l I ~ * m r m I ~ u n d w h . L W P w b  
m t o a a d u n d r h ~ m n n s t b h . n ( l u p m r l d r ~ h . b u l B L * ~ ~ ~ t n ~ r r * . ~ a . n  
l n b n d . W h U W W p n r b n d l r m V b ~ 6 n # ~ ~ ~ b a ~ m 0 * ~ s h u ~ n d h .  
LGHP. Ndl n mhv C0rr.d Mw. '  

Ralatlaahlp b k m n  81- Cmn anYor Blw Shlald PIam and M. B l a  Crms  ud 
Slw Shbld CraoclaUa 

Clabna and Ipp.ab 
w m y o u n D l h u ~ h a k - p a ( d . r , y o u m r ( d r ~ ~ n u ~ L d h u k f y o u . I n  
& a t - . . ~ m q b . n g u k d O p . . ~ D r ~ M I . n U s d . r n * l h B C B S f m ~ -  

4; ELlGlBlLrrY AND ENROLLMENT 

1mMawb .ndlng h ma L G W  em J m y  I. 2005 m w t  
H . r e M m e n o * 4 h h . L G H P I U f O ~ ~ m V * Q I U o l n * . n m l .  

e I t ~ h u b m n ~ ~ ~ h n I O p . n . D w ~ m l l i ( h . r b . n e n m i d ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ t o m  
en udrr nmpm aw. 

EKh wmmnl W b 1wc6nIth (or d.mmHnp rh.hr .lpB!a nwm may mmue mab LGMIP 
CO*.OO. md. I M. *lwm I ny be MUnd u p n  a n ~ t l o  Madan. (*lcl pormmmw "nil 
m * u P L . d a t l r m h . l l m l l ~ ) I b a . p p l d ~ l o a M ~ a a s  



2. AaMlad* .p .2e .~y l lm .bwb :  
e. p u r . 0 n a d . u g h t r ( * m u r t d r r n u U b P . M g p . ~ d b . t 4 0 n ( k . h s l h s f a 6 0 d a ) o . R  

lNIh m. M m a d  b t h  curnu* s m g  h * f r L d .  lum. MI b. dur)  
b. 0cM *(UIY adodd  b n u u w v r  s p u s e  lhdudhn e v ~ m 4 M w m W  ddne *Ith h. N b-dk.;(hyoui . - . - - -  

= w a r n *  
d. v r p d b W .  n*(. a luphewfa *horn h e  sant b s  paw WIWY I0 p u  a pH Imn 

3. ~n h . a ~ d a w  d . m d u l t a . m  25 d b. mnsurad  br m u m e  m a  dq.nd*nt 

To m. mnw h. SEl0 b Dbth m D.pabnt Form. WII lp- d 
humdtlmn *ll be d U m W  by Mdul R*. PmdddbaWTyrnurt M pmiCd m h. SEIB rlhh bD 
d w h m h . ~ h c N d * a r M o l h n r b . o w t o M m r r d h w d w .  

ruutHlmd U d u l  ChIldSUppsr( M a n  
n h . s E l s n s k . n ~ ~ r s o u n a r ~ b m l k . . p a c y a e d h p h e L G W b D r m M . h .  
SE!SrYatnnhrh .hrh .cdmt  b . Q u M W W U l W ~ Q d * ( Q l 4 t S O ) . h Q W S O b r  
q u w  a& ha, r a n  a amHmW agency dL.dhg k plmn l o  ra h. m W s  dud 
n p u a r s  d .hDuh. ern*. hs. - hr bld fm mrr.0.. Th. SEIB hu adopld pao.dl. .s br 
d.Umm~*HWwmml.d.rb.a~cso.vouhn.rmt(oa!.keco(l~dhq.oloo.dunI)rd 

-. m k * d  &&I a mbee MY mpptyto M d  I kpmdm a .p*br fare&# -np* 
durn h. n a m  d N m m b n  br r Juuv t eRoRk deb. T h  ask. d.b IndtlW on h e  Imn .kould 

pvcldpmb m pnl*d 0 dunp Wsnw u n i m m n s .  

Spclal Enmllmant Pmdod 

2. ; m t d  ~ & r x  im: ~d ' 

3. RY..IV. m. pmo( u LM qu.rhlno warn LUWJ pr nua d d.o a leu IU st 
h ~ ~ d u d s  .n.m 4 ko.. d - (0.9. m p l D p m l  Unnh.bn m mmp.r bimhwjl mull b. 
~ M w N n M d . y . d h * w e M m n i .  

D.pnd."e 
TO be apa* w d . p M n t  rpmI e n h n t  an m m ~  myst WM a 6vanam f m  m poa 
dbrsdoh.rrmF&Pr prap -e. Emwmn nqwsbwd.p.nMrprW*rmkntmurtmUhlVm 
S E l B h ~ g & 3 0 d w o ( h . q u r l l ) ( n p ~ N o d h O o n r m s t k * d . :  

W M . m ~ O r Y ) b h W ( h . f f i H I P * L I M L ~ b n . ( 1 p ) m n b - o h r h U I p ) m a b m p o . r l d o m - b  
h ~ p u u l l ~ . l . p . l g u ~ ~ ~ o D u b m ~ w ~ d h . ~  I h . S E I B a . D p o u l d . N ( I M  
h f a n o a . n d h s t o h * c w ' s O U W p u u l t a * p e I ~ 0 a b r h . ~ e ~ ~ h h . L O H l P .  
R I . S E W n . l r o u n d d ~ r ~ ~ ~ b h e c N h M ~ I p m t a * p . I p ~ ~ O u l ,  

InlUal Croup Enmllmmt 
Olpbl. a+. *.Sbd oMcn. nD.a d q - w n b  rho mU .pp.la m a  h. onmh. 
d . m d h ~ G m u p ~ a b . d ~ b . n m * d f a - ~ s d h . ~ r ( k . d . ~ d ~ ~ r ~ ~ o ~ a ~ .  

Innla1 Emp4oy.a Enrollinant 
MNblU-ndh.MVma(.nd**LUd-I Immdbyh.paammtmU) 
mud d l  h h. LWlP u eubnlt . d d n l a  form *Ih pnd d omer m p b m  gpmp h e m  lra-u 
-0. 

- ---. .- 
mphm d - ~ l a  ISMI S d I y  n h .  Mnlq. a&., b t h  (h, mr( den-. 01c.1 
mum b. bh. SEW. Y e :  m - hd d h m t  W d h e  m m t .  rams .M b. 
r l m m ~ m h e S E ~ m n ~ . * h . ~ ~ d m m n t . t l m b n o l n . b ~ . ~ h . n & l ; d d m r r * m ~ m n b  
~ n c * l r 0 r l h n ~ n r d m n l f o r m u a m w b r m . h . S E l B * I I m d o m l w 0 p u h . t h . r ~ a  
~ D ( * n r n u r t b s ~ ) * d * h l n M d . p d h . W I I U h e r 4 . d d D I U m W m b m t ~ ~  
h. SElB rWk h0U W d.p, h. mqwm 0 M d  &pnd.d mwqm MI b. d.r*d. 

* o p u m g  Y n r  D.p."L* 
An+ * l r d d o p M n I m m y b . m r o L d  Ih SElB b n M W . W N n M ~ d q l + h p  h e m  

h q h  nndwe. Llh. .Op(lm. a ~ 1 s W y  d o  pmnddl)d, n h  a nprux, 

Cma#.tlon of Family Connga 
rn m-• m y  eq f m  mnrq* a my Dn.. Th. mMbrt - U s  a unmbn 41 be A. am 
day d as m a  lolarhp h. SEIB'. nuPt d ntt.n n o V h b .  T)n SElB npuh. poa d d m  
~ - W s n ) * k n ~ r l m n r ~ d w m e h a w .  

h o M l b r k b h . r r p a l i b l P l y d h . ~ & m m 3 h . S E B ~ . h n h . . C ~ d .  
~ d . p n d a t b n g u . U ~ I s ~ ~ L d n u t l r u c h e s e d d n p m h ~ p ~ n l o ~ ~ )  
a m ~ ( u ~ . r f ~ ~ n m a e p n a m l o n p r r ~ b * h m m m q . l d h s ~ r m n h I n  
a d h 1 Y s m h . p ~ m t d & h 4 h . L W W f a - h b b b f a - ~ . h . n ~ r * . M  
WaIy rupm.b* (or .I w o u r p * n n n  ma .h.l ba &@d 0 Bophsv s d a  h d m p  
WNbn Of M-. (Nd.: ul UrpDuU b bWlgbb fa m p .  md cMa M nulnahd 1s. 
d.pnbnt  u m r  f m *  cmqr n p r M  o( r pdpmnl u Qvorm W m  r e  uhmr m 
parV Mh un f a  M a m .  H a u r .  m ox-lpane may b. b. InpD* COBRA em~u.da  
-..I 

~ n p l o m r r n . r 6 . a * ~ ~ t a y ~ ~ . ~ h . ~ m * ~ d . u d m ~ ~ l M h . ~ d ~ d  
h e  mah fdh4np m t c 4  bOUl (hm 01UWhn d CW.O. .nd p m d  d P D U ~  corong. 
r k h  .mhr r p l q . r .  kwpOL1. p d  b e  amn m w  Qm umr rwrj+g wn.nl - 



, PROVISION FOR MEDICARE ELIGIBLES 

Activa Ernployou 
rru 9t.b Empby.u' h w n w  mud p& os(ke mplw.er ow q a  65. mnnp vndn h. LOHIP 
u M r h . u m o r o n d k n a u n y m p l g u u n d r q e 6 1 k U Q u n b u ~ m b n . M ~ u n d r  
h . L G H l P f a n y l o l . . . o w r q . 8 5 . n d M r p r w a 1 q o C L U h * ~ b ~ ~ d b l  
M . d M . h . d l h m b ~ u ~ l o u . d m n m m ~ p l ~ . I a ~ p S c m d h . u 4 ~ ~ d h s  
d h ~ l b ~ m w . a c v o b w a r .  

Y.Qun Pnt D hncflmlon DNg C o v n w  
M d h n  nOrm nd r.Cw U.dlrm d.pndnb .n d h h. LOHIP'. pnn-Wm7 dnq Em- 
Wouo W . h  Ran lEGWF?. % LGHlP EGWP U WUn Put D - arup plm ha b h - 
n h ywr n*pon.lbllRy 10 hfm LGHlP ol .ny Po.ulpllon I*vp sor.np. lM you hm m may (01 a 
U. Mun You un onh b. .n&d in om Udltm p.esrbtlon bu(l #an el l Un V w  an MI 
~ u h d W b . n m d h h . L G H P E W P ~ Y p u w l b W w L ~ m u t ( ~ e M E W P O p t Q I l  
F m . n d m n n I m h . s E ~ . ~ ~ ~ r . n n l l r b ) o m Y I B ~ ~ m o Y ~  

I p o p t o U d H l p l n . y o u r U I ~ r ~ p . . d p t l o n ~ r u p - n g . h o n I h . L M P . V ~ * l , h a r m .  
.O nr h. LWlP  aum61~ hdon Put A and B -ga n p @a* d  h a  LGHIP E W P .  Va, cn 
ebo era* m ) M  8 d h n n t M 8 d m o  Put D p.soWm bug p a  V w  em cml I d m U E D l U d E  11-OW 
W n r ) M h M . d . y . I d ~ ) . . - k ( Q M ~ h b . m 4 k t o r r o l h . m h a M . O s u . P * n O  
pn-dmg pln. ITW urn almW cal 1 . ~ l l U b 2 W . )  

TERMINATION OF COVERAGE 

~ h m M h . l H y o u ~ . r r h . L G W ~ P p I n ~ m r m h . r . m d o r * r m d n e t l O h . r p u e t p l l o n b u g  
~ p u m q h . w b p l y % h l ~ ~ N o m n ( p r u h h ~ b p u ~ p m * m f U ~ ~ d ~ g  
Wlq. h h. ha,. 

W * . n l n b * l m ~ u n & ~ s D ) a u ~ . p ~ . V w m ~ ~ * . w h b ~ o n ~ . t m I U h a M  
o l h . p r a ~ r o W n s p . r U d ~ r ~ ~ ~ G . n ~ . * . h ~ ~ o b M o p l m I ~ l p l o a . ( h . ~ d  
o * r t l p u r h n y o u r m ~ r * d a P r t D p . K l p b n ~ p i r u f a m ~ h n * l l b ~ ~  
J e w w  t d  h. 1- yu. To r w u t b  lun h. LGHlP E W P .  ldnu wbrll h. EGWP O p t a t  
F r n  m: 

Ow you we m r n b r  ol 01. L M l P  E W P ,  you hrm he rlON m v p u l  plan dedaias  .bout plmd of 
~ ~ s I ~ ~ q m . R n d E G W P p M O a m m u D L m r v * R h . F m w l 1 0 r r m ~ - ~  
w h h b W b m p a ~ ~ p m  

.- -: 
1/1 CONTINUATION OF GROUP HEALTH COVERAGE [COBRA) 
!A. 

Intmdudim 
The bibl-k.h 9.n*. M I42 USC S.cla. 3DObb-1 h r a a h  LUXlbbOl naht h.1 h a  SEl8 & 
r a r a . n p ~ s n d ~ ~ ~ k w o m n l y ~ ~ m ~ ~ ~ r t n r i a d ~ m n n g . ( &  
' m n h u a h  rmnp.7 el pmq RU h PNh hl l l ls~ InU. cewng. underthe LGHP 6 &r*(u 
d . C O B R A ~ c n D . ~ h D D U n l ~ R * o . l a r ~ l o m n l h * l l ~ ~ ~ h u h u n ~  

lldn d m  b  M e w  b In(an you. h umnrl Mbm. o( you blpu .nd & 4 g m s  maw h. 
c c . 7 n n m h m w m d m b h . p  
StlSwL 

COBRA R i O h  for Coversd ~ o y a a  
u y o u e m * - ~ q r . p u ~ M m s e q ~ - y I ~ u I o . . ~ r m q u n d r h .  
~ W P b r u ~ m h , w d h . f m ~ n p n m ~ k q p r u :  

COBR4 mphta for Covarod Spocna n d  Oapndmt ChlMnn 
Y ~ . n m . l p o ~ . d o ~ m ~ p * . p ~ ~ ~ ~ y m . o . d b . n ~ I ( p b s ~ p . ~ ~ ~ * ~  
undr h LGHIP bauuse .mr a d  h. - 0- ME N m a s  . v a r - * d m  

- -  - 
. V a r  rpou.'. han d  u o  



. T h a p u ~ ~ h w e d m C ' * H n . f e t d Y m .  . me punwn*ay.de m m t  n d s  fa e n y r e e ~ o h l  men (co.~ m b m u r t  
~ e w m . m D l O m M r a r * s ~ d I Q U ) ~ ~ b . N n 1 ( u n d a P n 4 P r t B a D o h I :  

Whan Yow Emplgr Should NoUfytha SEIB 
C O B R A ~ b m r a ~ * . b ~ O n ~ b p M I D . d b . n ~ ~ ~ ~ h . S E B h u D w n ~ * ~ l  
q ~ m n , k r ~ v o u ~ b m ~ r b l ~ b r n o * l k p m ~ S E I B d I h . f ~ q u . P l l l n p  
mnb: 

E M d m & m m L  
R . d w 4 m d M n d m ~ a  - DuLdenmpbm..  

Wh.n You Should N O W  tha SUB 
X ~ a . b m ~ m a b a M I m e m ~ I ~ m I n l m n h . S ~ S d h e ~ q ~ m I U .  

m h. s E e  b d W  h.1 q u m y f q  o r n t  MI h.ppruQ WBRA m m u e b r  - d M Memd 
to e d !  q d W  b w l d q  Eech q u d M  bnw rU hm m M . p w n t  rlpkt $0 e l m  W B R I  
---ma In em%. d m n  *la C O W  -Wn a b h . W  d 

VarhmvOOde~. ) l lnnUmmu~st~~* .  m ~ s y p r l o d b e g h s m M h a h  
H r d ( l ) D * W p ~ l o u - . m b h m L W P . a ( 2 ) . h . d . U a * ( l h h . S E l B n o O u  
p~tpouhmh.opUam~WIUU0~~.9..Euh~Mb.rr(M.TMIa~dnt4nIto 
.*d COBRA oany. You mey elm C O W  mwnp. a b.h.0 o l  pr s-. md ,went. m y  * a  
msruI-~mm.rdprr- m . * s m m ~ c a s R A m n ~ * r Y b . m n - ~  
aVmd..h.-n=4!ubsmIbdD~eSElB. 

O M ~ S E I B M I ~ M O ~ ~ ~ ~ M ~ ~ . I ~ ~ . ~ L ~ ~ - ~ ~ ~ . L O H I P * . M I ~ ~  
~ n d p ~ d u d h t l M m d ~ k d . U - ~ . ~ . ~ ~ d d b . r ~ h d d . I p ~ . l . s t t o  
bvl COlRA a h p  me 6 W e y  d e d m  p a .  end I w n p d  a hu. h. SElB *(I 
8aauk.k mhdea )our rsmp. end puu ddmn I-M hnkph. W&y s * d a  puW. 

- m & ~ w R ~ t o ~ o a e ~ . u m r h . p a M h . - d e m p a y . . h a m t M n  
Vmhsmd *a mpbpul 

F a  wh l b m a m  W d c m  m W. p mrol g h  h. SEB lhvh not*. 01 h. s a a d  q t m W  
mnt . *k60d .p .mh.wm0~~a~hBOd.p~uh .d . ( . a r rh ld l -mu* lM 
Ioltb.c.u. d h. mm *he- b b l .  

M d n p  Yew D.p.ndenu W COBRA 
You may add new dq.ndslD D p u t  -  ran^. vldu h. ckummerr pnnhd mdm me 
L G H P . E l U P ~ ~ b . L n . e n y n n d ~ n n h a p M d m p u W W - M n o l h m  
hd.pnd.nI WBRA W. TNI m e m ,  la .amp, h.1 E p a. hey *I. rm bm .r* m &n* 

l t p u ~ c M d b d ~ ~ ~ h h . ~ a y p r b a ~ ~ a h . d . ( . d b W l m p w m n t d ~ h ,  
h. may W cmnp. under h. d b 8 W  e h w  I p Dndy n o *  h. SEB d S o w  Searrlp 
dM.hMnn*.h".rph.ud.or. 

. .- .... - .... - ,... 
~ % ~ ~ , " ~ ~ ~ Z ' 2 & ~ s ~ b L Z " ,  kPLh*Y~'hSC2?d! 
a m x v l d h . J o r w ~ M ~ ~ n ~ ~ ~ p ~ m t o c ~ . * . M n q u h d l o p . y ~ S O X d L ~  
p r o u p ' t ~ l a m ~ l m h ~ h ~ ~ r o n h d ~ ~ a h ~ n m m h . t b . p r u m m h u l 3 0 d . y .  
.(w h. dew It d&m4r*d h.I pu me m Imgm dub*d m e  I1 a 'We Xn d h. Sod* SeawRy 
u * h W . u - h L ( I D w a * p M n s * h o d c t h . d n ~ ~ m l a m n a d u b * d f n h  
d m  me ro* d m w  *(I nmh a 102% d h e  Ll oa t  d - m o . l V o ~ ~  -. *IP M 

var pnvm -1 w.1 bm r K h d  by h. SEIB rlhh 1prty.M (45) dm horn p r  deb d 
* . c ( ~ m . ~ U b - l p m L n u y . d w m m ~ I M d ~ y d . U m o n h d ~ o . ~ . n b ~ ~ d a y P O )  
pnu P a .  

B u u r h m m . y M a ~ b . t n n h . ~ p r r o - g e u n d r h . p M a d s . n d h . I h u r * u n ~  
pv Ima d -. I( Is pa* PI-1 h. LGHIP mey p-y a r m  hcmM dmp h e  6W.y M d m  
p d d .  II mb ~ W S .  p .harld m essunm ma pu hen wumge wh. LonIp. ~k *my ) ~ l t  

~ a m g w ~ m ~ ~ ~ l p ~ ~ n m h l y C O l l R A M p . y p u ~ s a ~ .  

Langh of coverage 
C O W  mDMlbn oamaga b m- mnkudm d tnwmge. WBRA cmlhuem mmqe 41 en 
r o , ~ m ~ w d a m r m u * h . n ~ n d h ~ Q a m p ~ ~ ~ a u ~ c ~ :  . Deemolh.mplq... 

D k P o . a h g d u p r a b n . a  
0.pnd.d d W  bn a t  e - d . p M t  e+sd- WI~~LGHIP. 

T h  me a C  m *np lo e m n d  1CmorOl COBRA cwhetbn P((O: . D o . b r ~ - W p a ~ - a - M ~ d p ~ c u n * b a M m m n ~ ~ T h l l ( O U D l ) a  
T h X n l ~ l l d h . S o d . 1 J . p I ~ M m d ~ O n b r M h ~ a S E 1 8 . ~ l b m n a D . w d ~  

~ . - n p h . t ~ ~ p . a . r u t o a r o r m ~ m e ~ ~ & . ~ ~ h . ~  
p n a r . h o . * s t m ~ ~ m n d c m u ~ m d h . l * d I ~ m m b n . h . ~ d - s ~  
~ . l l 0 2 % d h . M o a t d c a r r ~ s .  

F a ~ l p a r r M d l l t n . ~ ~ d b . 1 5 ~ w M l u ~ u u n 6 . d ~ U ) m a h s ~ n ~  
veI l )hp e m !  (durn. d k m a  e r r h e d  C U d h r e .  a leu d aepcdm m q  o s ~  a m p  h e  
S m m h  pW. S n  h 1- a P l t h  am- 
~ I m m o n h l m . o , & w l h b  

~ h b Q ~ o l ~ e a ~ I m d W ~ - t o ~ , ~ m u N ~ h . S E I B ~ r m u d ~  
S . ~ ~ d ~ O l ( n n h . ( a M a h . n d d h s t W n a h p t o d d C O B R A - . m * h n  
~ d . p . h 1 h . 1 ~ d ( 1 1 h . d . n d ~ w g u . 3 k o m n 1 . ~ ) h a w 0 n ~ ~ r m n p ~ ~ w  
b e b a b . c w r d m . w i l ~ ~ a a ( 3 ) h e W d S o b l ~ d ~  Varmust 
h w ~ h . ~ l B ~ 3 O d e y . d y r n m h d ~ S . c u l w l M W b n M  

. M;~las  ol C O B U  for SMnd ~ ~ ~ h p  Even- - la lpouu n d  d l ~ n  nolkhp 
C O W - . o . . m . l C m a h p . ~ m y b . M n d m t o ~ m a D . l ~ r q u . * h g ~  
-narhgm.lsmas,pW.#ppkmeJEBW~dhtrad~g.m(. 
~ ~ L p l b d r ( l ~ n k r m D I ~ d h . ~ ) o n o I m p 4 m W a ~ C M h h a f l  

m c l ~ d m I . s r u a a ~ ~ s M ~ n ~ . c * h g C O B R L ~ ~ h . -  
aplq..~Lrmmppau.Daanmrvo(.dhU.dLuro.mdkim.aUh.EWsbp 
W q ~ m b U r p l l l r ~ O l p n d c n l W . b u ( ~ 8 h a ~ n I o W h m c . y m h . ~  
o r M m I D U - v l d v O e p h n h . d l h . M ~ m n l l s ( o m m d . F a u m p . I e  
~ m p q u h U r m k . M h a n p q M n L ~ l ~ m r . 0 e ~ C a s R * . m a r . n h r  
m m b h ~ m . ~ 1 . u n d m n l d l m f ~ M a s ~ m M ~ ~ ~ n n a w m ~ a  
-.mn-b*aad.dMBR*-. T N I Y M b m r r r o ~ ~ m n t . n u l d M u u r h  

NO(.: I( p u e  mmed to - bdm PU Mmm e q w l w  bnaldew. )ou w .ba c o w  
o m h u h  amq.: ham*. pw Medm oamp* b. pmrT M pu COBRA cmhr.Dr 
- g e * . ~ u ~ r ) r v a r m U U h e n M ~ P ~ A M B l n o r b u w h m h l l - n g .  

K n p  h a  SElB Intomad of Addnss Changes 
h ~ r b p m t ~ p u f n t y s r l p h t l , p m u a ~ h . S E I B M ~ d m d l ~ h U m ~ m n ~ d ~  
m D n . V w S ~ ~ ) I O k ~ e ~ b r p u d s d y ~ ~ p m d ~ h . S E I B .  

W.orm m w m i r p  pw mBUA COn*UOOn m-eg* dghb M y  be e n u d  by dhq me SEIB .I 
l . ~ . s l s . s t n a u c . 2 Q . ~ O a 4 m l l n N m w h t . d ~ . F a m m k ( o m Y l b n . b a * p u ~  
~ b . D w H U P h h . u . ~ ~ ~ d ~ M ( H W M ) o n d o O r r b * n ~ ~ p g r a p h . 1 1 1  
p M s .  W Um U.S. O.PUmY* d L M s  E m p b r  Bn*n. SOW* AhWINla IEBSA) w t d m  el 
~l*~.m.w~ebs. a cal h e t W k . e  m m k  r t  I-WXZ~Z F a  ma. khmuOm abut h u h  kurnrr 
o p h s  .&16* arwgh. H.& hwmu MaheI@.w. *W m . . h u l h u n ~ w .  

Shb E m p l q u '  hrmm m a  
L M P  COBRA s'.Zh 
P.O. B a  mmo 
M m m ,  lC 3613040m 

Tarmlndon of Contlnurtlon Conrrgr 
RU h r p W l d O  h.t  p r  COBRA m lda cou.9. mey b. p 
r-: 

1. S E l S n o ~ ~ ~ h . . l h m r r . o u  

2. Th.pm~(orpwsmhmbnrmnpeDnapdmIm.: 

3. var ~ . D M  m d .  afur rUQnO mum w m p r  m a  soh p m p  Bn m d w s  mt 

2.znmWDT:z=;2 : z ~ ~ s k , m 2 z 2 n ~ d ~ ; I  
- p d d W e d b ~ k 2 0 ~ 4 m d u ~ U r o r d . b * C Y . M F  

4. You L"mne n t l l d  b Medlcm: 





- ,  
- INPATIENT HOSPITAL BENEFITS 

Prudmbslon C.rtHluUon and Po.1 Mrnlulon Review 
To ha wb fa hp.l.nt b.N(m .I @aUam Wid amb* nQ mp (.rum n*dul 
m*rpms), muM hm Pore-& Rnk) mut W nrhd. .wlad, nQ cr&d by BCBS u 
rmdl.)ynaour)rb.(apur. a m R m t o D r  h o q b L  SEIBmnb.a r lh  BCBSkih..lh mn-nt 
w-. 
BCm *n onb cuwy h. medlul n.muRy d th. nqu0.W banlll. MI r ) w l h r  p u  .n allglbh b 
-he (La 4 w n d  W d b .  YOU rr nopon.lh hr bahg .M d Vr IlmIWma d p u r  Wndlla. 

To *n p . W u b n  cwill&n: 
Vw a w war n u n  nhphm. BcBS M m M  "van dyl b.(n ma pmp*.d aclr. -1 

.I lb00.551.21Y. R h mur n.polulblW to m.L. oun  hl. I. don.. F*llum to c m p h  
may m u R  ln m d u d  Mmflb. 
BCBJ *. d*& *ham.r h. -d h p . ~  hcasad and nay n m d u l y n o u n u y .  

TO DblMn pootuankabn r a r l r :  . Vw. pu p m r  a. p r a  f a  pu must Wpka BCBS 1 t.MO.ll.ZlW *1101 dW)I d M 
. * c ~ ~ . . i d n l u b n ~ ~ a , . ~ ~ ~ a n m ~ ~ . ~ ~ m b a ~ s a * d ~ ~  

F . p w L  . B a s  *Ir Pamh *knhr ma h m w  ho.pW &ula end may *rr d u l y  na- nd 
MtuJmrh. .drrh& m, for* mdd mnpns).. 

S u m  I. your rlohO d apw. H p u  dm n d  WkI ~ ~ o l b n  urtmmon m p~t.lrbnkalm 
.wrrm d n InM%nl W l W  h l u l a  and a m .  B C U  wH MV no banaflb for vour hum *Ur 
&io. . n ~ a i i u d ~ ; r i p u  obwa-bn h c a m n  bu l io t  rtlhln me a w c h d  h;* mnm. 
you *111 W raapmalbla lor $60) dadwUbh (or ma & W o n  hamod d Or n o d  S100. 

Inrut*ni i 4 ~ d l . l  h w n b  for Matmltu 
~ s ~ ~ e m r & & h ~ ~ . n n r l i m ~ b r u l ) . h o s ~ b ~ ~ ~ t ~ y h o o m . s ~ r l h  
d l J d ~ f O r . 0 . . r p h O l ~ ( m h l d b h h n Q h M ~ . ~ v . O N ~ , a * Y h . l  
00 h- f e e  m u m  *ah. w  rmub. h M  a m-0- &&I -Om horn h LCHlP I. 

H O T E . H n M m a V p r n n h h D I P . I M . U N m N r b & d u r g . d I I n q v k o r P a t h n d m M  
brm BCBS 

B.du&hla 

Sf\ OUTPATIENT FACILITY BENEFITS 
. -1 

Y 

. P a w  d me hcqadbdbqao f a  I*.p dadn rrr*n rndmd h M wpowd .*.p asad- 
& d ~   la m(.dma BCBS cunausn*. R p R n n t f a ~ l a t d h .  owmva6hhsl)*r. . - ~ n d r - h r p y . n r * n = R n o S 2 1 E o p . F n n l p r h D .  . - ~ # ~ u r p . d m r  .(U-ontpuvldt. . l v - m r  .S2Smp.)nontprvblt . ,..bcl.lq."d*okgy l n * u  .NI a $1 sop.ym.nl par b.1. . x q  d u r  a SlOO cop.)nnont pr rl* . h g q . m r a s t o #  s-nt w coetparvlah 

n b ww -V m m*a urn mat ww wmi6m d l a h ~  m ! a  m b ~  k a  Caroma h6md. 

scii 0.narA k. h.u -1 ar. p M  mly "ibn h. d m .  r. Fdmmd by PPO p&u. 
M *@dm ud a&ou Wm &M b Ba6aMc S u d u l d v n  en UmR.d b MX of ma 
.lmmbh "h. 

Wonun's MJIh and C m a r  Rl!&ta Ael 
A mncr a b romhhg m a n o  h mnwm vm mu(.ckmy r(l a h  r n c M  -. f a  
r.ODnlWdk.7 d h e  br.0~1 on rNd, muncmnr w u  I*- atd m m m &  M IN ar h u t  lo 

Orman and Tlaaua Tnnaplant BamflU 
hpCrm .ndhr e a m r d  bmmlIs am mb* f a  opb* WawpbnUta - an4 u p m n  bt ma 
fe*hgwpuundUuu.l: 

. ban 1.k. t  1.PM.U I - &  

. b m a m m  I.Lop. I.DrmU I .WW . ham*. I . m a b m d  I I 

.*I u w a b r h  LOHIP, m a h .  -bm* mumbmnhm'hr * ld . *  h. hrr- h. n d h .  
Chwh.rwmm0 

8 h a  mmb.1 I0 ma ndpM d h- UOvl a Lu. t m m m  pnrbudy NM, dmDI Dlpn 
pDMmrm & Ua Wd. h 1 . d  l O O U V 3 .  - d LH Dlpn. m.p.. h-bI d k l q k d  
huruIhp bun and hoomn. .nd OUW m a d m  ~ * m u y r  pnuumum cam. 

O . g ~ l  nd lbu T&l B m U b  are uchdd: . For .dm* a *rO.mn bt rql.aom ol n u  o p ~  rlh a mdmW dnla.. h d 
~ a n d f Y 1 I I * a b ( a w m * I m a m ~ :  

W h . n d m w m r d h ~ m . ~ O m u p h ~ o m p m * r r g ~ ~  

W h . n p w m m n t ~ d y k h d b p m k W  . whn h ndpbmu mmmd und.rh. LOHIP: . F o r n r p t n a d a c r l ~ . c O m a ~ p Y I a l o n o a O :  . F a d o n a . n d ~ n - . M ~ h w m d M . L S h . M . d J l l ( u .  



UTILIZATION MANAGEMENT 

bp&d HompllaIMbn 
U b yaa m p m t r P l  I. mYy BCaS W n l  W.Im.. Fdh. m notn, Bt8S may mUl h UOD 
dmduclbh a h. b # U  .Onhrm. NOTE: BCBS *. om caW h. m e d d  d h. mquaU.d 
~ ~ * h . h n p u . n d ~ m m u h . m r m q u u W ~ V o u . o n r p a ~ f a b . 4 m . M  
Uu bnlbOnr d w u  Mmh.  

0 n . m h o a ~ .  by BCIU I. unn er WUU PrMoWy Ippraod C n  
~ B C B S l u . p . r h l q q p m n d . r a n m d m u m n l s b . W . d m m p . M d t k u a ~ b r d  
Da.enmm. n d  I.- - s ann a r m u  ms p&sWy spwa mru d ImmmL acaS *a ctn 
p r - ~ . d r m ~ m * . m p m a p u m h ~ m u q p U m n d o b D k m Q c l r I m b . b . h . d m b m  
~ ~ . m ~ u . m l a p u ~ Y o u r m n W n y R u a r u b * n l u ~ f m ~ d  
pn.pp.I.Nh"tkullrJavmh~h.~mY11b.nad 

F-p BCBS't I*U.U4 h. ..pal moh.r and h. p d u  ma sml Womum hdmr u p W k g  h. 
-. M N n , ,  me oqaUm-4 mohr  b sant. rp.d.1 Baby I w d  Id1 Do1 hhdn .dmtbNl 
m a w  nhw 10 p a g n a n w ~  -ma. 

Indmpndnnt Rwbw 
F a d . m r ~ m . M l r a p m m l a W a r ~ ~ d - . ) w m a y . M m a n g M n r ( h B t a S  
fa an -1 a d d  n W  d h. do-. You mu* r w o l  hb oNnul m* *.lh 4 mahl d 
m ~ d . 1 . d p v ~ d . I k n t . b . ~ d . ( m n k . t l o n a ( k . l . d m o . F p a ( d . ~ Y a r ~ a U  
f a m . n u u m . l n r h m u n b . h ~ n p m u d s m m p u m ~ . ~ f o r ~ I r . r k r . n d m u d b .  
I D m l W m V * ~ . m . . r  

BL*CmundebnSkWddNab""a 
ramLk.Y c,,.a sa*m 

P.O. Bm 10744 
B h n ~ b m .  N %2024744 

n pr nqw.~ an a N m d  nrh. an Ind.pndm apmiuOa .(I 1 d . r  BCBS's &n You may 
. d ~ b n . l r m t m ~ l s m h . m k u w d z a r m  Lbxa)wa.*rrulnr*rkh!hw.purO~oln 
kMl*, .bOUt hDlr D do 011. * 'lOu nrn ma mk mnWbn .6dllad hln3nuk.l. Uu nrhr 

~ . O w B m N . m n J . b b s p r D I l l ~ ~ m p l w r r * f u , m . . ~ o N a w ~ o a r . d  
by M(hr ncUm d dll m8.d For amp.. m r r r u t k .  hnall l  may m l  b. ma& d&48 .t n 
s l a u m  a w b r u l l ~  udd.d (sum u mw m m n .  

s I:. Lorn -1 *Eu.IW-m,,, 

9.: 
I a , ,.-d ROUnNE PREVENTIVE CARE 
\Ir 

- I m n ~ W p m n l k . u n m * . s N n W W b ~ . n k n h * a * R O p a l d . r a n  
e n d  .l100* d Uu BCBS -. ,.la *h M d w W  a m p a r m c .  

Gii& *H prwld. BCBS rrlh sop*id 011 addllad -i&matbn b a k  BCBS m 0ppaRuriIy lo 
m - h . ~ B d h * . b . n r Q * d h r ( h g M h a ~ ~ ~ I b n ' a ~ d r I m . T h o ~ d h  
m k ~ k a w O b . ~ u d b k d k p , r u b ) . c l ~ u b l b . U a .  



--.. 
I ' v\, _ -' PREFERRED PROVIDER ORGANIZATION (PPO) 

Pnternd Providar (PW) Bamnt. for Phyrlclmm, Numa PmcUllonm. and Phmlciw 
Aa.l.(.nt. 
To Uu . ( N ~ O (  d PPO -fa, shyly  dl- PPO ROrld.r horn h. E l u U l d  P W  dtulcq. Y w  
~ * ~ a k r ~ d . m & ~ m ~ . w m p l . ~ ~ w n q u m ~ h . r r * a m d ~ ~  
f o , y o u . M p a r l d . . m u ~ 1 ~ . o b . . P P O R a . l d r h o r d l r f a p u b r a m h P P O b n . N f o r h b a h  
rrt.r I.... m UU.h.dOlOOhl rhn ww b pnbmvd or M M*pud.n( h00kq or mb~ IDI 

. 0 . I o l S . n h b - h . u n k * l a ~ . ~ l u m n l I D I n k . a o r * C n h . P R )  
-a o(h.. me urn, n.mnt b wh. d - w m v p * ? .  You muat p.l U s  
Ptr@clm cop.lm.$lO W u r u P m ~ b n r w ~ c b n  W ~ I w q f w u c h . ~ W t .  . S u r p W C a L n t c o . u r * s u f a o p r . D m a W M l l q p D u d u n . n d h . u u l m b l b a M  
.hr cpm#c+n. IDI rduw h m . 8  and ddmUma. fa h. ad- FeaWhmr wxmlmd m d  
v o l p M W m u D D u . n d d m . . . l ~ p a l d * M . n ~ h p r ( a n m m d u g W p o u d w *  
a r n ~ n ~ . s u r p r l a p r ( o r m W h h . ~ r ~ ~ ) . a l o ~ $ U c o p . v .  

NOTE: A m p r k n ~ k  Ihp d.I lpprad  manW h u h  paldm b anIaUam h. B C B S W h  a t  
mbcbsd.mg 

MENTAL HEALTH AND SUBSTANCE ABUSE 
PREFERRED PROVIDER ORGANIZATlOWS (PPO) 

/ - 
T h . ~ W l l P h d ~ L p n w l d . h . ( o b r A n p r n n W h . l h . n d i - . b a a b n d b  . amantcr. 

- IMMW Th.pmnrnp 
- F-WTh.wIco~- .kp . Unrg.ns)r-. 

InplEamad C w m M 1  S8MQ. In SEIU *ppad Fa* . UOhOlmdOnQMWCL*m).lq 

To b. .IpW br h p h l  fuW b**(Ib. .I -1 h h s b u  ud ,up (acql rmaa mrpndu 
m d  mud ma Po.bd~L8don W W l  mum b. d a d .  a m  M cmmd KBS .I m.duy 
nuurn Ma pu am -. l h a  SELB ku nn- ECBS u h a  R.h* MrnWhlor,  
BCBS m b. r~ t . 8m.s f . zm.  

TO U. d ham paldw 4 h. .ppond p ~ m  ~ d r  no SUUI - m a r  
-.Dn (PPOI. SEIO. W S  CvrtDmr SMm. or M r r *bcbu l .q .  Whn pu mahe u 
a w b n m  lamvywmm u hame h. SElUm Y.nW Huah w 8 ~ 1 U n a A b u  P m .  

1-7 

;/I PIRTICPATING CHIROPRACTOR BENEFITS 
I;?-' 

m8 RnClphp W* Roam Mm mrnbln u w d  8dnnt.p.a nmn f h v  rlii~ a ~ a n * l p . ~ p  
h k 4 W . S m b r . n - n I s o X d h . U . o O R d s F n S 9 l h M * I k m ~ h * . - ~  



4: TOBACCO CESSATION PROGRAM 

Th. SElB h a  mdd Ind.p*16n!$ l l h  .p ur. pmidua  erras h e  a m  to f a n  h. I W u h  Vrb?  C m  
N e M  TNs b not Blue C r s u  pmrldn n m  Chmd a pu prolldr a rb* w r b  PIP I t  
~ p l o r t o r . c o h n p n * * . r m 6 . p v n k . * h . m h . p & b . w s r * D l p p w W r .  

..................... Rouh.$dmamMm (m.prpall.  ....+ $40 ktmbrplmm 
~an*ur~m.~mhdm.m!a dm- ( o n  pnyu) ........... $41 L(Unb.rp8rUn 
w -ma k. m. ........................ ..-. ........... + .... $25 mblr p a w  
F-P mW ku rbk .......... - ... .................................. $25 h b r  F.lm - M cva .umh.Dns. M I l l  ommu h r  M p  udlolorup mnmu *N W u a  wlCd U h e  m m b r  
p m n a  mmw aor .  and II M * m e w  bl h. p u l w t h p  mas u M M c o m r ~ ~ o -  B. sum wu maw 
IM.au. loulsommmt-b.rmWrnrlcu 

if. 
! PHYSICIAN SUPERVlSED WEIGHT MANAGEMENT 

AND NUTRITIONAL COUNSELING PROGRAMS 

lme SElB *Y - + p r o w  upmbd W t  m m q e m w  u d  nu- u*mukp p-. The 
~ l a * r t n m h . r ~ p b W % d h . o D . t d e p y l * t n r u p r r M w ~ t m ~ t p ~ . m d ( r N ~ . b  
w&p *Ih no ddudble. ma U acrid 1150 p a  dd- PI. You m m r P h l  h. m h b m m m t  by 
l a n d h g  y~ m e .  ddm.. DrmM nmblr, dayme pbm nunbr,  cevy GI Itr p~pm rempq.). end 
w r m  emhd hlomM k 

SWu Emp1g.a' 1mumn.x Board 
WmHnaa DMalon 

PO B m  M O O  
Montgornmq, AL l l304WO 

865.1383059 

You mual film yow chlms kthh benalltwnh tk. SEIB, no1 DCBS. 

I-.-,, 
##\ 

! _.... 
: .~ .- MAJOR MEDICAL BENEFITS 

C w n d  WJot M.QcaI Erp.num 
s m d m e r r m t ~ q u ~  m w  - h s  u e ~ b m  ba. c a e d e c e s  c- & M n  
1 800.321 a3Qf lm s p M c  m m g .  pw-s pr(o la ur*olr Mhp w.6. 

L m C p * . L . r m m M ~ . p ~ l ~ g U n M ~ U m U n d r r r n r v y ~ s ~ M o . s n d s v p p r s  
vhn -1 b..ntl kr Wad. M+ Mew b n ( b l w  d m  ma r w l u  p d d w  la n p U N  em 
w q e e  D me V ~ M U  M m * . h  d p r e m u l a  m u m  md w..bnmla r.*nr. 

NWw *.tks nd teatowl l M  mmp. b d.d d y  wdr h a  Yld*.l MneU r q * d * u  d 
*h.hr. PPO Pmvl& b ma. 

. R m h . b O n L . . & u ~ ~ m . n d ~ c d d o u ~ ~ d l u ~ I ~ ~ ,  

MdW wppb udl u men, M s .  qUnb. mII. m.n md brew,  Wh9.a md n..Ql  (ok h n  
h V h  wp-h  m m m r ~ .  mr tany -  nd up- end urpM dm*. 

R o l . d w n b u t n u ~ y Q m n d C B h u U w b h . ~ ~ ~ h d r m l d h r m ~ h . ~ ~  
nnd.d f a  )arr ma-. A Wr mud W Pal h. d l r m n u  1evIw m nesusw. r B h  
requola k 

RnW dr*lveLC mdhl eqrcpmnl p- by Pnr*dm fw h r q ~ M  LS* In m m W e  hme. Me0  
m h . m a n ( d l U m a m b l I M ~ y p v c h . u p d u  R ~ c n b u y R ) l . k r l h u ~ ) a r c n m t l l w #  
R Is mt H.l.b(. b 1.m. s*r c r o u  m MY a .lano - h o e  mu. Sane .runp*r d a n r e  m d k d  



. HmodMb d u n  p I m 4 W  by a Puddp.6~ RmN1 DW#a FadS. 

Rh.C wnhp urr*a d k e n a d  r.plrund nme (R.N.) u lanrd pnctlcd n u n  (LP.N.1 C me 
d m 1  w.ly h. p l s u k 4  aUb  of R.N. u L.P.N.. em pa(dd ouW* d * IP.lilnl a o a r  
b ~ . . M w ~ p m . l d . d ~ ~ p r m n d r ~ l b . d t o ~ ~ b l m d u ~ e o l ~ m m b r d y o u r h a u e W .  
No bmdX. 81. p m i W  Iu my curadbl un In uda to h mmW, ph*Y d m  nunfnp n m b n  mud h 
p m c a W d  by sC8S. 

j MEDICAL EXCLUSIONS 

. -. urn. m m L  u ~ & s h m l . l l . d  C r e  h.1 b m t  I.-d C BCB.5 ma M w ~ m d  

C . 5- ol e- d horplU s l q .  a x u p  a lm M m3mrp.n~~. BCBS hu .p-d W p* 
U I ~ M . ~  a pu .dm- Sw4c.s u n p n s e s  of nmpb l  m y  lor a mnpnq U w n M 
noS4.d rhh 72 h- ol a our n d  Mhau dn .(Dn rev mhibn. U I m 6 . k n h e  he1 h. 

. M s  u -ma fm c lek  wm b r a  not - lndwlhln 12 monlha*Rr n d u s  w r n  rn-d u 
-a w n a  . S . d  m -ma lo p r m d  hlp*N. d o l l  or conr.nbnu lm ntrn er: .kmdllom. 
hur*ll.r.-b*hr~mn*.l~h.um.ludu.DDId.E;orch.m~tb*Do*Idld.d 
Saw e m *  b urdr .qu$mntm -s ,wdpIu ,  uudu UFldn u Wads.r *p)U u rrUb* 
-nu-. 8-d m&mud prodvdq Mud mu¶& n- md shWmW Tr*.bned 
-m. h u r d - t o s D n d h . n m u l d n r ~ o a ~ ~ 1 ~  Mnhudunba 
ii&w dump me wim'mmpy nuIOI;u* excum. - . S& u -nra 1s  a. m.*.c*nt un, u red cu., hdmp on h r n m h p  
ha. 

&: PRESCRIPTION DRUGS 
- 

- 
A s h  Emp)g.s and N o n U d i c v *  W b w s  
R-m -Cud Roptm 
G . n * c a v p ~ r a n d ~ l 1 0 0 * d h ~ b 1 ~ ~ , ~ t ~ $ 5 ~ p 1 ~ . 1 ~ ~ 1 1 p u ~ 1 ~ ~  
Psmcwhg Runnaqr. 

Pdnt-ofJd* Drug P r a m  
e n n a n u r u d r v p t m u d a  MU dme.lo-.. a q o d 0 m a c l b d a r y u r  M.PIbhddd-• 
*h.n w uv* a rmklp.l(m Pkmmcy. 

Y o u u ~ m s p m a k k f m r & ! 4 h p h m n m b , w f ~ .  
chmarrrsrtm*n -n0*.6. 
R b p u ~ d * m ~ I l u e ~ s l l u S h W d - m . u W h . W Y d u l ~ t ~ I . S . *  

sup a h  km (CL-MI u p u  m R ysur r(.m a m *  N I I * * . ~ - L ~ .  

NOTE: No hr*1I0 .nn.Ue lor pnur(ptlma pwh.ud .1  oNon*~nldp.llnp P-y. 

P m d p U o n  D N ~  C u d  P m s r r n  fo rOn* r *  Drug8 
PI.hlTe&xl.nW wp* N8IC.k PhSmedI. 
I SWW~ar30daYrrpF4 
I t o w ~ ( 0 r e M ~ w p l I  
s t 0 w w f a w a Y n p p h  

Polnt4fdd. ON@ Plopram for Bnnd D w  
b 1 . Y  Eatadmd Supply NehorL Phmmulwa 
I D x m k u n u . n n h . l l m ~ u g ~ b n ~ D w u o b 4 q P * e m 1 1 0 U . d M - d h n ~  

I NOTE: N U.dun RnB.Wb* p.- rmpl. m kdd. H e W  Veahes M d I d W s u W s  
e n a d d d  h m  EGWP-• hu h.y .n oard b y P a  8. 

o 8mm s u p w  b .knp r a r m ~  ua a w @dm. nr* was. m u  IU b ~ o c ~  nd wga M. 
m M a  m a n  M raul b u a u  (uc+ - pddd by me Wonenns H& .M *(I &I. 
h.CV(p lu lu lm+p.nm~umdDadadtanIhrah. (onh.d  h&uprl. 
u r n  *r W P a r r y ( s W d a 1 .  W W n w  (-1 rnmw pJ M bh mpbnu. I d.pn6r a *ky 
hst-vma~m b n ~ . a p t u n \ * t , a ~ m W s q o l m n u y h . ~ t o u b * m ~ r r (  
mwh- m a y a h w  hl- To m u  hb hq ham nSpbw Dukg w-h. phwdm may 
r m o n  b n p  m dmm h. n o u  (mkopwr) T M  upbp*W *am h r n m n m d n  urpmy 
he-w .addMdu*duroan* lcsvp* l  S u r p w 0 r m w e e r o u P h t m h ~ ~ M s  
~ t M ~ M O D I m O ~ I d o n e t o m p a w r -  M m - m e w u d m  
hu-pu.*lprarta*mY*.y - ~ s m ~ u k ~ d Y ~ ~ r W d h h . ~ ~ m m ~ d ~ s h u ( n u # k O u a m ~ d  

h ) u n ~ s ~ ~ d e n u s c l l r a d D n u ~ ~ I n U o I O m ~ ~ U I u k ~ I m . r y * ( O 5 0 n ~ h  
. p l . a . w . m o o * r p m d ~  

- 
-h urn. ol b-t pl mh alW heendlnp d.P of yaw c a m .  TUa -.(or ump* 
h . t U ) a r r ~ h m * h a p l b l ~ n ) a r o a q . e n B . w ~ m ~ I m m ~ m o l ~ b p l l l d ~ . w . ~ ~ (  
hllR~W50ndtlDn(M~s~1m.mmhl~~.W~~~M~Uak~un*.un*.n6n6n6~ 



G 
U n b s h n * t w ~ d b y ~ p p M * I n r . u r r * . , a r l p n r n ~ d h * M * a l n p n ~ u h ~ I n n d  
h. Unbd SAWS. any M.. camrf. drf. bmn a olhr gw.mm.nUI q e n q  h.1 paid.. a ~ap la -0. 
hrmph b- 0 .ny m.rn*YIs. 

H 
Mdnp .Id* o.lmk.Dns amkpllor hm. 

I 
1 n v n ~ o n . l  hmmml p d - ,  hdUn. d w l .  dIW uug.. w W n L  0 su-. Mump 
h-d M u ,  am .n pm dm h*.l um. Unan 1.d.d W. h. w uma d n y  m m w r  
puddp.Ua h a qrmnd dWd m. b pmNblw hem 6wDPPlng mnmw b . u a a  m n b u  dmn lo 
pllldp.L. k an gpad -1 OW, and han Ornlko m*rw. fw d w  c w  h.1 h. plan Wld 
~ p ~ ~ s l b K . u ~ ~ m m b n b . n r d d h m ~ y p a d ~ l C 1 . L ~ ~ p p L s m . I . p p a d  
blkdn4.b h . l ~ . a l ~ u a ~ ~ D u u ~ d r m o n .  

. -I o .mlu lor uumm nm d m  m nquh a l lurvrd pmvfd.r. dvm h. IWI d .mpldh 
m d h ~ ~ M ~ ~ . ~ l m ~  m b e a  m p m  hap.anrabodhl(unrtbls. a l s  m- 
u m nmbn. hwmq, a U m M .  

-a IWP. ID h. *mnl  h.1. m m b n  b. or be. b f d m W n m * l  am* Y d b .  
r .p .rd*a  ~4rh.h.r h -bn popy.nd Um.* 8WaM lor. a subniiiw d *N  D u.dmo. uw u 
ooUn(rnqvM4l.d.rdIw 

N 
Srr*n 0 a- d m y  md la nlcotina dd*t lon Ilr)l u rnw uadDn b*ammL Ru aW 
~ D D l r u P n l m b . - s b d a t w . I h d & ~ p ~ b l a p h y l l d v l m d d b p n u d  
by* IDl&pknnld%lhoman knmart pk.n.s)r 

-s a a w l  d my khd poW.d by YonI.lndp.llnp k p l b l  baW In -b L1W 
uau-aun,oh*-vnQImbcaha.~hp.0.nlmaoupht~bnm.h 
uu d .dd,"W h m .  

. D n u l  a a r m  f o  a dud m lrnpaaundlbvlu JoM (IY1) 6UorQn. Thb M a  Rm I1 
~ ~ h . p u l d . k n . p p o w d b y m e ~ q d ~ l u D * a d . n T h . u h . ~  
m ~ U r h . M h a h . n y h . y ~ I . n d h ~ ~ u h ~ u b . l l ~ h . W h W h . k . r U g  
D u m ~ m ~ h a M B . t M . l n ~ ~ t h r h k O u r W ~ W m u h m N c h m  
m- m i m a  a dam-. M mprh nh.b0l.tla. dnl hc.MW, nmnnl la hmoUm*s h h. 

R o a ~ n d b o Y d l o r h o l ~ ~ d r l t 6 n r h ~ o l n p u t W m h p . L k l ~ m u k . 1 ~ n i u ~ h . t  
m*l M*. bm pmcaa  a m -1 b a b  m a d  upon Du - md h a  &us 
P d d  . R D U ~ N  W d l  d u d  u..ndmn**hrmdZBwuDlplbr h. - h m m D n  
8m.m. . Rouan. physlul apnlnmmm o x ~ l o r  01. u r r * . s  dnaW h - Rwnh mlb :  

2 
I.*> 3 GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Pdvav.n of Your PmWed Hulth Irdonndon 



fh.p*nrpon.ol9.IfurD*.nhmwduW.Id)auImbuM.lh-Knhh~ 
spmlda mmoq a  mQd h &  As plvl t- h u  m h . d  hl*n h. LGHlP a  h my M n o  
u . o d . * r h a h . ~ ~ a m b p . r n M t p u p r ( w . d h l h h I m n . o O n b . d n M t r D e p l v l . U  
R b m h . m * f a m ~ ~ n ~ a I O n m a m o 4 p u p o * m  
.cr UM h. u u  a armu. d MY pa.c~m b d h  mamee+m met n wnd f e u w  mm a  duo4 lo 
h p u p o u . h l m * . m a d . M l c ( o n d h . h ~ l l o n M u t b h .  

W + l a r h p d u u t d m p l q n s a o h . r - n * m k n u n d r h . ~ d d h . p b n t ~ ~ y u u  
a dhdol. p u r  p m d  h n m  Mmlm h e d w u  M h  h. H W M  r.pd-6mn h m  h n o  Wl MM 
upba*4: 

knrmnbmkauld- 

L.Pd 
mm 

-IS *h h. pl;n m mnd h. Ah. ~o ~npo.. .p+. uncuma. end lo d*rr MY humfd 
m d s  b p u .  

k u M y  of Your P.norul Msallh Infonndlon: 
F ~ n . ~ W a ~ I O m p b n ~ e M 4 . Y d * m ~ L I I d w - c  
p".sodh..lhhfamULn: 

Th. #an s p a m a  Mi h m  h mu .ppophb athMsmln. F~PIuI .nd l.chn*.l u(.puuds b pmmd 
h. mrOdnt*Bly. hmgrlq M .ndvdbkW d pvr mkmmk pmUd h.lh Inbrm*. u 4 u to 
~ ~ . . h m m l y h O I a . u d m a - m o O l r * o M a D m ~ d h e p . n t ~ d n r r l b . d  
. b a h n r - l o u u a P l & n ) ~ - c p n z . d . d  h- W m . D n h * d m u w m h *  
U lPM no-. 

. n h. pbn - dMn" my d ).ov .*monk p m a n d  b.h h k r n r l a  b my d IU .pab a 
n h m n m r t n .  h. pbn s p a  rY he . g a t  or -- lo haw h #ace h. *&vDoIW. 
ut.punmul.aMbyh.UlPM~.pldltlas 

T b p l i n . p o ~ * . n p m b h . s E l B M y w ~ h m n t d m ~ R b . m m r s m r a h d a n ~ m h .  
W P M  mp*DN.  

O u  U n  on# Ciscbsun of Your Panon* H u K h  Iniom.lbn: 
A. bu.kli  d h. SEIB. BCBS h u  an wmmwl *Ih h. SElB 88.1 .lbw BCBS W u n  rar 

~ a b p r ( ~ y h n ~ ~ a p i r r m P . d b y ~ . Y o u h . h r d b . r t . t l p m n t m n * . y . I n ~  
b Bees e m  )w .nd pu m h a  b p u d m b  mm BCBS d t  h adn b mddr4U.1 h a  plin. 

n l P M E - p ( b n : * I a m n . l M . l ~ r u P n P M . N S Y ( ~ d ~ ~ . * L I D U m p l h .  
LGHP (mn cmUn d H l P M  T h  SYY d -a h u  dma4 to uempt h LOUlP horn V* 

H P M  rwd-t 

RnponalbUlty oiMamkra and Pmvldera to Fumlah Informallon 
B y ~ ~ . p y a o l m ( r r 5 0 m p ~ a t d . m ( a ~ ~ ) a u . p n * 0 u l h o r d U m M q s * f a ~ :  . A & ( a ~ b ~ m b . ~ ~ . d b ~ d r o u k . d b y B C B S .  . ~ ~ r . ~ . a o h r p o l l d * h m h a ~ h m h h d a p t a b . d ~ y v n C n a u ~ r b ~ m m b . r  

m u  po*d. h. rids. lnfmulm. nd - BCBS q u u b  h ronrvctbn m - d.kud a 
p.lsfalmtr*aasu$+I. . A m m b r  re-t tnka a upplrr (rr w t M  b m m  m - mu* por(b. h. nmds. 
h(an.0a m d  ~ d n u  BC8S m u n b  

P r d d a n  of Senlcn SubJrst to Conhst Provlrla 
* m ~ L p o W a . a O u p ~ d t r r U l a i 1 q ~ s l a * N c k b n . m n - a p . L d * ~ l b  
r m W d , a o u p h ~ W l u d h . ~ a ~ m L m M b M d b y m b w M s ~ .  

Chargee lor Mon than th. Albrwd AmounU 
Whm bnwll, la p w t  wt rr h s d  a UImmd mount., h. bmn P.lm.nb -0 dab& M 
n u d . 4 B C B S u p m o n W a k a d O * f * c l o n d u ~ ~ h h O r d . r m a M d - h ~ . ~ e  
prr.ldr duFp.1 pu mn A m  h. U M d  -nt pdd by BCBS u b.nUD3. pu ul, I W O I t l l *  (a ht 
d w p u  h e r m t  d h. uand u m u n ~  

Plan Ch.np.r . ~ a d d h . p r o k l m r o l h a L G H W m ~ b . . n a d . d b y h . S ( . I S E m p l q . u ' h u r n a ~ ~ ~ y  
th. b y a  h h n n a  h mE9. . M ~ p ~ n Y k . a n g l q . . d B C B S b a ~ 1 d W 1 1 ) . n d a r q h . I m a M O r d ~ s d h . L W U P ,  
mrk* my a p a m m  a p&.. m t  rpwlCy ront.h.d h h. LOHIP. anam m y  paldm d h. LGWP. 

No &dpnm.nl 
m L r m P m ~ h o m r u ~ t d ~ d h b e n p n . . S a n ~ d h . m n h m B C 8 5 b r . l ~  
d -. a u l  u h W P ,  r w t o  EZIS IO p y  brrRU Qady b h. pa ld lm W h  Mhr r(.h BCBS 
~ y d m U r h * h n l o ~ ) a u a M p a l d r . I p u a h . m M d . r -  h.LGUlP-BCsS~yd*hrr( 

Oa1wg.C)on of Dl*u*llonuy Whorlty to Blw C r o u  
lhs SEl0 h.r d.*plld b B C M  h. dwsUacw r u g l s b H y  M .uhom IO O.(rmk. Mm vndr  h e  
LWP. m mnm*, ktw*, M a- dhu. .nd b dm .*.w ohr en -.rr a  -0ai.u L 
m u m n  dh d*mt a d m h h h  unlw mdu h a  LGMIP. 

. .. . 

mnm BCBS mLn w.b* d.tnnk.lart h.1 .n mtlw ublD.ry w up*bur h h e  .dmr*D*lon 
d ~ m i d h . L G M P . O D u d . ~ ~ W I b . N ~ b l ~ a p u . t ~ q M ~ m p u ~ t d ~  
undrm* LGHIP. 

Rnponalbiilty for AcUona of Provldon of &mi- 
BC8S and h. Smu E m P W e l  kuuaso BoM ISEIBI a nd M mmb* Ianyem a  -. * h h w  
~ w M  mmlbn.L a  **nth. bv MY hlMm. f r P r .  a  bvSWud m*dn h -ha a  not h-0 

lrmpnuntl l lon 
~ y m ~ 1 ~ e m ~ p u k . p P . U a f a ~ b C a ~ * I h ~ . o . ~ r h . m n M * I n u L . ) a u r  
-age hwl u d lour & h a  dam. m d  h h m  cat. BC8S and SElB m be Qlo.W m r a m  .nr 

~ ~ a r . t h r L n o r h p * l M ~ t ~ m r s Y r f . h . M m e l m b h . S U B a n p . p h p h  
m u d ~ . c M w h . l c ~ . . k n d . l h n n t o h e L G H P . M l b d . l r m k . D n b y h . S U B . ( 1 )  
m r ~ p . y . I e W n r . n d o O l u ~ u r . h d ~ L U n t l k r u n . d ~ ~ p . n ~ W m h . h U I I ~ ~ ~  
d I ~ m ~ p U ~ k a a ~ n t ~ n d 1 2 1 b . e I ) * a m ~ u l l k l m k s n r a n p . u n d *  
h e  LGHP. 

WMnino. Uaa. and Robara oflnfonn.tlon 

w u m ~ m  our ~ W U O ~  IO )W h. LGUIP. U p ~ n  pv e ~ m  a hmnp.~~.. a'nnp &i-& 
h . L G H P M Y P ~ w t . L I b , p v ~ a y ~ h . L W l P b * * . n b b * m M p M . T ~ . m .  
mnphms LGMP's #mcMg*llon m pu. 



COORDINATION OF MEDICAL BENEFITS 

k r n a l a  d u ~ d w  ~ o d b  (COB) b pnhLn d u l p d  lo hdp nnw h. d d h u h  on b n o l d h p  
b p l u m n d b r * t b * h a s p . n a b d b y k D o r m m b n . M p l y l r . C O B p o v b b n r d . t r m k e r r N d  
p L m b p l w m d ~ l ~ u e m d a q  

A p m q p m b ~ * h o t ~ b n 8 ~ L I ~ p n o n ' a h ~ ~ ~ q r ~ 1 b . 6 . t n m k . d R l t * h o u l u U l p  
h...unuol yohrwhm-r*Im 

~ n ~ ~ b ~ ~ m u u ~ h m - - m ~ b w ~ d h ~ ~ r ) . p h b ~ ~ ~ b a * t o  
mwb undn ll. pm. 

J a * W e r m l n m d . c k M ~ s . ~ O m Y ~ ~ Y ( I m h ~ l h 8 . n d d h h C O B ~ d a .  

0rd.r of B e n n t  DebnlnaUOn 
W y n b ~ b Q d d . d b y m ~ W N * b . b w h . 1 . ( 4 1 8 1 :  

Noncomplh1n.n: nh.ou*rplnb8mnoapMp.n~h.oh.rpbn.h.Ib.pmuv.ndWpm 
. h . l t . ~ ~ D u C O B t m u d 0 I h ~ p ~ t h e t h l l p n b ~ .  

~ ~ C " , " ~ d " . P M I ~ ~  kT.>Mc2$TeLZ7~Z$2,S EZ Z: 
d q ~ p u p a h . . b . d h . e m ~ . M . d ~ m u o o n d w p * n n W ~ y n g u h u s b m r u h i . ~ d  
- . T h b a n a a r * h m O * p O . n l b c a n d s ~ . n k . s t h o r r . l k d ~ . b . b o m r n d u s  
d.p.ndnt d .n .&* *nqw. nd I. o h  earrrd by 14-, k hb ow, om adr d bmm 
~ ~ * u t . ~ ~ l b * n : ~ h . p m w k p h . p ~ l n l u ~ d . p n d m l : w n d . M . d c y . : n d ~ .  
h e  pm mr- h e  pelm .I en Inh. or nhd wnpb)... 

Depndml WUd - P a n u  Not ¶.p.nled 01 Dknmd: I mh p h ~  (m* h. p.(m ea e d.pMenlcNd d 
p ~ u h ~ r M m d o r ~ D p ~ u ( ~ n d ~ r ~ h m m ~ b . r r ~ l . D u ~ d h .  
~ l ~ . ~ h b . r C h h . p r * Y b . p l n r r l . I I h . p r W b h m h . I m ~ Y . h . ~  
W * * m t l a p r b p m u y .  

Oepenant m u d  - sep.nud m Dhormd r-u: I l*a or m m  pluu rou h e  wUn1 u 8 
mld d m u  w m -. nwmuI. or m Iowa M!m mwmr lm.nL.1 d 

2. 1. can derree IO*. ha18 p.nm b n l p o n r M  (or h d.pndmt dldr h n h u o  ..pmra a 
h u m - t a m g e n d  h.phndn.1prmlkOemulL.la.*dp.dhau~m.h.pndh.can- 
adrdpmtbpku* 

nh.mn-p~lh.smhuhMoa.p.~h.6.pndUd\ld.-*.t.d.trmk.d 
kdN-padm 

a. m s ~ h ~ p m d h . ~ p o ~ . d ~ ~ ~ d * e d p u e n t  
b. ..d. m.pn dh. nan=.mQdrd p e n t  W. 
c. W.h~pMdNqM8dNntmmut4dP.nn I. d ~ O I  .urns h.1 bdh pmb u e  mpmsbb (or me d q W m l  hldr hemwan upanus or 
h . . l h s l n m * * . p . . h . p - d O . p n d ~ C h l d - R n b I O , S p r m d o r D - N D C W y  
n*7.ba.h.ld~-n*drdbamtlb. 

COB T * n e  
u l a o b b  mpn..: Eay( u ul lbth beb* or rh.n 8 a m  m w h  Warn d.nnun. Du Lum 
- a m *  urn..' m ~ .  mv huh- an-. h h h n  o h . u ~ .  mmmmWm. end MY UGlubk 

OloupTp Conw lhe Lum 'wplyp. mmmsw r n w  e a m a  h.1 b nd anbbb b p n d  
put& nd a .nd nuMYld mh boause d mmhnhp m o 8 aa*da *h e WEIIU 
-Wla or -. hung MU mwnp.. Tha rm d o r  M hdn* M kdlldUV u n d m ( b n  nd 
I r u . d g u m m r m n n k p 4 m n u h . p D L I b ~ m w h p . * o l d . d r m n m s p . n * m  
~ ~ m h . h w n d ~ h h . h v l o d * o l l d h m k ~ l o n u h U h o r ~ m w h . ~ ~ o n b . n t k d  
anmud e n p l o w  rn h. emplow. 

H a p l a  hdmvdq Ba.(b: T H  *nn %#d Mmq bsN(a' mar b e  m relm to n p n u  
hrumd. me m 0 . s  mlnst*d. mhhuunmI-wbnQImn I h w 8 n M p n . d  o r .OnkH1.d lopk  
h . h n m d h . ~ ~ . M M ~ ~ O b n . N 8 l h O I ~ d d . h  

Noneompihl H.n: The urn 'mnmmF4m munl  s pm *h COB rum Du m heon- h 
u b M m * h h . d n d b * * n t d ~ ~ d W ~ . ~ d l l ~ n ~ p a n a n h o u  
h.1 .w h . b  t.* .n.UcMf or--p uan*.- 

-- - - - - - - - - , 7 .  

T k  1- 'WC a M hdd. n m g m p  or M-1 h e m  or -1 nmbmmM hNIW mU#. 
r r * u n n p l n ' . l l o d o n n d k a r 6 h a p l Y l m q w r q e o r o h a M k 0 m m m n n p : e ~ b  

zzw---":; u~~d~~~~-narr~~FLI*n-POM".t go% ",".%L? 
umn -1 @cks M W  pdldn. or mnng. ubn ohm I.d.nl -.n(.l pluu. -bas 
-*!- 

rh.* Pun: The urm'pkr). p m ' n m s  e phn M e  bmdPs lor m ~ . M I  Rdnun ccmwe mum b. 
~ ~ ~ u t h s h . o d W u d " . y * r ~ h l o & * . t b h  &$enb.*ui*lt 

1 Fwed.pnmldMcmndvldrmnh~~~Wo( IndHdl * r *hammkpvnodmmM,  
me adr d Wn6b .ha be Eeumha. n . p p w .  uld.rDuWMey NW es I h a  h d M m b  I. 
pu.nbdu,. d M  

o r & n l a h . p m g p m 8 n d ~ 8 ~ c m m p h . ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ n p v r u U d C ~ O B R A a u n d r ~ g h 1 0 1  
r a h ~ ~ d l o l u b o r o h r l . d . r . I h w b h . r m d y ~  

2. I l h . ~ ~ 0 . 1 n a h m h b ~ b . . n d L u ~ m l L h . ~ d o n a ~ m h ~ d  
tawllb. h b  nk b Wd 

3. W n * - m s r r r r m n r a l n h e p u w h - E ~ * p M d n r . ) n r a ~ n ~ a d a ,  
d b8mb. For ump*. I s  (mnr mClqr Is re& COBRA b e n h  vndr hb brmm m w r s  
p n ( h . W B R A p l n 7 d l r ~ ~ 0 * . r ~ u 8 ~ u n b r 8 n ~ ~ O o u v ~ ~ , h e C O B R A  
p O n * l . t . p R n w m d m e a p o u r ' s . d n p h n * . . b * r m n d u y . ~ h * y . u s d ~ ~ r b  
n u k h g  COBRA srrm um M or h*r f-r .PM.~I p e  'tmm pm') nd b e b  (mnd 
u ~ d . p a n d ~ l u n d o 8 n n , a p a u ' ~ ~ , h . t O W p l n * . b ~ p m r ) . y l d h . n n r ~ . C 1 p h  
*(l t. uomduy. 

. T h ~ p l n & h u ~ ~ I d ~ Q ~ N b ~ a W L N b a Q h ~ h ~ 8 ~ ~ h b  
r e W l a :  or. 

s ~ ~ p ~ m e ~ t a w m e ~ n m ~ ~ ~ o m * d t . w n ~ n n ~ n * ~ n g ~ l n d b y m o ~ ~ o n .  
u d M e r h s e  n*sb. p k  b b.& (nL 

a.wn&-y rh: m8 1nn 'ucad .q  pbn 'mn*  8 pln h. la m l a  p m q  prr 

9wd.l R d a  lor CoordtnatlMl wm Y . d c . n  
b c q r * h . r ~ ~ d W k d . n l ~ . h . W d P . Y b . n ( l b r n e ~ ~ ~ U . d u n o r  
-1 pmy m .I (or u l * U s  or me# h.1 M hcMM .Ihh h. s m p .  d -8 w e .  
d . p n d h g W . m a p o h r h h g l . h * r h . d p M p m p . . h . h p u I g r * P b e m m b * d ~ ~ n .  
. r d m ~ ~ d ~ m D p d U ) U ~ p ~ w p . F o r o u m p * . I W p n b ~ w m n , l o ~ ~ n a ~  
f a ~ b w . W ~ ~ l p y m M I I b f o r - o r w r r * l h . 1 9 o h ~ ~ h h . a o p ~ d - %  
c m ~ l l p f a l ~ . Y a h M e d I ~ l . r h n e l g b b .  



4.. FILING A CLAIM, CLAIM DECISIONS, 
. - AND A P P W  OF BENEFIT DENIAL 

Provldor S r I c r s  and Othrr Conmd Expenses 
r o n . ~ f ~ ~ . m t l m d o h r ~ n O ~ M . d W - . p l o n p u I d a ~ t l a r u r d t o  
h . p l r . l d r o f . r r * r B w n t p ) m u b . n ~ ~ n u d . d t ~ b h a p ~ r .  

S n d h . w L D : B L n a o u 8 1 * S N l d d ~ ~ . 4 Y ) M r c N u ~ & I B k n k p h m . A L l b u n .  
J5211). Vw Wid .km m& mp*. fa pur -.I ncadn b.lm Rb& F a  )pn mndmno.. - 

cam F- (mum) u L*JI. wtrl P M ~ W  ~nm hup cam FC- ( a . w ~  r. 
nnW(lrmmyB1*CmuBL*SIWddWun*oMa. 

Rrwlpl and Pmwulng Claims 
~ ~ r . ( a r - h * u n d n h * ~ w u n k ~ a ~ . N * . , p * - a r o n m ~ T h . f ~ l a k ~  
~ h h a s t s S p m u u r ~ O l h r m l l p u d ~ n d M * p u o n . p p u i o ~ u m n p W a ~ . I  
48CBSdachkn. 

- , - - - - - - 
aces nut1 maw pop* mm+M nd U d  dabn rrm pu a ~w p ~ i  I( w3.5 &kmm m w r k i  
h . t ~ ~ q l u P h u . d . m . R * P l n r g p u a p u r p & r d h . . d a a u l h f m . I l m n . . d . d  a m  BCBS 
no)uh.lh~tla.~Mpol.ukrbm*rlaU~d.m 

m . f d L a h p ~ b h . n * . u n d r L G H l P l u ( I n g ~ u * l . p p u ( l ~ h B C W . n d f a ( l h p w * m ~  
.pp& *Qh ma SEIB. @um* m b m  m pa--hm, pre-awmnd a d muh M b .  
wkp h p w  hoqld W*. pRna nvhp. W mUI uWlrpmsdc pcudwh m u  
m n . p m u t ~  ~ p . d . D m h . u a u r a a 4 h M h o P * r o a ~ d ~ ~  

Who R*. Cisbs 
R a * d l l d ~ l M o h . n . 0 ~ r r * n O r l h B C s S 0 . 1 ~ p n p n u l d s ~ d . r m ~ b B C B S .  
c l . m a ( o l m b . s a r r * ~ b p u 4 p l O l l d . R I O I M . ( c m n t . d h B C B S  W b * p , p a d u * l  
u b n U . d b . ) l h n ) p l  ah.&. F u n n i w n p u C k ( l p r m ~ l l m a p m ~ t l a r  -ma 
-8, h. m q a r l l l y  and muvlr br u b m w  nqw n m- p- 

dmd.prtanuldukbr~d.lm(mn(mnTd8C~~Irpd~aap~fa*r*hpuwmbR.n 
d . m ~ u M p * , h n p ( . l . ~ n . a ~ n d B C B S * . u n d p u h . m r t l p d d l l m k m . W n a m  
p u m h h . f a n . r r m p * C I n ~ ~ l l n n ~ ~ n d r n d R b B C B S ~ 4 Y ) R k r d u u P ~ y E ~ ~  
Bm*ngnm. Uhm 35244.2Ed. CAM nu81 b. nbmRmd wd m m h d  Q BCBS r(hk 24 oa(hs h. 
s w . i m t * . ~ p u b b . ~ I u b m . l b .  

~ v p ~ p ~ ~ d . k u F o r u n p * . ( h o l . m D W b d . d M a . M p r a M - ) m u . l b . u ~ m  
BCBS d m  b wlv buahum IM. Ulp.nl prrr*. &a m b. ubnmm at any am. Em- 
d ~ m a h o l p r W m m ( ~ p u t o h * p m b . ~ m . o l a p u p u ~ n a * . b B c B S * m h  
4 M n d ~ . b n ~ u * l B C B S c u O l u N ~ u ~ n u d a * ~ u 1 y n d n ~ n n r r g n c ) l  
~ V w m M ~ ~ m ~ ~ r p . ~ h a p m l a l h h . b n I l p u . n ~ b a c m - m  
U Q u h  R.r*r F'mnrtm ICURPl hOldII bl a - U.dk4 0- IR*) Pbkhnl.  I( wa dam e m  

U p u a b n p t b l * p . - ~ ~ d . h b ~ h l b l D l D w B C B ? i ~ ~ D S . d ~ . l ~ ~ m . B C B S * l ~ p u d  
h. Sum m h  I4 hM (tar w(ol p , ~ a n i u  m) a Ik. day. (ra nmw.nI d.m~L Fic8s'm 
m ~ U m m . ) . b . d , u r k ~ p u & l a R h n l l n p . s C s s ~ ~ h b n M c t t b n m p u ~ I ( l ) p .  
* M p b ~ a P . - d . m ~ ~ n s m d b y a p n a a a g ~ h . I u h d B C B S h . t b w ~ ~  
rupmsbb (a h w  b . d  nu-, MO (I). )ar ndrmubn raYh h. nur* d mmhr. mpodsc 
m a u o a m a a * - . u d .  W L n ~ o n n t u r n r l m f a M * h  *wmvd b blkprwnbd. 



I ~ ~ c h m h u m m B C B S r l ( n & v o u d h . a . d l l m d ~ h 7 2 h o u n .  Imr.Mm.Oabn..dtd. BCBS 

h . ~ p u u ~ ~ b n d n a k d . ~ f d l ~ ~ b . ~ . n d ~ m h . ~ . ~ n d h ~ 4 8 - ~  
~ p u * r r ~ k h m h N n p h ~ a ~ .  

I ( ~ U ~ t R R . d . l l f n  C W  
I p u r W n I I n d u r p . m p v * D R e h . d . Q l a ~ h 1 5 d m . I f m o n M m . U m b ~ . d . B C B S M I a  
p u b  balm me 154.y  podad em-. You *II hmn hm. 00 '1.1. Io pdd. nad.d hfomu6m lo  BCBS. To 
~ - p l d h . l n b r m . d q B C B S m y ~ r I B . c 9 h a n p u p a l d r  H r r m r . j w d r * n u h  
~ - b ( s n ~ h . 1 D r W m . l m b p W a d a ~ . V w r H b . n d l * d d h . L & ~ h 1 5 6 . p  
aIlr B Q l S  r- h. m q u d  M a n a l a .  If h a  r . ~ . r Y d  h k m a b m  I. nd naM, p u r  d.Lm *. be 
an.ld*Ma~rth~a~dthOw.ypulodpuII~Oknkhmbhkph.Momula. 

C e w a y  ? r E t * l m ~ a ~ :  Fa am* BCOS 0 I K a I n ~ l .  M chms nd r.qJn. you Io  
BCBS b.b.  lo^ haw h. d m .  F u  - N w u  u rour~bddm hhb a ~ d u s  MI b. .IcWH 
u umnn*. ku un .* k B S  b d.l.mh. bmf&d *i.k h. p- b  -6c &rwnmk ldk r  
B C B S u * r h b ~ p d n r h r r . - y p ~ e ~ I p u . r k k . m v p . - d . M r m r u l o n  BCBSW 
6 0 L . b a t b p r o v l d ~ ) o u * I D I a m ~ m p a t . . I B C B s a . d d n h . t H ~ ~ ~ t p r O l l d . p u ~ h ~ ~ ~ o -  
doWmk.6m flu w. B U I S  a m 1  gatha UcmaHm I nndl lorn*. m klmn.d dm*). BC8S *(I H 
pu Lna. In a m r  u. w r r y  p.d.trmh.lum am MI p.-la**. d.kl undr h a  ph Whm BCBS 

zas2br--~",~~~Zz%L2, gYwyM'z h=2: 
BCBS - d.pronnr 

Cmcum.ni C a n  h b n n k a t b n a  

hllw.ohrh.nd.omh.l larbyBCE.Sm W w r . Q a p . ~ . ( p n r . d m .  p u h m  0 0 6 . p  
b p * t n p . n . a r m a u r n d a m k . l a b y B C B S * I h h * N h w a ~ l ( . n . p p . I .  

How to &#.I P o d S . ~ k a  Mvmn* EMlM b1.nnlrutlons 
N p u ~ h u : h ~ q p . d d . n ~ ~ d Q n n b l a n L l t l w b ~ p o l l - ~ d . h L B C B S I . Q n m n 4 r  
h ~ t p u u r . f a n h ~ I I h . r d r m D p d b W p u r p o u . T h o f a n ~ h ~ p u p a ( d . B k * C r m ~ ~ h h .  
- m h a t ~ ~ d . t o o o n l l O a y ~ . p p . l .  T o g a O u f a n .  p u a h m l d r r l h o  BCBSCunnur Sar*. 

V w  m y  .bO gJ D th hlmmt nbd. Ol11*1,bcbYI.oOm. 0x4 h-0, pu M Y  U b  B W  ll md 
pu.~dOt.(an.  

r h w $ m g . p u h a d d u l a p u W I o :  . FU h- r*nW a and uhdukna, 
Bhr.CmUmdmuoSh*MdAUmnu 
MnUa Hulhkhnowmml-App.LI 
P.O. EL,# 2sM 
Bbrnh$mm h b m .  3520(.2501 

u 

d *LI mu* m l n h m 6 m  a pu dam *Ilm t h p m - a * .  a m r r v * .  I m m h m a  druluc( W o .  sr 
.-I1Iu. 

V a a R ~ h l  to lnfown.tlon 
V w h n o h . ~ l p M . u p a n q r n ~  m n r * r r r o p * r d . n ) r ~ m b h * B C B S ~ m h r u ~ I ~ d . O l o n  
m d . n y d o r u m n u h a t m n ~ ~ m d a n ~ . u o . n ~ b ~ I n h . ~ d m ~ ~ m ~ .  
V w  .bO h8n h. MI UI muhe +I d any Mnnd &a. p16ka1.  a prdocc41 h.1 BCBS may hm r&d 
u p m h r u ~ t h ~ l m . I h . d e b ~ . x l r ~ m s n * O l u Y h ~ d m W l a ( u l d , . r l M d U  
m u u h l ) . p u m . y . b O r * q u a h . I B C B S p r a ( d . p u * I h o ~ m r * ~ b . W L * . U a d h a o  
m a  n d  I- pk- to pu. I BCBS oDUh.d adrt. Ihm . Nh cv. p d a m k d  (mgdo" d 
* u h r l l r W o n h . t . h * . ) . p u ~ y ~ ~ h . 1 B C B S O k . p u h ~ m d h . t p n m . & ~ a I h . l  
p u ~ f u W m r u l i m ~ ~ p ~ . p h r r ~ ~ d b . h n h p . B C B S * l l l m l ~ ~ g . p u ( o r ~ ~ ~ t h ~ ~  
pu r+.m v r d r  h b  p m n .  

I pu h m  q u n h  .ban pv -a. u .ddltlaul Wanm6m .Do*! how to d h r  pu should 
m e  Beus 0 w S  Q l l ~ ~ ~ S o w c a  Ik.Ud h Bhn-ml b  opm b p h a a  hquHnkm t O O  m. to 6.00 
p r n L W a y h r m p k F r h l q  T k p h a n r m b r h  

0CBS .la h u  a aprt.124 h o u .  day, 7 6.p a w k  N.Lmr W U  nquw ka. 91.d R.pa Rnpaae. 
f u p u b m m * ( u n p u n n d ~ ( a r u d o h r p h W m ~ N I n h n t I o ) . o u - .  

205.988.5401 In Blnnlngham or 1.800.248.5123 toll-free. 

BIu* Cmss BIw ShYd &MJS 

Y o u  wwm .ppd ahwld paldm BCBS *h pr m a ,  mOvt nunba, th rum d h fmay  u po* 
h ~ a . m d I h a d . b u d . m d l a * * . .  

llm. Llmlb f o r C o ~ l d a " t b n  of V w r  Wpm1 
6 ~ a p p U I Y ( t a k O m h . d P L W d s @ ~ ~ d . m . B C B S I Y ~ ~ d L a ~ ~ * I m k P d . p d  
m e B ( . m * N r h p u ~ p r r ~ .  



SEIB APPEALS PROCESS 
, _.I 

Gmnml InbnaUon 
M r n b l n  d h. LGH~P hm a rbhl m quum h a  d.Dh(m d PI* -a' I n w m u  Bead (SEIB). 
H-. .I hwes npvmp bMI QmmbnSm W i d  b dhaud U w q h  h. BtsS wul pmu. 
11- . l g t m y n d  err- m a  b db*ud dhUym h. SEIB. 

B L . C ? O U M B I I ~ J N . ~ ~ ~ A ~ ~ M  
Arcnam. C u r M I  s- IppJI 
PO. EW tmu. ~tmhpkm. AL ~ 2 m a l ~  

Exmdbd Extmnul hvlnrr for Uaml Pm-SeMca CImlms 

Formd Apparl 
n p u d o n c i q m a h . n r p a r  m w ~ ~ m , p u n u y ~ ~ r e q u ~ f ~ . ~ o m r ~ ~ p p . d  
b d m m ~ B ~ M O C . L I D O . R - f a ~ F o n n * L W . * r m ~ l b . ~ h h . S E l B m ~ * H h h ~ Q . B  
bb*hph.daUdUr*dnhbt.tkR.hrd.drbn 

I p u r q u n c o r ~ F m n I I r p p d b p n M . ( l n ~ b . * d . o b l P n d l b . b u d ~ n M y ~ * ) l d . r ~  
h * d n h . n q v u l * F m l * p p n ( r u * p p a d . T h . N n b r M d . ) o w b . . n n d d b y ~ h a O u  
SEIB. Th. d.dslPn by h. Bord b lh. (h.l sup h I* abhb+.th mdhw M d WJULW d~ 
-tk. nm&. 

Ibm* Th.1 WIII Not Bm Revfnrmd Unhr L* Adminhtnlive Revlaw or Formal N p u l  
P m a u :  

DEFINITIONS 



'h-0~ un 
w n . ~ ~ ~ p w ~ ~ w ~ ~ ~ m ~ u m ~ * u m ~ ~  : & u h w m w n H n v o n w u s w u o M  

M l d ~ ~ 4 8 " ( p n ~ ~ ~ ~ A w l l ~ 1 4 ( 0 1 d O d d m ~ u q 1 n ( l - W r U r  : r - w U O ) I  

' h ~ ~ ( l d  SWB W  IOU Il Y l W B  AYV *NY.Yd IUDVdPDI+UOM 

* ~ W W ~ ~ I S U C U U W * ~ ~  f f l r ~ b q ~ W a y r * . * ~ 4 * W Q d 0 d d ~ * 3 W W .  
~ ~ ~ ~ s a ~ q t . p W a ~ n r n m ~ n r 0 0 ~ ~ F n q ~ ~ # ~ ~ ~ . r y w P ~ -  
.P IC mwod v a ~ t u ~ d  WTWRL.~ IM IMDI I IV~  m d l  ~g30a ICJP*( DI-M YIW odd 

.UP=sr.l .*IW P m n  -9 ma- 



M e m d  Cm:  A pspryn * h r 4  wrr Nn Wmnmnh *Ih O h  Crou BW ShUd of Wunl to 
Wsh cmh m d l u l y  mar* uld W P P s  t o m  o p m d  qm fn sdudd8 fa m . 0 1  
md rlr(lpl pcd8h.s. rum - nd *gplu m rn* m hmf&s wdr he Wumd Csm 
poprun. 

SM Empbpu' hau- Bou.: The SUU wncy  rhug.d I*h h. .dnky.Oa ol h. LGHlP Rwnn 
T N r ~ b d t o n ( n M t e u S 0 B .  

5ubndb.r. n* M W d  *hm qplt.llon fa Eanp Is Md. nd o m .  

Local Government Heallh Insurance P m p m  
Bend1 Plan Admlnlslerrd By: 



Local Government 
Dental Benefit 

Plan 

Local Government Plan 
Effective January 1, M I 4  

WmomKmN 
Thh run- d dental knbh is W n a d  b hdn vou u- var 

Local Gommmsnt H u t t h  lnsunna Plan 
DenW Banlib 

Admfnlsbmd By. 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

DL- -.- I 
-LaL -----2 
-*ln~murUmwnameu-mno. 
Nl*.W1..r*h - - - -  2 

-nr- ---...,--_--- 2 
7-d- - 7 2  

OVERVIEW OF THE PLAN 



SUMMARY OF BENEFITS 
mmugh'nagomml dhmnta r*h I n a d  h n t b O  I h n e  den& r. hIbU hu cam *101 
B L * C a u e n d ~ . S h b l d d * M u ( d ~ o r M ~ l l a M * k g d . n U s u r u r l D n U o  
ndumpCrRs(nad~mwn*uwmddambUhmsPbo(~~ N o m r u l D a D l N m n  
(rnnr-) k-nm . ~ ~ s u I M . ~  am*. swo d TO I- b+- dnmu lo, 
~ . L O M P ,  po m **rb&alolm * u u m h @ h .  u n k . s n  ma4you.Y nonr5atY b. 
n s p a s t h  (ol an4.pxbl oao such .I da&mb*s and mhunmrrnn d n g  k n . ( o L  dwfhrr 

Ralatlonshlp k h m n  l u a  Cmss 8ndlor l u a  Shkld mans and (ha Biua C w s  
and Blua Shlald Auocldon 
e h r U o u . n d s * r e s h l e n d ~ b n ~ I I ~ d a o p * . m g ~ n 6 n o U o n ~ f m m m r  
B h l . U o l ) m d & . s h * L J ~ . a n ~ m o I M p o M B L I e C l o u ~ B h l ~ S N * d p . n  
R r B L I . C r o u . n d B h * ~ ~ p r m l D u D m o I k b u ~ s n d B L * S h * L J m  
~ h ~ l ~ ~ d * U b Y H h U o u u l d h ~ d ~ b l o ( ~ n ~ ~ . s n I d h .  
BLI. C- end B u m  S)wld Auod.(bn No r q n u n l . t b n  Is nnda W any cqanlu lan oh- h Bhle 
U m . n d 8 * r s m w ~ l ~ n . u l d r p . M b r r d b . t . l o a b * b r r a m M t M m n b . s r m e  

C I d m  and A p p h  
wk.npunak.urr*.rhmkn~d~m,pu~dan~rrlpn*yIR.~Drpu.h 
~ ~ ~ ~ s . r a r n a b . r a u ~ b m v m ~ e r a n d h . o ~ a ~ * w f a r h b v v m m  

BENEFIT CONDITIONS 

lo p n  bmana, dnw m s  and wpm" mwt mime f a m w :  

BCB9 mut d m .  b.bn. Cdng. a and NW*. M hmhM Gut 6.). M den* 
M a u r y .  

s Sewn and . p ~ t  fm Ik n p r h m m  h YIa pnrbus prrlTqh. yn*u M nOC1*. mrY b. 
h m w  by por(br m*md -or MI) who b mw@ad b Bh* Cmu u n 
~ ~ . l b r o l h . t r p o ( ~ o r r u R * b . h p * r r l l h 6 . W 8 l ~ C I D v h . ~ ~ o n H  
- h . u . m - U m . ~ h . r w - b m W k s l l D C n r r u n w ~ ~ b .  

COST SHARING 

Cdendar Yau  Out-afPoskU Yrrlmum for InlatwoL b n u l  Sawlcas for 
Chlldmn Up to Aga 19 
T H  Ed& y w  M 4 p o c l *  muiMrn fa knh& dam* vnCp fa chldnn up o 4 . 1 9  b 
1Pbnd h La mbb .ban. CDTrahdm .narrm br I M e  m e  hrumd undr Ik hedm .nd 

Cdandar Year Mulmum Banonl. 
C h l g . l . p P l b d ~ m W l n d l ~ L 1 . D m m U Y n n U - W p u o T l a r ~ d * p n h n b . O .  
l O . n d ~ * h l e - u M m M h r B * . D o u b n U m n b u f b a * d ~ y ~ n m e r r p l o y o r  
~ p r l ( b e v i Y d W ~ h . u r u . l e n ~ U C n e ~ s u n d ~ h b -  



DENTAL BENEFITS 

. M ~ M W  d o n w  m y  shrp. p u  lh. a m . n u b . k u n  h. .Il*nblo &mud ama m u  h a  
-. . ~ ~ ~ . t m r t  d.mb~~ m.y WI .t mek IN b plln banmu fm )OU for dduc(was and 
&.urnnu. Thay mum M IU m ~ * x c s p I h  - M n nd P n  b a n e  uch U 

Tmm IMUIU on lm  -m md.R 0.ltl nwnbln 3. 14.19 and 10. InlW m rro 
~ p p H U ~ b n P w p r h l p r b d . ~ . ~ i M d o ~ n u d m m p ~ n l d S ? 0 p  
loom and iimM m &&an u n d r  .no 19. 

- R m p M n d  e a i s h ~  dad.nblm PUd Wwm. n n m .  a c z m s -  we p.)l bm mg.dng 
. n . W p d * M . ( b ; . 6 ~ . r v * r . u m + 1 h . & ~ d h h . d  M a n u n  
b . l u d . * . w l ~ ~ b l l d ~ R I ~ k d u 6 n ~ b ~ . d d o M ~ l  W a k n r b n w  

DENTAL BENEFIT LIMITATIONS 

. a u m a h  and d l q n a *  m mm u a  my u Y n d u  y w .  . ~ u n & X - * . b . p ~ ~ m Y k ~ m m h r - w l * k a a m 1 1 1 1 * h . n M . a m p w  
d n d u  )u. . - d u n k p ~ b . p o v l d d m m h . n k l u d v h p o ~ ~ n 6 . r p m  . - - m r . b . ~ d b m m b m ~ . p . l 4 m m n m ~ ~ 4 u l c q w  
mladY yaw. 



n(un 
www a We mu sap WI .u.a P wau~m *LU w -a~ pr u-I 
*DP~lyrU.eumwmp6&*uvloql~*m*UoolPYqW~u'uqqnRnw 
WW'JI m 'WWm'uopWmh 01 paup VJU um u *.pM runpood YrnS uq.npao 
na Oqaw ID msr rsrul q tuq suopwlp mu 4 ol sqww m nawdb* 

w 



1 h . m  BCBS lud. u, mate en l h d  decabn). BCBS *.*I ycu LIM In wnn raw, orrUnl 
pe-ommmm .n M( h undr me LGHlP W n  BCBS -: ngram (s cnrrm prr 
dur*.ms. s c ~ s  a mt D~.M 4 D* urn, m n r s  yld sundvdr ma ape* m dwm,. 

Ills Impmm lor )a, m -br M *hn BCBS mun bmmnShm .0* h a  h m U 0 n . l  
d a ~ u w p ~ B t a S b m k q m m d 3 b m ~ - ~ d d . 0 m l ~ . h * h . I I o w ( a h .  
. m * . o u v p c v . u a a h s m ~ p l ~ m m t m u l r b . m l d . ~ q p w * t W ~ p h * ~  

Sub.cr(b.c Th .  WMul *hou lp@C.Ibn Lr -g. b nude and .ccgd. 

W..UZOUC B~~S.D .LOHLP~~S~B. . .M~  b y v u c u w ~ b  

YO". YO",! TI" am- we7 a -I YDln by m* -. 

DEFINITIONS 

uaeb* mount: me umum of a nntldt snrp. mst ~ ) r a  CUN wm u unwed 
Iu -mIy n- u m b s  Wed 4 me LOIIP. T N .  mwr* b -r# I- m me 
*urd*.arahcnrp.b-orh.heclr .~un h ~ l n . " * * l r t ~ h e . c h , d . . l n -  

CUN MmWttnbr: TI" bmmy ckovn 4 h. SOB. L b u d ~  mi& tJd. m pmu brwm 
aims Med Q mmn The U.tnr M m d m D r  b BCBS. 

rmry connp.: Ca.r.p. h w * m B m  and -or rn -ma. 

Local Government Denlal Benefll Plan 
Admlnlslaed By: 

slete *lo,m'lnuMaB.erd 
PD~I om- BOX st- 

alemIprnm. Ahbua* YtSM#W 



EXHIBIT B 

Description of any State Law, Investment Policy 
or other Guidelines or Limitations Relating to Investments 

(attached) 



RESOLUTION NO. 09-053 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook,   la bar& that the 
City's investment policy (as previously adopted by Resolution No. 01-354 dated October 22,2001) is 
hereby amended as follows: 

"CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA 
INVESTMENT POLICY STATEMENT 

I. Policy 

It is the policy of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama ("City") to invest public funds in a 
manner which maximizes return and provides maximum security in preserving and protecting finds 
while meeting the daily cash flow demands on the Treasury and conforming to all applicable federal, 
state andlor local statutes governing the investment of public funds. 

2. Scope 

This investment policy applies to all financial assets of the City except those (if any) which are 
governed in another manner by specific reference in federal, state and/or local statutes. All assets to 
which this policy applies are accounted for in the City's books and accounting records and include: 

A. General Fund 
B. SpeciaI Revenue Funds 
C. Debt Service Funds 
D. Capital Project Funds 
E. Any other existing or newly created fund, unless specifically exempted. 
F. Any Sec. 11 5 trust established for retiree welfare benefits pursuant to GASB 45 

3. Maturities 

All investments of current operating funds shall have a maturity of not greater than two yews, All 
investments of capital projects, reserve, trust and agency, and debt service finds shall have a maturity of 
not greater than five years provided that the maturity of such funds is made to coincide as nearly as 
practicable with the expected use of the funds. Lesser, more restrictive, maturities may apply as 
specifically stated elsewhere in this policy. 

4. Prudence 

The standard of prudence to be used by investment staff sliall be tlle "prudent person rule," which 
obligates a fiduciary to ensure tliat: 

. . . Investments sliall be made wit11 tlie exercise to that degree of 
judgement and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which persons 
of prudence, discretion, and intelligence exercise in the management of 
their own affairs, not for speculation but for investment, considering the 
probable safety of their capital as well as the probable income to be 
derived. 



5. Delegation of Authority 

Unless investments are held in trust or otherwise managed by an investment manager under 
contract with the City, the responsibility for the City's investment program is held by the Finance 
Director who shall establish, monitor, evaluate, and devise pracedures for the operation of die investment 
program consistent with this investment policy. The trustee or investment manager under contract wit11 
the City sllall be responsible for managing the trust investments in accordance with a trust and/or 
investment management agreement. Tlie Finance Director sball be responsible for all transactions 
undertaken and shall establisll a system of controls to regulate the investment activities of all authorized 
officials including subordinate delegates. 

6. Objectives 

The primary objectives (in priority order) of the City's investment activities shall be: 

A. Safety. Safety of principal is the foremost objective of the City. Investments of the City 
shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the preservation and protection of capital in 
the overall portfolio. To attain this objective, diversification shall be utilized to hedge against 
potential losses to & the portfolio. 

B. Liquidity. The City's investment portfolio will remain sufficiently liquid to enable the 
City to meet all operating requirements which might be reasonably anticipated. This policy 
mandates that appropriate forecasting of receipts and disbursements be developed andlor 
maintained to facilitate the knowledge of liquidity needs. 

C. Return on Investments. The City's investment portfolio shall be designed with the 
objective of attaining at least a market rate of return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, 
taking into account the City's investment risk constraints and the cash flow cl~aracteristics of the 
portfolio. The Finance Committee, fiom time to time, may adopt benchmarks for use in making 
performance comparisons. The benchmark rate (or rates) should be a widely accepted, published 
rate (or rates) for a portfolio (or multiple portfolios) whose investments and/or investment 
structure (or structures) is reasonably similar to that ofthe City's portfolio taking into account the 
levels of investment. 

7. Reporting 

The Finance Director is charged with the responsibility of preparing a quarterly investment 
report within forty (40) days of each quarter end for presentation to the Mayor, City Council, and 
Finance Committee. Within forty (40) days after the end of the fiscal year, the Finence Director is 
be required to present a comprehensive annual report on the investment program for insertion into the - 
Comprehensive'Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the City. The annual investment program report 
may include suggested policies andfor recommendations for improving procedures, operations and 
controls to assure the continuation of a prudenf productive investment program for public finds 
managed by and for the Treasury of the City. 



8. Qualifications of brokers, investment companies, and depositories 

Municipal finds may only be invested with companies registered under the Invesbnent Company 
Act of 1940, FDIC (or similar federal insuring agency) member financial institutions, or registered 
broker/dealers. 

9. Investment instruments, terms and conditions, authorized and permitted by this policy are 
as foIlo\vs: 

A. As provided in Q 1 1-8 1-19 and # 11-81-2 1 of the Code of Alabama, the City may invest in 
direct obligations of the Department of Treasury af the United States of America andlor 
obligations of certain federal agencies which represent the full faith and credit of the United 
States (including obligations issued or held in book entry form): 

1. The maximum time period from date of acquisition to maturity of 
securities may not exceed five (5) years. 

2. Up to one hundred percent (100%) ofthe portfolio may be invested in direct 
obligations of the U.S. Government or federal agencies thereof in accordance with 
51 1-81-19 and $1 1-81-21 of the Code of Alabama 

B. Certificates of Deposit and other evidences of deposit at state and federally chartered and 
insured banks and savings and loan associations up to amounts whicli are fully insured to the 
holder by the FDIC or similar federal insuring agency or which are fully collateralized in 
accordance with standards applicable to secured deposits of the State of Alabama. 

10. Safekeeping nnd Custody 

Securities are to be delivered to and held in an account entitled City of Mountain Brook or in the 
legal name of tlie City's trust, if applicable. Securities may be held in book entry form by the City's 
custodian agent. The custodian agent is to be selected and designated by the Finance Director andlor 
Treasurer. Release of die securities by the custodian agent may be accomplished only by appropriate 
release executed by the Finance Director or Treasurer. 

11. Internai Controls 

The City Manager sl~all be responsible for establishing a process of independent review ofthe 
investment program by an external auditor. This review should include the internal control(s) and an 
assessment of whether the appropriate policies and procedures are being established and complied with. 
Such review may specifically result in recommendations to change operating procedures to improve 
internal control(s). 

12. Performance Standards 

Tlie City of Mountain Brook investment program will be designed to obtain a market average 
rate of return during budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account the City's investment risk 
constraints and cash flow needs. The basis used by the Finance Director and Treasurer to determine 
whether market yields are being achieved in the portfolio shall be the average of the three-month United 
States Treasury biIl rates for the equivalent comparison andlor reporting period@). This calculated 



benchmark rate is intended to comprise a minimum standard with actual performance typically exceeding 
this tlueshold. 

13. Periodic Review 

This investment policy may be reviewed periodically in its entirety by the Finance Committee. 
The review process shall not inhibit desirable modifications to the policy at other times during the year. 
Any modifications of& the policy shall be submitted to the City Council for appmval. 

14. The following policy will apply to acquisitions of any of tlie above authorized securities: 

A. Securities shall be purchased tluough authorized brokeddealers for tlie security to be 
ncquired. 

8. All transactions will be executed on a delivery versus payment basis. Due bills or notes 
are not acceptable as collateral in lieu of the purchased security. 

C. All transactions will be traded in U.S. dollars. 

D. Reverse repurchase agreements are prohibited. 

E. No securities will be purchased on margin and no short sales of securities will be made." 

ADOPTED: This 27th day of April, 2009. 

v i rginid .  Smith, Council President 

APPROVED: This 27th day of April, 2009. 

Lawrence T. Oden, Mayor 
- 

CERTIFICATION 

I ,  Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama hereby certify tlre above to 
be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council ofthe City of Mountain Bmok at 
its meeting held on April 27,2009, as same appears in the minutes or record of said meeting. 

Steven Boone, city Clerk 



section 11-81-19 Page 1 of 1 

Investment ofsInldng b d s  generally; reporb as to investment or deposit of sinking hnds; contrncts for 
purchnse of savings certificates. 

All sinking funds provided for the retirement of bonds dull be invested in bonds of such subdivision or in 
bonds of the United States or in bonds of .the State of Alabama or in bonds of any county in the State of 
Alabama or any municipal tmporation of the State of Alabama, or deposited in a bank on ink- provided, 
however, that the proceedings ~uthorbhg any fuadhg or refunding bonds may prohibit the investment of the 
sinking fund for such bonds and require that such sinking fimd shall be used exclusEvely in the purchase for 
retirement or in the redemption of such b d h g  or refunding bonds. 

AU sinking funds created by resolutions or o r b c e  h d m  adopted must be properly set aside each year in 
accordance with the resolution or ordinance providing for the same and a report made thercof and filed with the 
clerk of the municipality or with the probate judge of the county, as the case may be, ahawing in detail how said 
sinking fud is invested or deposited. 

AII contracts now in effect for purchasing savings certificates under the law as it heretofore existed shall 
continue as legal investments. 

(Ads 1927, No. 478, p. 534; Acts 1935, No. 195, p. 575; Code 1940, T. 37, p6SJ I 



Page 1 of 2 

Section 11-81-21 

Investment of funds obligation in whicb siniring fnnds may be invested. 

h y  municipal fnnda or county funds not presently needed for other purposes may be invested in any 
obligations in which sinldng fnnds are now authorized to be invested, pursuant to Section 11-8 1-19, and in 
addition in any of the foJlowing: 

(1) Direct obIigatiom of (including obligations issued or heId in book entry form on the books of) the 
Departmant of the Trcafllry of the United States of Anmica; 

(2) Obligations of any of the following federal agencies, which obligations represent the full faith and credit of 
the United States of Amerioa: 

a Fatmers Home AdmhMration 

. . .  
b. General Senriceti Ad tion. 

c. U. 8. Minitbe Administration. 

d Small Business AcIxnMhtion. 

e. Government National Mortgage Association (ONMA). 

f. U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HIID). 

g. Federal Housing Admhintr~tion (FEW). 

(3) U. S. dollar denominated deposit accomts and certificates of deposit with banks or savings associati~~l~ 
which art qualified public depositories under Chapter l4A of ~ i t l e  42. 

(4) Pre-miimded public obligations, defined as follows: 
. .. . 

Any bonds or other obligations of any state ofthe United States of America or of my agency, i n s t r u m e d ~  or 
local governmental unit of any sndh state (3 which are not callable at the option of the obligor prior to ma* 
or es to which inevocable notice has been given by the obligor to call on the date specified in the notict, and (ii) 
which are Illy secured as ta principal and interest and redemption premium, if any, by a fund CO-g only 
of cash or obligdions described in subdivision (1) above, which h d  may be applied only to the payment of 
such principal of and interest and redemption premium, if any, on such bonds or other obligations on the 
maturity date or dates thereof or the specified redamption date or dates pursuant to such inevocable 
jnstn~ctions, as appropriate, and (iii) which fund is sufficient, as v d e d  by an independent c e e e d  public 
accountaut, to pay principal of end interest and redemption, if any, on the bands or other obligations described 
in t .  paragraph on the maturity date or dates thereof or an the redemption date or dates specified in the 
irrevocable ~ c t i o n s  referred to In subclause (i) of this paragraph, as appropriate, and (iv) which ate r h d ,  
based on the escrow, in the highest rafing category of Standard & Pods Corporation and Moodfs Investots 
Service, Inc., or any successors thereto. 

(5) Interests, however evidenced, in any common trust fund or other couetive investrncnt k d  maintained by 
any national or state chartered bank trust company or swings association having trust powers, or securities of 
or other interests in my open-end or closed-end management type iuvestment company or investment trust 
registereduuder the Investment Company Act of 1940, as fiom time to h e  amended, so long as all of the 
foUowing r e q h e n t s  are met at the time of purchase and during the term of investment: (i) At least 65% of 
the portfolio of such cmmon trust k i d ,  collective investment fund or investment company or investment trust 



-. Section 11-81-22 Page 2 of 2 

must consist of invmtnts authorized in subdivisions (I), (2), (3), or (4) above, md (ii) the remainder of the 
portfolio (if any, but not more than 35%) may consist ody of the ibUowing investments: (x) obligations issued 
or guaranteed by thc following agencies: Federal NationaI Mortgage Association (FNMA), Federal Home Loan 
Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC), including FNMA, and FHLMC participation cartXcates, Federal Land 
Banks, Central Bank for Cooperatives, Pederd Intannediate Credit Banks, Student Loan Marketing 
Association, and Federal Home Loan Banks, [y) mortgage related s e c ~ c s  (as that term is defined m Section 3 
(a) (41) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78c(a) (41)), or (2) repurchase agreements fully 
coWraIized by obligations, securities or investments othemke authorized under subdivisions 5(i)-(ii), so long 
as the cammon trust fund, collectivt investment fund, investment company or investment trust possession 
and delivery oftbc collateral for any repurchase agreement either directly ar through an authorized custodian. 
The fact that any financial institution making such investment on behalf of the municipality or county, or any 
dWiate of such financial institution, is providing services to the investment campany or investmcmt trust as an 
investment advisor, sponsor, distributor, custodian, tramfir agenf registrar, or athenvise, and is receiving 
reesonable remuneration for such services, shall not preclude such institution from maldng the investment in the 
securiiiei of m h  investment company or investment trust; provided, however, that with respect to any account 
for mmioipal funds or oouniy fimds to which fees arc charged for such services, the said b c i d  institution 
shall disclose (by prospectus, account statement or otherwise) to the beneficiary of such account or to any tbird 
party directing investments the basis (expressed as a percentage of asset value or otherwise) upon which the f k q  
is calculated. 

The terms 'tmunioipd funds" and ''cormty funds" as used in this section shall include all general, special, 
permanent, trust and other funds, regardless of sonroe or purpose, held or administered by any coudy, city or 
town, or by any officer or agency thereof, in the State of Alabama. 

I 
Investments of municipal fuads or c o w  funds shall be made by the officer or a p x y  controlling their 
disposition. Such county, city or town, or oflFiGia1 or agency thereof, may at any h e  sell such obligations 
purchased pursuant to this section, end the money received h m  sach sale and the interest and profits on such 
investment shall be credited to the fund h r n  which the investment was made. Any such obligrrtionmay be 
deposited for safklceeping with any bank, trust company or savings association organized either under the laws 
of the State of Alabama ar of the United States. 

1943, No. 246,p. 203;Acis 1975, No. IDO, a; Actif 1989, NO. 89-655,~. 1298, #I: Actr 1990, No. 9P481,p. 708; Acls 1991, 
No. 91.482, p. 872, #I; Act3 1993, NO. 93-340,~. 523, #I;Acr 3000-7d8,p 1669, B). 



City of Mountain Brook Mail - RE: So Light- City of Mountain Brook Franchise Agmt 

a15= ozf 
Steve Boone <boones@mtnbrook.org> 

RE: So Light - City of Mountain Brook Franchise Agmt 
1 message 
- 

Steve Stine <sstine@bis hopcolvin.com> Wed, Jan 28, 2015 at 10:05 AM 
Reply-To: sstine@bishopcolvin.com 
To: Steve Boone < boones@mtnbrook.org~, Sam Gaston <gastons@mtnbrook.org> 
Cc: "Glenos, Chris" <cglenos@babc.com>, Whit Colvin ~wcolvin@bishopcolvin.com~ 

Gentlemen, I understand that further consideration of the Southern Light Franchise matter will occur at the next 
Council meeting on Feb 9. 

If the Council approves So. Light's request, attached is what should be the Final January 28 version of the 
Franchise Agreement. There are just a few changes between this Jan 28 version and the version last shown to 
the Councilors. You will recall that, at the last Council meeting, Councilor Carl had some suggested changes in 
Section 9. This Jan 28 version reflects his recommendations, and he has reviewed and accepted the form of 
this January 28 version if the Council grants So. Light's request. 

I also have attached a redlined version that shows the few changes between the Final and last version shown to 
the City Councilors. 

P.S. to Chris G- The Final version reflects the address and other changes we have discussed. 

Steve Stine 

1910 First Avenue North 

Birmingham, Alabama 35203 

Phone : (205) 251 -2881 

Fax : (205) 254-3987 

From: Glenos, Chris [mailb:cglenos@babc.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, January 28,2015 9: 16 AM 
To: 'sstinea bishopcolvin.com' 
Subject: RE: So Light 



FRANCHISE AGREEMENT P 

THIS FRANCHISE AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is made by and between 
SOUTHERN LIGHT, LLC, a limited liability company (hereinafter referred to as the 
"Company"), and the CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA, a municipal corporation 
(the "City") as of the Effective Date (as defined below). The Company and the City separately 
may be referenced herein as a "Party," and collectively as "Parties." 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, in September 2001 the Alabama Public Service Commission awarded the 
Company a certificate to provide competitive local exchange telecornrnunications services in this 
State; 

WHEREAS, the Company is a privately-owned f m  that intends to provide various high 
bandwidth services utilizing a fiber optic line transmission system that the Company will 
construct, maintain and operate on public rights of way within the City (the "Fiber Optic 
System" or "System"); 

WHEREAS, the areas in the City at which the Company initially intends to construct its 
Fiber Optic System are shown on the map that is attached as Exhibit A; 

WHEREAS, the Company's selection of locations for its Fiber Optic System, and its 
construction and operation of that System along the public rights of way are subject to the 
advance approval of the City and the exercise of its police powers, and the Company must 
comply with all laws, codes and regulations that apply to those operations; 

WHEREAS, the services to be provided by the Company over its System concern the 
transport of data, voice or video communications between locations in the City in which such 
communications may both originate and terminate in the City, or may only originate or terminate 
in it; 

WHEREAS, the Company will not use the System to provide cable television services, 
channels, or programming to end users in the City; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the terms and conditions herein, the City grants the 
Company a non-exclusive franchise for it to construct, maintain and operate its Fiber Optic 
System in the City at the locations and in the manner approved in advance by the City. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Recitals above, the respective 
representations, promises, concessions, terms and conditions contained herein, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows. 

1. Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms, words and phrases 
shall have the meanings set forth below. When not inconsistent with the context, words used in 



the singular number shall include the plural number, and words in the plural number shall 
include the singular. 

a. "City" means the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama. 

b. "Company" means Southern Light, LLC, or any entity that succeeds Southern 
Light, LLC in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

c. "Customer" means any person to whom the Company provides any 
Telecommunication services to or fiom, or between locations in the City. 

d. "Effective Date" shall mean the first day of the month after the date last executed 
by a Party below on the Signature Page. 

e. "Franchise" means the authorization granted hereunder of a franchise, privilege, 
permit, license or other right to construct, operate and maintain the Fiber Optic System in and 
along the ROW at locations requested by the Company in which its intended operations are 
approved in advance by the City and performed in compliance with applicable laws, codes or 
regulations, including but not limited to, land use and zoning regulations. 

f. "Franchise Fee" means the fee paid by the Company to the City for the privilege 
of locating, maintaining and operating its Fiber Optic System as various locations in the ROW. 

g. "Gross Revenues" shall mean all revenues, in whatever form, that are received or 
accrued by the Company from any persons, carriers or entities that are not affiliated with it with 
respect to the receipt, transmission, or distribution of any data, voice, video or other electronic 
messages in whatever form to or fiom locations in the City, or between locations in it. This term 
shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

1. All recurring or non-recurring revenues received with 
respect to the provision of any Telecommunication or other 
service that utilizes the System; 

. . 
11. All recurring or non-recurring contract fees, usage based 

fees, charges, or consideration of any kind or nature 
(including without limitation, cash, credits, property, and 
in-kind contributions) received by the Company in 
connection with its utilization of the System; 

iii. All revenue arising fiom or attributable to the provision of 
any equipment that is leased or sold by the Company to its 
customers in connection with the provision of services. 

Gross Revenues do include the following: 



i. uncollectible fees; provided that all or part of uncollectible 
fees that are written off as bad debt but subsequently 
collected, less expenses of collection, shall be included in 
Gross Revenues in the period collected; 

ii. insufficient funds (returned checks); 

... 
111. late payment fees; 

iv. discounts, refunds, and other price adjustments that reduce 
the amount of compensation received by Company fiom its 
customers; or 

v. the amounts billed by the Company to its Customers to 
recover taxes, fees, or surcharges imposed on them in 
connection with the provision of services, including the 
Franchise Fee and any other tax, fee or charge of general 
applicability collected by Company from its customers for 
pass through to the City or any other governmental entity or 
agency. 

g. "Person" means any natural or corporate person, business association or other 
business entity including, but not limited to, a partnership, sole proprietorship, political 
subdivision, public or private agency of any kind, utility, successor or assign of any of the 
foregoing, or any other legal entity. 

h. "ROW'or "Rights-of-way" means the surface and space above and below any 
the public rights of way, streets, avenues, highways, roads and dedicated municipal easements 
within the City's corporate boundaries. 

i. "Services" shall mean all services provided by the Company for which it receives 
compensation fiom its customers. 

j. "System" or "Fiber Optic System" means the system of pipes, transmission lines, 
meters, equipment and other facilities associated with the construction, maintenance and 
operation of a fiber-optic transmission line by the Company in the City in accordance with the 
terms and conditions in this Agreement, which system will be utilized for the purpose of 
receiving, transmitting or distributing Telecommunications or other electronic messages in 
whatever form to or fiom, or between locations in the City. 

k. "Telecommunications" means the transmission, between or among points 
specified by the user, of information of the user's choosing (e.g., data, video or voice), without 
change in the form or content of the information as sent and received. 



2. Grant of Authority. Pursuant to the terms, conditions and understandings 
herein, the City hereby grants to the Company a non-exclusive Franchise to construct, maintain 
and operate its Fiber Option System on and along the ROW in the City. 

The Company agrees and acknowledges the following limitations, conditions and 
understandings apply with respect to this grant: 

(a) The request of the Company to utilize particular locations along the ROW 
in the City must be approved in advance by the City; 

(b) The nature, manner and mode of installing or maintaining any line, cable, 
equipment or apparatus comprising the System must be approved in 
advance by the City; 

(c) The nature and type of the Company's intended operations along the ROW 
must comply with applicable laws, codes or regulations. 

(d) The Company shall not install, expand or extend the System without first 
obtaining appropriate permits fiom the City, and complying with any 
conditions related to the use of such permits, including burying any 
underground facilities at depths below the grades of any streets as may be 
required by the City; 

(e) The grant is not exclusive. The City reserves the right to grant the use of 
the ROW to any other person at any time and for any lawful purpose; 

(f) This Agreement shall not be construed to create any rights beyond its 
express terms, conditions and periods; 

(g) In approving any intended Company operations along particular points of 
the ROW, the City does not represent or warrant to the Company that the 
City holds title, right or interest in or to the ROW at those points, or that it 
has the right or authority to grant the Company the right to conduct its 
intended operations thereon. The Company acknowledges and agrees that it 
has the burden and responsibility to assess and determine its right to operate 
in the requested locations in advance of the installation of its System. 
Further, the City does not make any warranty (express or implied) to the 
Company concerning the sufficiency, condition or appropriateness of the 
ROW for the uses intended by the Company; 

(h) The Company acknowledges that utilities or other persons or entities may 
hold or claim rights to utilize the same sections of the ROW in which the 
Company intends to operate, and that the Company exclusively is 
responsible for designing, planning, coordinating, installing its System and 



conducting its operations in a manner that does not unduly interfere with the 
operations of those other entities; 

(i) This Agreement shall not be construed to deprive the City of any rights, 
regulatory or police powers or other privileges under State law which it now 
has, or may hereafter have, to regulate the use and control of its ROW or 
provide for the safety and welfare of the public. By granting this Franchise 
and approving this Agreement, the City does not surrender or to any extent 
waive, impair or relinquish any of those regulatory powers and rights, or to 
charge reasonable compensation for such use. By entering this Agreement, 
the Company agrees and acknowledges that all such rights, police or other 
regulatory powers shall be in full force and effect during its term, that the 
Franchise granted it hereunder is subject to the exercise by the City of those 
police powers, and that it will comply with all such existing, applicable laws 
and ordinances that exist today or hereinafter may be enacted. In the event 
of any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and any present or 
future laws, regulations or ordinances by which the City exercises its police 
powers, the provisions of those laws, regulations and ordinances shall 
control and take precedence in resolving the conflict; 

(j) The grant of the Franchise herein shall not be construed to convey, bestow, 
or transfer to Company any title, easement or other permanent property 
interest in the ROW or other public property in or on which it conducts 
operations; 

&) This Agreement does not establish any priority for the use of the ROW by 
the Company, or any present or future franchisees, permit holders or other 
users of the ROW. In the event of any dispute as to the priority of use of 
the ROW, the first priority shall be to the public generally, the second 
priority shall lie with the City, the third priority with the State of Alabama 
and its political subdivisions in the performance of their various functions, 
and thereafter, as between franchisees and other permit holders, as 
determined by the City in the exercise of its police and other powers 
conferred on it by the State of Alabama; 

Nothing in this Section or elsewhere in the Agreement shall be construed to 
limit the Company's rights to access and use its own or general utility 
easements in accordance with the terms of such easements so long as such 
use is consistent with applicable law. 

WThis  Agreement does not confer upon the Company any right to use conduit 
that is now owned by the City or may hereafter be acquired. 

3. Operating Requirements and Standards. 



The following understandings apply with respect to the Company's use of the Franchise 
and its operations within the City: 

At all times the Company shall keep and maintain the System in a safe, suitable, 
and substantial condition, and in good order and repair. 

The Company shall provide safe passageway for vehicles and pedestrians 
through, in and around its work sites. It further shall comply with all rules of the 
road or other laws related to operation of vehicles along the ROW. Except in the 
case of an emergency or with the approval of the City Engineer (or other 
designated City official), the Company agrees not to conduct its operations in a 
manner that interferes with usual vehicular or pedestrian travel on or the 
maintenance of the ROW, nor shall the placement of its facilities or its operations 
unreasonably limit the visibility of vehicular andlor pedestrian traffic on or along 
them. 

c. The Company shall conduct its operations in a manner that does not unreasonably 
interfere with the rights and reasonable convenience of persons who own property 
adjoining the ROW. The Company acknowledges that it may enter private 
property only as permitted by applicable law, or as allowed by the owner of such 
private property, for the purpose of performing its operations thereon. 

d. The Company shall construct the System and perform its operations in accordance 
with all applicable federal, state and local laws, ordinances, codes, and regulations 
pertaining thereto, including, but not limited to, the following: any building code, 
electric code or ordinances that are now in effect or may hereafter be adopted by 
the City; laws and regulations that protect workers and are intended to promote 
safety in the workplace; laws and regulations and that protect the environment, air 
or water quality or the public health, safety and welfare (including, without 
limitation, those issued by the Alabama Department of Environmental 
Management and Environmental Protection Agency); and regulations of the 
Federal Communications Commission. 

Prior to installing, expanding or constructing its System or conducting other 
operations on the ROW, the Company shall obtain a permit(s) fiom the City 
pertinent to that work. The Company shall submit maps or plats showing the 
locations and types of equipment intended to be installed at all locations. The 
City agrees to consider any requests for permits and process them in a timely 
manner consistent with reasonable municipal practices. The work to be done 
under this Agreement, and the restoration of the ROW as required herein, must be 
completed within the dates specified in any permits authorizing the work. The 
Company shall perform the work according to the standards and with the 
materials specified or approved by the City Engineer, or other City official. 



e. The Company shall repair and replace sections of the ROW that are disturbed due 
to the installation, removal, relocation, maintenance and repair of its System, and 
restore those sections to a condition comparable to the condition existing 
immediately prior to such disturbance to the satisfaction of the City. 

f. Whenever reasonably practical, the Company agrees to place its facilities on, 
within or adjacent to the facilities and easements of utilities and other franchisees 
or other areas used by them. 

h. When the Company constructs or configures its System, it agrees to install its 
facilities underground in those parts of the City where existing telephone and 
electric services are both underground. In areas where either telephone or electric 
utility facilities are installed aerially at the time of construction of the System, the 
Company may install its facilities aerially with the understanding that, at such 
time as the existing aerial facilities are required to be placed underground by the 
City, the Company shall likewise place its facilities underground. If a site 
requested by the Company for the location of facilities or equipment raises 
concerns about public health, safety, and welfare, the City and Company agree to 
work together to identify- alternative locations, if available, that satisfy any 
technical specifications or limitations of those facilities or equipment and those 
concerns. 

i. Least Disruptive Technology. The Company agrees to construct and maintain its 
System in a manner resulting in the least amount of damage and disruption to the 
ROW. To that end, the Company will use directional boring in all areas where no 
conduit exists. Further, the Company will be required to use trenchless 
technology for any portion of construction or maintenance projects which lie 
beneath the paved or improved portion of any roadway to which this Agreement 
applies, unless otherwise approved by the City. The City Engineer (or other 
appropriate official) may require trenchless technology in other locations where 
circumstances prevent or make open-cut methods impractical. Any requests by 
the Company to utilize the open-cut or trench method for construction or 
maintenance must be approved by the City Engineer (or other City official). 

The Company shall have the right to remove, trim, cut and keep trees and 
shrubbery clear of the System at points in and along the public ways; provided 
that Company shall perform those operations only having first consulting with the 
City's arborist (or other official who is designated to act in that capacity), and 
shall comply with any local rules, codes and regulations that pertain to that work. 
The Company shall reasonably compensate the City for any damages, in such 
amounts as determined by the City, caused by trimming, cutting or removing trees 
or shrubbery, or shall, at its own expense, replace all trees or shrubs damaged as a 
result of any construction, installation, repair or maintenance of the System 
undertaken by the Company to the satisfaction of the City. 



k. The Company shall &bear all costs associated with the installation, repair and 
maintenance of its System and its equipment including, but not limited to (1) all 
expense to repair and restore the ROW that is disturbed due to those operations, 
and (2) all expense incurred in removing or relocating any portion of the System 
or facilities constructed when required by this Agreement. 

1. The Company, at its expense, agrees to promptly repair or replace any facility, 
equipment or public improvement that Company damages or disturbs in the 
course of exercising its rights hereunder, including but not limited to, any road, 
street or other section of the ROW, and any electric facility, sewer, water main, 
fire alarm, police communication or traffic control facility. 

m. In conducting its operations, the Company further agrees to: 

(1) comply with all applicable sections of the National Electric 
Safety Code; 

(2) utilize reasonable, commonly accepted methods and devices for 
preventing failures and accidents which are likely to cause damage, 
injuries or nuisances to the public or damages to property owned by 
third persons; 

(3) install and maintain the System in such manner that its 
operations will not interfere with any improvements of the City or of 
a public utility serving the City. 

(4) perform its operations in accordance with good engineering 
practices and standards for f m s  providing like operations in the 
Company's industry, and in an orderly and workmanlike manner; 

(5) perform all its operations through qualified maintenance and 
construction personnel. Further, the Company shall maintain a force 
of employees at all times sufficient to provide safe, adequate and 
prompt service and maintenance of the System; and 

(6)  not perform its operations in a manner that obstructs the 
rights-of-way so as to interfere with the natural, free and clear 
passage of water through the gutters, drains, ditches or other 
waterways. 

n. Relocation or Removal of System at Request of the City. The City reserves the 
right to determine that, in the exercise of its sole discretion, it is in the public 



interest to improve or modify its ROW in a manner that requires the displacement, 
modification, relocation or removal of the System fiom any area along the ROW. 
Upon its receipt of reasonable notice fiom the City of that determination (which 
notice shall be not to be less than forty-five (45) days except where emergency 
conditions require shorter notice), the Company, at its own expense, shall protect, 
support, temporarily disconnect, relocate to another section of the ROW 
designated by the City, or totally remove fiom the ROW any property, equipment 
or facilities of the Company when required or requested by the City, Jefferson 
County or the State of Alabama for reason of traffic conditions, public safety, 
street abandonment, fieeway and street construction, change or establishment of 
street grade, installation of sewers, drains, gas or water pipes, electrical or 
telecommunications lines when such relocation work is being done directly by or 
for the City, Jefferson County or the State. Should the Company refuse or fail to 
relocate or remove its equipment and facilities as provided for herein within 
forty-five (45) days after written notification, the City, Jefferson County or State 
shall have the right to do such work (or cause it to be done) and the reasonable 
cost thereof shall be chargeable to the Company. 

4. Effective Date/Terrn/Renewal. 

This Agreement will become effective on the Effective Date, and thereafter continue in 
effect for a term of Ten (10) years (the "Initial Term"). Following the expiration of this Initial 
Term, this Agreement and the Franchise granted herein may be renewed and extended upon 
mutual agreement of the Parties for an additional term of Ten (10) years upon application to the 
City if (i) the Agreement previously has not been terminated or the Franchise revoked as 
provided hereunder, (ii) the Company has faithfblly performed its obligations hereunder, and (iii) 
the application and extension complies with applicable federal, state or local law, 

5. Franchise FeefRecords RetentionIAudit 

a. Franchise Fee. During the term of this Agreement, the Company shall pay the City a 
fee of five percent (5%) of the Gross Revenues (the "Franchise Fee"). Company shall make 
these payments within fifteen (1 5) days after the end of the preceding quarter of each year of the 
term of this Agreement. At the time of each such payment, the Company also will furnish City 
with a report or statement that, in a summary form, discloses the total Gross Revenues derived 
fiom the System for the previous quarter, the methodology used by Company to calculate the 
Franchise Fee and other bases upon which Company determined the amount of each payment. 

b. Records Retention. For a rolling period not less than five (5) years following the 
creation of the following records, the Company agrees to retain and make the same available for 
inspection by the City (or its designated representative): 

i. its databases and books, reports, statements or accounting records 
indicating the types of services provided to Customers during the term 
of the Agreement; 



ii. its databases and books, reports, statements and accounting records 
indicating the revenues charged and collected for the services provided 
to Customers during the Agreement; and 

iii. all records, reports or other data generated, used or reviewed by the 
Company to compute its Gross Revenues or in the process of calculating 
the amounts of Franchise Fees paid to the City. 

c. Audit of Records. The Company acknowledges and agrees that, to the extent 
necessary to ensure proper payment of Franchise Fees or any other amounts owed City 
hereunder, the City (or its designated representative), upon the provision of reasonable advance 
notice to the Company, shall have the right during the Term of the Agreement or within one year 
following its expiration or termination to audit, examine, review and receive copies of the 
records listed above in subpart (b). At its expense, the Company agrees to furnish access to these 
records and reasonably cooperate with City in any such audit or review. 

d. The City's acceptance of quarterly Franchise Fee payments shall not be 
construed as a waiver, release, accord or satisfaction of any claim that the City might have 
related to the Company's obligation for those payments, or be construed as an agreement that the 
amount of any such payment is correct. 

e. The City acknowledges that, on the Company's bills to its Customers, the Company 
separately may identifj and subsequently pass through the Franchise Fee and other 
government-imposed taxes, taxes, fees, or surcharges payable and collected fiom them in 
connection with the its provision of services. 

f. Other Reports. In addition to other records contemplated in this Section, the Company 
agrees to furnish the City an annual financial statement on or before April 1" of each year, or at 
any time upon request of the City after thuty (30) days written notice. Such statement shall show 
Gross Receipts received by the Company fiom its operations within the City for the previous 
year. Moreover, upon request by the City and after sixty (60) days written notice, the Company 
shall furnish the City an annual certified audit report showing Gross Receipts received by the 
Company from its operations within the City for the previous year. 

6. Service to Customers. 

During the term of this Agreement, the Company will comply with all regulations of the 
Alabama Public Service Commission or any other applicable regulatory agency that relate to 
service standards for its Customers. 

7. Complimentary Public Service Pathway. 

When requested by the City, the Company agrees to furnish and maintain, at no cost to 
iy( the City, two (2) -fiber strands along the entire backbone of the System (whether 

installed aerially or underground) that the City may use for non-commercial purposes (the 
"Public Service Pathway"). The Public Service Pathway shall be installed by the Company in a 



manner that will permit unrestricted uses by the City which include, but are not limited to, the 
transmission of point-to-point communications between municipal, schools and other 
publicly-owned buildings in the City; provided that the City shall be responsible for any damages 
resulting from its use of the Public Service Pathway that are caused by the willful or wanton acts 
of the City, its employees or any other person acting under its direction or control. 

8. Insurance/Indemnification/Performance Bond. 

a. Insurance Requirements. For the duration of this Agreement and for limits not less 
than stated below, the Company shall maintain the following insurance with a company(ies) 
lawfully authorized to do business in Alabama and reasonably acceptable to City: 

Workers' Compensation 

Commercial General Liability 

Auto Liability, including 
coverage on all owned, 
non-owned & rented vehicles 

As Required by Statute 

(a) $1,000,000 for property damage 
per occurrence; 
(b) $1,000,000 for bodily injury 
or death to any one person; 
(c) $2,000,000 in aggregate for injury 
or death per single accident or 
occurrence 

(a) $1,000,000 for property damage 
per occurrence; 
(b) $1,000,000 for bodily 
injury or death to any one person; 
(c) $2,000,000 in aggregate for bodily 
injury and death per single accident or 
occurrence 

The Comprehensive General Liability insurance must include coverage for all of the following: 
comprehensive form, premises, complete operations and contractual coverage for the 
indemnification of the City and other contractual obligations herein. The Company may use 
umbrella or excess liability insurance to achieve the required coverage for Comprehensive 
General Liability and Automobile Liability, provided that such umbrella or excess insurance 
results in the same type of coverage as required for the individual policies. 

Before the Effective Date of this Agreement, the Company shall provide City a 
certificate(s) of insurance evidencing compliance with the requirements in this Section. The 
certificate(s) shall indicate that the City, and its agents, employees and officials, have been 
named as an additional insured on the Comprehensive General Liability, Automobile Liability, 
and any applicable umbrella and excess policies, with respect to all matters arising out of the 
Company operations contemplated by this Agreement. Thereafter, upon request of the City, 
Company shall furnish a current certificate(s) of insurance evidencing such coverage. Should 



any of the policies required herein be cancelled before the expiration date thereof, the insurer 
affording coverage will endeavor to mail 30 days written notice of that cancellation to the City, 
but failure to mail such notice shall impose no obligation or liability of any kind upon the insurer 
affording coverage, its agents, or representatives, or the issuer of this certificate. 

The provision of the insurance required in this section and the recovery of insurance 
proceeds hereunder by the City shall not limit the liability of the Company (if any) under other 
provisions of this Agreement. 

b. Indemnification. The Company agrees to defend, indemnify and hold the City, and its 
agents, employees and officials, harmless from all suits, claims for damages (including personal 
injury or death and property damage), judgments, losses, expenses (including but not limited to 
reasonable attorneys' fees, court costs and other litigation costs) and liabilities (hereinafter 
collectively "Claims") which may arise, whether in whole or in part, out of or in connection with 
the installation, operation or maintenance of the Fiber Optic System or the Company's failure to 
perform any of its obligations under this Agreement. The City agrees to furnish Company 
written notice of any Claims asserted against it and any request that the Company indemniw City 
(or its representatives) pursuant to this Section. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company 
shall not be obligated to indemnify the City for Claims resulting solely from the negligent or 
willful acts of the City (or its representatives), or from the actions by a person or entity other 
than the Company in connection with the City's use of the Public Service Pathway provided 
herein. 

c. Performance Bond. Prior to the Effective Date, the Company will provide a 
Performance Bond in the amount of not less than Ninety Thousand Dollars ($90,000.00) in 
favor of the City to secure the performance by the Company of its obligations under this 
Agreement. This Bond shall be issued by a surety qualified to do business in Alabama and 
reasonably satisfactory to the City. 

(a) Dispute Resolution. The Designated Representatives of the Parties will use 
their good faith efforts to resolve any dispute or claim between them arising from the 
performance or failure to perform their respective obligations under this Agreement (a 
"Dispute"). If the Designated Representatives are unable to amicably resolve a Dispute, it will be 
escalated to the senior managerlofficial level of each Party for consideration. If the Dispute 
cannot be resolved at the senior official level, either Party may request that the Dispute be 
mediated; if the Parties agree to mediate, each will bear its own costs of mediation, including 
attorneys' fees. However, if the parties are unable to amicably resolve any Dispute, the dispute 
resolution mechanism shall be litigation in a court that is located in Jefferson County, Alabama. 

(b) Breach/Notice of Breach. In the event the Company fails to comply with any 
of its material obligations under this Agreement (a "Breach"), the City shall notify the Company 
in writing of the nature of the alleged noncompliance. The occurrences that constitute a material 
Breach by the Company, and may result in early termination of this Agreement and cancellation 
of the Franchise granted herein include the following: 



(1) Failure to make any payments to the City required in this 
Agreement; 

(2) Failure to maintain the insurance policies and coverage 
that are required hereunder; 

(3) Failure to provide or furnish the City any information 
required under this Agreement; 

(4) Any breach or violation of any ordinance, rule or 
regulation or any applicable safety or construction 
requirements or regulations that present a threat to health or 
safety; 

(5) The occurrence of any event relating to the financial status 
of the Company which may reasonably lead to the foreclosure 
or other judicial or non-judicial sale of all or any material part 
of the System or the assets of the Company; 

(6) The condemnation by a public authority, other than the 
City, or sale or dedication under threat or in lieu of 
condemnation, of all or substantially all of the facilities; or 

(7) If (a) the Company shall make an assignment for the 
benefit of creditors, shall become and be adjudicated insolvent, 
shall petition or apply to any tribunal for, or consent to, the 
appointment of, or taking possession by, a receiver, custodian, 
liquidator or trustee or similar official pursuant to state or local 
laws, ordinances or regulations of any substantial part of its 
property or assets, including all or any part of the System; (b) a 
writ of attachment, execution, distraint, levy, possession or any 
similar process shall be issued by any tribunal against all or 
any material part of the Company's property or assets; (c) any 
creditor of the Company petitions or applies to any tribunal for 
the appointment of, or taking possession by, a trustee, receiver, 
custodian, liquidator or similar official for the Company or for 
any material parts of the property or assets of the Company 
under the law of any jurisdiction, whether now or hereafter in 
effect, and a final order, judgment or decree is entered 
appointing any such trustee, receiver, custodian, liquidator or 
similar official, or approving the petition in any such 
proceeding; or (d) any final order, judgment or decree is 
entered in any proceedings against the Company decreeing the 
voluntary or involuntary dissolution of the Company.41 



The Company shall not be deemed to have defaulted this Agreement or be in noncompliance 
with its provisions, nor suffer any enforcement or penalty relating thereto, where such 
noncompliance or alleged defaults are caused by strikes, acts of God, power outages or other 
events reasonably beyond the ability to the Company to control; provided that the Company's 
excuse for nonperformance only shall remain in effect as long as the condition causing that 
circumstance remains in existence, and the Company is obligated to recommence its 
performance hereunder when upon the expiration of that condition. 

(cb) Company's Right to Cure Breach or Respond. The Company shall have 
thirty (30) days from receipt of the notice of a Breach as provided in subpart (a) above (1) to 
respond to the City by contesting the assertion of noncompliance, (2) to cure such breach, or (c) 
in the event that, by the nature of the Breach, it cannot be cured within the 30-day period for 
reasons beyond the reasonable control of the Company, to initiate reasonable steps to remedy 
such Breach and notifl the City of the steps being taken and the projected date that they will be 
completed. 

(ed;) Remedies. In the event that the Company fails to respond to the notice of 
Breach described in subpart (a), it contests the assertion of noncompliance pursuant to the 
procedures set forth in subpart (b), or it does not remedy the subject Breach within 30 days or by 
the date projected in subpart @) above, the City may pursue any or all of the following remedies: 

1. Seek specific performance of any provision which reasonably 
lends itself to such a remedy; 

2. Make a claim against any surety with respect to the 
Performance Bond which may be required to be posted; 

3. Restrain by injunction the default or reasonably anticipated 
default by the Company of any provision of this Agreement; 

4. Seek any other available remedy permitted by law or in equity; 

5.  Take any other action which it deems appropriate to enforce the City's 
rights 

under this Agreement in lieu of revocation of the Agreement. 

(d) Revocation of Franchise/Public Hearing. In addition to the remedies stated 
above, 
the City may schedule a public hearing to investigate the Breach and consider whether to 
terminate this Agreement and revoke the Franchise. The City shall notifl the Company in 
writing of the time and place of such hearing. Such public hearing may be held at the next 
regularly scheduled meeting of the City's governing body, or at such other time and place which 
is scheduled not less than five business days from the City's notice of hearing. At that hearing 



the City shall give the Company an opportunity to state its position concerning the Breach and 
otherwise be heard, after which its governing body shall determine whether or not this 
Agreement shall be terminated and the Franchise be revoked. In that event, the City may 
terminate the Agreement and the revoke the Franchise effective ten (10) days following the 
determination by it governing body to terminate this Agreement. 

(fe) Nothing herein shall preclude the Company from petitioning -the 
Circuit Court of Jefferson County, Alabama to challenge a wdetermination by the governing 
body of the City to terminate this Agreement and revoke the Franchise. Such challenge app& 
must be taken within thirtyh (130) days of the issuance of that determination+&m&w&. 

(go Obligations of Company on Expiration or Early Termination of Agreement. Upon 
the expiration or early termination of this Agreement for any reason, the City may request that 
the Company, at its own expense and within a reasonable amount of time following that request, 
remove fiom the ROW any equipment or facilities that the Company placed thereon to provide 
its services and restore the surrounding property to the condition that existed prior to its 
installation. Any equipment not removed by the Company following that request may be left in 
place by the Company and deemed abandoned. Further, although the respective obligations of 
the Parties concerning further use of the ROW will cease upon the expiration or early 
termination of this Agreement, the Company's obligations to pay Franchise Fees, to permit the 
City to perform audits, to furnish information to the City required hereunder, and to indemnify 
the City and provide insurance with respect to events occurring before the termination shall 
survive and remain in effect for a period of two (2) years following the expiration or effective 
date of early termination. 

10. Designated Representatives/Notices. 

The Parties appoint their respective representatives below to coordinate with the other on 
all matters pertinent to the administration of this Agreement (the "Designated Representative"). 

Designated Representative for City: 

City of Mountain Brook, Alabama 
ATTENTION: City Manager 
56 Church Street 
Mountain Brook, AL 352 13 

Designated Representative of Company: 

Southern Light, LLC 
ATTENTION: Kelly McGriff 
General Counsel 
107% St. Francis hki iy=Stree t  - Suite 1800 
Mobile, AL 366023 



Each Designated Representative also shall have the authority to act on behalf of its respective 
organization to transmit instructions and receive information. Either Party may substitute a 
Designated Representative other than the person named above upon provision of written notice. 

Any notice required hereunder to be sent in writing shall be sufficiently given (a) in 
writing and @) when sent to the Designated Representative for the other Party via United States 
certified mail, return receipt requested, or via overnight courier with receipt verification to the 
address set forth herein, or by personally delivering such notice to the Party to be in receipt 
thereof. 

11. Miscellaneous. 

a. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written 
instrument that is executed by duly authorized representatives of both Parties. 

b. Construction. Words of any gender used in this Agreement shall be held and 
construed to include any other gender, and words in singular number shall be held to include the 
plural and vice versa, unless context requires otherwise. The captions used in connection with 
the sections of this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not be deemed to construe or 
limit the meaning of the language contained in this Agreement, or be used in interpreting the 
meanings and provisions of this Agreement. 

c. No Presumption against Drafter. The Parties acknowledge that each Party and its 
counsel have had the opportunity to review and revise this Agreement, and the normal rule of 
construction to the effect that any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall 
not be employed in the interpretation of this Agreement or any amendments or exhibits thereto. 

d. Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the attached Exhibit A) constitutes the 
entire agreement between the City and Company with respect to the subject matter contained 
herein and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous discussions, agreements, andlor 
representations of or between them, whether oral or written, regarding the subject matter hereof. 

e. No Waiver. The failure of either Party to enforce any of the terms, conditions or 
provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed as a subsequent waiver of the right to compel 
enforcement of that or any other term, condition or provision. The respective rights, benefits and 
obligations under this Agreement may be waived only in a writing signed by the Parties. 

f. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon and for the benefit of each of 
the Parties and their respective principals, managers, officials, offices, directors, shareholders, 
agents, employees, attorneys, successors and assigns. and any parent, subsidiary or affiliated 
corporation or entity, as applicable. 

g. Counterpart Execution. This Agreement may be signed in one or more counterparts, 
each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the 



same agreement. Signature pages may be transmitted by facsimile and any signature transmitted 
by facsimile will be given the same force and effect as an original signature. 

h. Choice of Law. This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted according to the 
laws of the State of Alabama. 

i. Assignment. The Company's interest in this Agreement and the Franchise shall 
not be assigned, sold, transferred, or otherwise encumbered or disposed of, either by forced or 
voluntary sale or otherwise, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent shall not 
be unreasonably withheld. The City reserves the right to be reimbursed by the Company for 
costs incurred by it in reviewing the request for transfer of ownership. 

j. Independent Contractors. The City and Company are independent contractors. The 
Company exclusively controls the methods and means by which it conducts its operations. 
Further, neither this Agreement nor any provision herein is intended make either Party the agent, 
fiduciary or partner of the other, or grant either Party any authority to bind the other to any 
obligation with a third party. 

k. Other Representations. The Company and the City each represent to the other that it 
has the requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement, that each has secured all 
necessary board, corporate or other required approval to enter this Agreement, and that its 
undersigned representatives are authorized to execute below on behalf of their respective 
organization. 

m. Cooperation. The Company and the City shall cooperate fully with one another to 
execute any and all other documents and take whatever any additional actions (including, 
without limitation, the processing of permits) that may be necessary or appropriate to give full 
force and effect to the terms and intent of this Agreement. 

n. No Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing contained in this Agreement is intended or shall 
be construed as creating or conferring any rights, benefits or remedies upon, or creating any 
obligations of the Parties hereto toward any person or entity not a Party to this Agreement 

oft. Attorneys' Fees. If (i) either Party breaches its obligations to the other hereunder, 
(ii) the non-defaulting Party should employ attorneys or incur other expenses in any legal action 
regarding such breach of this Agreement, and (iii) the non-defaulting Party secures a final 



judgment before a court of competent jurisdiction or obtains other relief fiom an administrative 
body related thereto against the defaulting Party, the losing Party in that proceeding will pay the 
prevailing Party its reasonable attorneys' fees and other reasonable expenses that are incurred in 
that breach-of-contract action. 

pq. Severability. If any provision, part, section or subdivision of this Agreement 
shall be held invalid, illegal, unconstitutional or unenforceable for any reason, such holding shall 
not be construed to invalidate or impair its remaining provisions, which shall continue in full 
force and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

qr. Exclusion of Consequential Damages. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER 
PROVISION IN THIS AGREEMENT, THE COMPANY AGREES THAT, IN THE EVENT IT 
MAKES OR ASSERTS ANY CLAIM, DEMAND OR ACTION OF ANY TYPE AGAINST 
THE CITY ARISING FROM ITS ALLEGED BREACH OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ITS 
FAILURE TO PERFORM ANY OF ITS OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER, THE MAXIMUM 
AMOUNT THAT THE COMPANY MAY RECOVER FROM THE CITY AS DAMAGES IN 
ANY SUCH ACTION IS LIMITED TO THE COMPANY'S ACTUAL, DIRECT DAMAGES 
ARISING FROM THE CITY'S BREACH. THE COMPANY AGREES AND 
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE TERMS HEREIN WERE PROPOSED AND BASED ON 
THE ASSUMPTION THAT THIS SPECIFIC LIMITATION IS APPLICABLE, AND THAT 
THE CITY WOULD NOT HAVE ENTERED INTO THIS AGREEMENT WITHOUT THE 
INCLUSION OF THIS LIMITATION. IN NO EVENT WILL THE CITY BE LIABLE TO 
THE COMPANY FOR ANY INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, PUNITIVE, 
RELIANCE OR SPECIAL DAMAGES (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION DAMAGES 
FOR LOST PROFITS, LOST ADVANTAGE, LOST OPPORTUNITY, LOSS OF SAVINGS 
OR REVENUES OR FOR INCREASED COST OF OPERATIONS) ARISING FROM ANY 
BREACH OR ALLEGED BREACH OF THIS AGREEMENT BY THE CITY. 

. LicensingLaws. Before commencing any operations contemplated hereunder, the 
Company, at its own expense, will obtain all licenses, permits or other governmental 
authorizations needed to construct the System, provide its services and perform its Operations, 
including without limitation, any business license issued by applicable governing authorities 
("Licensing"). The Company agrees to maintain that Licensing throughout the performance of 
this Agreement. 

si. Immigration Act. The Company represents and warrants that (a) it does not 
knowingly employ, hire for employment, or continue to employ an "unauthorized alien," as 
defined by the Beason-Hammon Alabama Taxpayer and Citizen Protection Act, Act No. 
201 1-535 (H. B. 56), as amended from time to time (the "Act") and that, during the performance 
of this Agreement, (a) it shall participate in the E-Verify program as required under the terms of 
the Act; (b) it will comply with all applicable provisions of the Act with respect to its contractors 
by entering into an agreement with or by obtaining an affidavit fiom such contractors providing 
that such contractors are in compliance with the Act with respect to their participation in the 
E-verify program; (c) it shall not hire, retain or contract with any contractor that it knows is not 
in compliance with the Act; and (d) if it is found to be in violation of this provision, the 



Company shall be deemed in breach of this Agreement and shall be responsible for all damages 
resulting therefrom. 

(Signature Page Follows) 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto, by their duly authorized representatives, 
have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 

SOUTIIERN LIGHT, LLC 

By: - 

Name: 

Title: 

Date: 

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA 

By: 

Name:- 

Title:- 

Date: 



EXHIBIT A - INITIAL PROPOSED ROUTE OF SYSTEM 

See attached Map. 



RESOLUTION NO. 2015-024 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, 
that the Mayor of the City is hereby authorized and directed, on behalf of, and in the name 
of, the City of Mountain Brook ("City"), to execute the Franchise Agreement, in the form as attached 
hereto as Exhibit A with such minor changes thereto as may be approved by the Mayor, whose approval 
of such changes shall be evidenced by his execution of said Franchise Agreement, between the City and 
Southern Light, LLC with respect to Southern Light, LLC's local exchange telecommunications services. 

ADOPTED: This 9th day of February, 2015. 

- -- 

Council President 

APPROVED: This 9th day of February, 20 15. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama hereby certify the above to 
be a true and correct copy of a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook at 
its regular meeting held on February 9,201 5, as same appears in the minutes of record of said meeting. 

City Clerk 

Southern Light, LLC Franchise Agreement 

boone
Text Box
Resolution and clean version of franchise agreement



FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

THIS FRANCHISE AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is made by and between 
SOUTHERN LIGHT, LLC, a limited liability company (hereinafter referred to as the 
"Company"), and the CITY O F  MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA, a municipal corporation 
(the "City") as of the Effective Date (as defined below). The Company and the City separately 
may be referenced herein as a "Party," and collectively as "Parties." 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, in September 2001 the Alabama Public Service Commission awarded the 
Company a certificate to provide competitive local exchange telecommunications services in this 
State; 

WHEREAS, the Company is a privately-owned firm that intends to provide various high 
bandwidth services utilizing a fiber optic line transmission system that the Company will 
construct, maintain and operate on public rights of way within the City (the "Fiber Optic 
System" or "System"); 

WHEREAS, the areas in the City at which the Company initially intends to construct its 
Fiber Optic System are shown on the map that is attached as Exhibit A; 

WHEREAS, the Company's selection of locations for its Fiber Optic System, and its 
construction and operation of that System along the public rights of way are subject to the 
advance approval of the City and the exercise of its police powers, and the Company must 
comply with all laws, codes and regulations that apply to those operations; 

WHEREAS, the services to be provided by the Company over its System concern the 
transport of data, voice or video communications between locations in the City in which such 
communications may both originate and terminate in the City, or may only originate or terminate 
in it; 

WHEREAS, the Company will not use the System to provide cable television services, 
channels, or programming to end users in the City; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with the terms and conditions herein, the City grants the 
Company a non-exclusive franchise for it to construct, maintain and operate its Fiber Optic 
System in the City at the locations and in the manner approved in advance by the City. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Recitals above, the respective 
representations, promises, concessions, terms and conditions contained herein, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows. 

1. Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms, words and phrases 
shall have the meanings set forth below. When not inconsistent with the context, words used in 
the singular number shall include the plural number, and words in the plural number shall 
include the singular. 



a. "City" means the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama. 

b. "Company" means Southern Light, LLC, or any entity that succeeds Southern 
Light, LLC in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

c. "Customer" means any person to whom the Company provides any 
Telecommunication services to or from, or between locations in the City. 

d. "Effective Date" shall mean the first day of the month after the date last executed 
by a Party below on the Signature Page. 

e. "Franchise" means the authorization granted hereunder of a franchise, privilege, 
permit, license or other right to construct, operate and maintain the Fiber Optic System in and 
along the ROW at locations requested by the Company in which its intended operations are 
approved in advance by the City and performed in compliance with applicable laws, codes or 
regulations, including but not limited to, land use and zoning regulations. 

f. "Franchise Fee" means the fee paid by the Company to the City for the privilege 
of locating, maintaining and operating its Fiber Optic System as various locations in the ROW. 

g. "Gross Revenues" shall mean all revenues, in whatever form, that are received or 
accrued by the Company from any persons, carriers or entities that are not affiliated with it with 
respect to the receipt, transmission, or distribution of any data, voice, video or other electronic 
messages in whatever form to or from locations in the City, or between locations in it. This term 
shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

1. All recurring or non-recurring revenues received with 
respect to the provision of any Telecommunication or other 
service that utilizes the System; 

. . 
11. All recurring or non-recurring contract fees, usage based 

fees, charges, or consideration of any kind or nature 
(including without limitation, cash, credits, property, and 
in-kind contributions) received by the Company in 
connection with its utilization of the System; 

iii. All revenue arising from or attributable to the provision of 
any equipment that is leased or sold by the Company to its 
customers in connection with the provision of services. 

Gross Revenues do not include the following: 

i. uncollectible fees; provided that all or part of uncollectible 
fees that are written off as bad debt but subsequently 
collected, less expenses of collection, shall be included in 
Gross Revenues in the period collected; 



ii. insufficient funds (returned checks); 

iii. late payment fees; 

iv. discounts, refunds, and other price adjustments that reduce 
the amount of compensation received by Company from its 
customers; or 

v. the amounts billed by the Company to its Customers to 
recover taxes, fees, or surcharges imposed on them in 
connection with the provision of services, including the 
Franchise Fee and any other tax, fee or charge of general 
applicability collected by Company from its customers for 
pass through to the City or any other governmental entity or 
agency. 

g. "Person" means any natural or corporate person, business association or other 
business entity including, but not limited to, a partnership, sole proprietorship, political 
subdivision, public or private agency of any kind, utility, successor or assign of any of the 
foregoing, or any other legal entity. 

h. "ROW or "Rights-of-Way" means the surface and space above and below any 
the public rights of way, streets, avenues, highways, roads and dedicated municipal easements 
within the City's corporate boundaries. 

1. "Services" shall mean all services provided by the Company for which it receives 
compensation from its customers. 

j- "System" or "Fiber Optic System" means the system of pipes, transmission lines, 
meters, equipment and other facilities associated with the construction, maintenance and 
operation of a fiber-optic transmission line by the Company in the City in accordance with the 
terms and conditions in this Agreement, which system will be utilized for the purpose of 
receiving, transmitting or distributing Telecommunications or other electronic messages in 
whatever form to or from, or between locations in the City. 

k. "Telecommunications" means the transmission, between or among points 
specified by the user, of information of the user's choosing (e.g., data, video or voice), without 
change in the form or content of the information as sent and received. 

2. Grant of Authority. Pursuant to the terms, conditions and understandings 
herein, the City 'hereby grants to the Company a non-exclusive Franchise to construct, maintain 
and operate its Fiber Option System on and along the ROW in the City. 

The Company agrees and acknowledges the following limitations, conditions and 
understandings apply with respect to this grant: 



(a) The request of the Company to utilize particular locations along the ROW 
in the City must be approved in advance by the City; 

(b) The nature, manner and mode of installing or maintaining any line, cable, 
equipment or apparatus comprising the System must be approved in 
advance by the City; 

(c) The nature and type of the Company's intended operations along the ROW 
must comply with applicable laws, codes or regulations. 

(d) The Company shall not install, expand or extend the System without first 
obtaining appropriate permits from the City, and complying with any 
conditions related to the use of such permits, including burying any 
underground facilities at depths below the grades of any streets as may be 
required by the City; 

(e) The grant is not exclusive. The City reserves the right to grant the use of 
the ROW to any other person at any time and for any lawful purpose; 

(f) This Agreement shall not be construed to create any rights beyond its 
express terms, conditions and periods; 

(g) In approving any intended Company operations along particular points of 
the ROW, the City does not represent or warrant to the Company that the 
City holds title, right or interest in or to the ROW at those points, or that it 
has the right or authority to grant the Company the right to conduct its 
intended operations thereon. The Company acknowledges and agrees that it 
has the burden and responsibility to assess and determine its right to operate 
in the requested locations in advance of the installation of its System. 
Further, the City does not make any warranty (express or implied) to the 
Company concerning the sufficiency, condition or appropriateness of the 
ROW for the uses intended by the Company; 

(h) The Company acknowledges that utilities or other persons or entities may 
hold or claim rights to utilize the same sections of the ROW in which the 
Company intends to operate, and that the Company exclusively is 
responsible for designing, planning, coordinating, installing its System and 
conducting its operations in a manner that does not unduly interfere with the 
operations of those other entities; 

(i) This Agreement shall not be construed to deprive the City of any rights, 
regulatory or police powers or other privileges under State law which it now 
has, or may hereafter have, to regulate the use and control of its ROW or 
provide for the safety and welfare of the public. By granting this Franchise 
and approving this Agreement, the City does not surrender or to any extent 
waive, impair or relinquish any of those regulatory powers and rights, or to 



charge reasonable compensation for such use. By entering this Agreement, 
the Company agrees and acknowledges that all such rights, police or other 
regulatory powers shall be in full force and effect during its term, that the 
Franchise granted it hereunder is subject to the exercise by the City of those 
police powers, and that it will comply with all such existing, applicable 
laws and ordinances that exist today or hereinafter may be enacted. In the 
event of any conflict between the provisions of this Agreement and any 
present or future laws, regulations or ordinances by which the City 
exercises its police powers, the provisions of those laws, regulations and 
ordinances shall control and take precedence in resolving the conflict; 

(j) The grant of the Franchise herein shall not be construed to convey, 
bestow, or transfer to Company any title, easement or other permanent 
property interest in the ROW or other public property in or on which it 
conducts operations; 

(k) This Agreement does not establish any priority for the use of the ROW by 
the Company, or any present or future franchisees, permit holders or other 
users of the ROW. In the event of any dispute as to the priority of use of 
the ROW, the first priority shall be to the public generally, the second 
priority shall lie with the City, the third priority with the State of Alabama 
and its political subdivisions in the performance of their various functions, 
and thereafter, as between franchisees and other permit holders, as 
determined by the City in the exercise of its police and other powers 
conferred on it by the State of Alabama; 

(1) Nothing in this Section or elsewhere in the Agreement shall be construed to 
limit the Company's rights to access and use its own or general utility 
easements in accordance with the terms of such easements so long as such 
use is consistent with applicable law. 

(m)This Agreement does not confer upon the Company any right to use conduit 
that is now owned by the City or may hereafter be acquired. 

3. Operating Requirements and Standards. 

The following understandings apply with respect to the Company's use of the Franchise 
and its operations within the City: 

a. At all times the Company shall keep and maintain the System in a safe, suitable, 
and substantial condition, and in good order and repair. 

b. The Company shall provide safe passageway for vehicles and pedestrians 
through, in and around its work sites. It further shall comply with all rules of the 
road or other laws related to operation of vehicles along the ROW. Except in the 
case of an emergency or with the approval of the City Engineer (or other 
designated City official), the Company agrees not to conduct its operations in a 



manner that interferes with usual vehicular or pedestrian travel on or the 
maintenance of the ROW, nor shall the placement of its facilities or its operations 
unreasonably limit the visibility of vehicular and/or pedestrian traffic on or along 
them. 

c. The Company shall conduct its operations in a manner that does not unreasonably 
interfere with the rights and reasonable convenience of persons who own property 
adjoining the ROW. The Company acknowledges that it may enter private 
property only as permitted by applicable law, or as allowed by the owner of such 
private property, for the purpose of performing its operations thereon. 

d. The Company shall construct the System and perform its operations in accordance 
with all applicable federal, state and local laws, ordinances, codes, and regulations 
pertaining thereto, including, but not limited to, the following: any building code, 
electric code or ordinances that are now in effect or may hereafter be adopted by 
the City; laws and regulations that protect workers and are intended to promote 
safety in the workplace; laws and regulations and that protect the environment, air 
or water quality or the public health, safety and welfare (including, without 
limitation, those issued by the Alabama Department of Environmental 
Management and Environmental Protection Agency); and regulations of the 
Federal Communications Commission. 

d. Prior to installing, expanding or constructing its System or conducting other 
operations on the ROW, the Company shall obtain a permit(s) from the City 
pertinent to that work. The Company shall submit maps or plats showing the 
locations and types of equipment intended to be installed at all locations. The 
City agrees to consider any requests for permits and process them in a timely 
manner consistent with reasonable municipal practices. The work to be done 
under this Agreement, and the restoration of the ROW as required herein, must be 
completed within the dates specified in any permits authorizing the work. The 
Company shall perform the work according to the standards and with the 
materials specified or approved by the City Engineer, or other City official. 

e. The Company shall repair and replace sections of the ROW that are disturbed due 
to the installation, removal, relocation, maintenance and repair of its System, and 
restore those sections to a condition comparable to the condition existing 
immediately prior to such disturbance to the satisfaction of the City. 

f. Whenever reasonably practical, the Company agrees to place its facilities on, 
within or adjacent to the facilities and easements of utilities and other franchisees 
or other areas used by them. 

h. When the Company constructs or configures its System, it agrees to install its 
facilities underground in those parts of the City where existing telephone and 
electric services are both underground. In areas where either telephone or electric 



utility facilities are installed aerially at the time of construction of the System, the 
Company may install its facilities aerially with the understanding that, at such 
time as the existing aerial facilities are required to be placed underground by the 
City, the Company shall likewise place its facilities underground. If a site 
requested by the Company for the location of facilities or equipment raises 
concerns about public health, safety, and welfare, the City and Company agree to 
work together to identify alternative locations, if available, that satisfy any 
technical specifications or limitations of those facilities or equipment and those 
concerns. 

1. Least Disruptive Technology. The Company agrees to construct and maintain its 
System in a manner resulting in the least amount of damage and disruption to the 
ROW. To that end, the Company will use directional boring in all areas where no 
conduit exists. Further, the Company will be required to use trenchless 
technology for any portion of construction or maintenance projects which lie 
beneath the paved or improved portion of any roadway to which this Agreement 
applies, unless otherwise approved by the City. The City Engineer (or other 
appropriate official) may require trenchless technology in other locations where 
circumstances prevent or make open-cut methods impractical. Any requests by 
the Company to utilize the open-cut or trench method for construction or 
maintenance must be approved by the City Engineer (or other City official). 

The Company shall have the right to remove, trim, cut and keep trees and 
shrubbery clear of the System at points in and along the public ways; provided 
that Company shall perform those operations only having first consulting with the 
City's arborist (or other official who is designated to act in that capacity), and 
shall comply with any local rules, codes and regulations that pertain to that work. 
The Company shall reasonably compensate the City for any damages, in such 
amounts as determined by the City, caused by trimming, cutting or removing trees 
or shrubbery, or shall, at its own expense, replace all trees or shrubs damaged as a 
result of any construction, installation, repair or maintenance of the System 
undertaken by the Company to the satisfaction of the City. 

k. The Company shall bear all costs associated with the installation, repair and 
maintenance of its System and its equipment including, but not limited to (1) all 
expense to repair and restore the ROW that is disturbed due to those operations, 
and (2) all expense incurred in removing or relocating any portion of the System 
or facilities constructed when required by this Agreement. 

I .  The Company, at its expense, agrees to promptly repair or replace any facility, 
equipment or public improvement that Company damages or disturbs in the 
course of exercising its rights hereunder, including but not limited to, any road, 
street or other section of the ROW, and any electric facility, sewer, water main, 
fire alarm, police communication or traffic control facility. 



m. In conducting its operations, the Company further agrees to: 

(1) comply with all applicable sections of the National Electric 
Safety Code; 

(2) utilize reasonable, commonly accepted methods and devices for 
preventing failures and accidents which are likely to cause damage, 
injuries or nuisances to the public or damages to property owned by 
third persons; 

(3) install and maintain the System in such manner that its 
operations will not interfere with any improvements of the City or of 
a public utility serving the City. 

(4) perform its operations in accordance with good engineering 
practices and standards for firms providing like operations in the 
Company's industry, and in an orderly and workmanlike manner; 

(5) perform all its operations through qualified maintenance and 
construction personnel. Further, the Company shall maintain a force 
of employees at all times sufficient to provide safe, adequate and 
prompt service and maintenance of the System; and 

(6)  not perform its operations in a manner that obstructs the rights- 
of-way so as to interfere with the natural, free and clear passage of 
water through the gutters, drains, ditches or other waterways. 

n. Relocation or Removal of System at Request of the City. The City reserves the 
right to determine that, in the exercise of its sole discretion, it is in the public 
interest to improve or modify its ROW in a manner that requires the displacement, 
modification, relocation or removal of the System from any area along the ROW. 
Upon its receipt of reasonable notice from the City of that determination (which 
notice shall be not to be less than forty-five (45) days except where emergency 
conditions require shorter notice), the Company, at its own expense, shall protect, 
support, temporarily disconnect, relocate to another section of the ROW 
designated by the City, or totally remove from the ROW any property, equipment 
or facilities of the Company when required or requested by the City, Jefferson 
County or the State of Alabama for reason of traffic conditions, public safety, 
street abandonment, freeway and street construction, change or establishment of 
street grade, installation of sewers, drains, gas or water pipes, electrical or 
telecommunications lines when such relocation work is being done directly by or 
for the City, Jefferson County or the State. Should the Company refuse or fail to 
relocate or remove its equipment and facilities as provided for herein within forty- 
five (45) days after written notification, the City, Jefferson County or State shall 
have the right to do such work (or cause it to be done) and the reasonable cost 
thereof shall be chargeable to the Company. 



4. Effective Date/Term/Renewal. 

This Agreement will become effective on the Effective Date, and thereafter continue in 
effect for a term of Ten (10) years (the "Initial Term"). Following the expiration of this Initial 
Term, this Agreement and the Franchise granted herein may be renewed and extended upon 
mutual agreement of the Parties for an additional term of Ten (1 0) years upon application to the 
City if (i) the Agreement previously has not been terminated or the Franchise revoked as 
provided hereunder, (ii) the Company has faithfully performed its obligations hereunder, and (iii) 
the application and extension complies with applicable federal, state or local law, 

5. Franchise FeeIRecords RetentionIAudit 

a. Franchise Fee. During the term of this Agreement, the Company shall pay the City a 
fee of five percent (5%) of the Gross Revenues (the "Franchise Fee"). Company shall make 
these payments within fifteen (1 5) days after the end of the preceding quarter of each year of the 
term of this Agreement. At the time of each such payment, the Company also will furnish City 
with a report or statement that, in a summary form, discloses the total Gross Revenues derived 
from the System for the previous quarter, the methodology used by Company to calculate the 
Franchise Fee and other bases upon which Company determined the amount of each payment. 

b. Records Retention. For a rolling period not less than five (5) years following the 
creation of the following records, the Company agrees to retain and make the same available for 
inspection by the City (or its designated representative): 

i. its databases and books, reports, statements or accounting records 
indicating the types of services provided to Customers during the term 
of the Agreement; 

ii. its databases and books, reports, statements and accounting records 
indicating the revenues charged and collected for the services provided 
to Customers during the Agreement; and 

iii. all records, reports or other data generated, used or reviewed by the 
Company to compute its Gross Revenues or in the process of calculating 
the amounts of Franchise Fees paid to the City. 

c. Audit of Records. The Company acknowledges and agrees that, to the extent 
necessary to ensure proper payment of Franchise Fees or any other amounts owed City 
hereunder, the City (or its designated representative), upon the provision of reasonable advance 
notice to the Company, shall have the right during the Term of the Agreement or within one year 
following its expiration or termination to audit, examine, review and receive copies of the 
records listed above in subpart (b). At its expense, the Company agrees to furnish access to these 
records and reasonably cooperate with City in any such audit or review. 

d. The City's acceptance of quarterly Franchise Fee payments shall not be construed as a 
waiver, release, accord or satisfaction of any claim that the City might have related to the 



Company's obligation for those payments, or be construed as an agreement that the amount of 
any such payment is correct. 

e. The City acknowledges that, on the Company's bills to its Customers, the Company 
separately may identify and subsequently pass through the Franchise Fee and other government- 
imposed taxes, taxes, fees, or surcharges payable and collected from them in connection with the 
its provision of services. 

f. Other Reports. In addition to other records contemplated in this Section, the Company 
agrees to furnish the City an annual financial statement on or before April IS' of each year, or at 
any time upon request of the City after thirty (30) days written notice. Such statement shall show 
Gross Receipts received by the Company from its operations within the City for the previous 
year. Moreover, upon request by the City and after sixty (60) days written notice, the Company 
shall furnish the City an annual certified audit report showing Gross Receipts received by the 
Company from its operations within the City for the previous year. 

6. Service to Customers. 

During the term of this Agreement, the Company will comply with all regulations of the 
Alabama Public Service Commission or any other applicable regulatory agency that relate to 
service standards for its Customers. 

7. Complimentary Public Service Pathway. 

When requested by the City, the Company agrees to furnish and maintain, at no cost to 
the City, two (2) fiber strands along the entire backbone of the System (whether installed aerially 
or underground) that the City may use for non-commercial purposes (the "Public Service 
Pathway"). The Public Service Pathway shall be installed by the Company in a manner that will 
permit unrestricted uses by the City which include, but are not limited to, the transmission of 
point-to-point communications between municipal, schools and other publicly-owned buildings 
in the City; provided that the City shall be responsible for any damages resulting from its use of 
the Public Service Pathway that are caused by the willful or wanton acts of the City, its 
employees or any other person acting under its direction or control. 

8. Insurance/Indemnification/Performance Bond. 

a. Insurance Requirements. For the duration of this Agreement and for limits not less 
than stated below, the Company shall maintain the following insurance with a company(ies) 
lawfully authorized to do business in Alabama and reasonably acceptable to City: 

Workers' Compensation As Required by Statute 

Commercial General Liability (a) $1,000,000 for property damage per 
occurrence; 
(b) $1,000,000 for bodily injury 
or death to any one person; 
(c) $2,000,000 in aggregate for injury or 
death per single accident or occurrence 



Auto Liability, including coverage (a) $1,000,000 for property damage per 
on all owned, non-owned & rented occurrence; 
vehicles (b) $1,000,000 for bodily 

injury or death to any one person; 
(c) $2,000,000 in aggregate for bodily injury 
and death per single accident or occurrence 

The Comprehensive General Liability insurance must include coverage for all of the following: 
comprehensive form, premises, complete operations and contractual coverage for the 
indemnification of the City and other contractual obligations herein. The Company may use 
umbrella or excess liability insurance to achieve the required coverage for Comprehensive 
General Liability and Automobile Liability, provided that such umbrella or excess insurance 
results in the same type of coverage as required for the individual policies. 

Before the Effective Date of this Agreement, the Company shall provide City a 
certificate(s) of insurance evidencing compliance with the requirements in this Section. The 
certificate(s) shall indicate that the City, and its agents, employees and officials, have been 
named as an additional insured on the Comprehensive General Liability, Automobile Liability, 
and any applicable umbrella and excess policies, with respect to all matters arising out of the 
Company operations contemplated by this Agreement. Thereafter, upon request of the City, 
Company shall furnish a current certificate(s) of insurance evidencing such coverage. Should 
any of the policies required herein be cancelled before the expiration date thereof, the insurer 
affording coverage will endeavor to mail 30 days written notice of that cancellation to the City, 
but failure to mail such notice shall impose no obligation or liability of any kind upon the insurer 
affording coverage, its agents, or representatives, or the issuer of this certificate. 

The provision of the insurance required in this section and the recovery of insurance 
proceeds hereunder by the City shall not limit the liability of the Company (if any) under other 
provisions of this Agreement. 

b. Indemnification. The Company agrees to defend, indemnify and hold the City, and its 
agents, employees and officials, harmless from all suits, claims for damages (including personal 
injury or death and property damage), judgments, losses, expenses (including but not limited to 
reasonable attorneys' fees, court costs and other litigation costs) and liabilities (hereinafter 
collectively "Claims") which may arise, whether in whole or in part, out of or in connection with 
the installation, operation or maintenance of the Fiber Optic System or the Company's failure to 
perform any of its obligations under this Agreement. The City agrees to furnish Company 
written notice of any Claims asserted against it and any request that the Company indemnify City 
(or its representatives) pursuant to this Section. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company 
shall not be obligated to indemnify the City for Claims resulting solely from the negligent or 
willful acts of the City (or its representatives), or from the actions by a person or entity other 
than the Company in connection with the City's use of the Public Service Pathway provided 
herein. 

c. Performance Bond. Prior to the Effective Date, the Company will provide a 
Performance Bond in the amount of not less than Ninety Thousand Dollars ($90,000.00) in 
favor of the City to secure the performance by the Company of its obligations under this 



Agreement. This Bond shall be issued by a surety qualified to do business in Alabama and 
reasonably satisfactory to the City. 

(a) Dispute Resolution. The Designated Representatives of the Parties will use their good 
faith efforts to resolve any dispute or claim between them arising from the performance or failure 
to perform their respective obligations under this Agreement (a "Dispute"). If the Designated 
Representatives are unable to amicably resolve a Dispute, it will be escalated to the senior 
managerlofficial level of each Party for consideration. If the Dispute cannot be resolved at the 
senior official level, either Party may request that the Dispute be mediated; if the Parties agree to 
mediate, each will bear its own costs of mediation, including attorneys' fees. However, if the 
parties are unable to amicably resolve any Dispute, the dispute resolution mechanism shall be 
litigation in a court that is located in Jefferson County, Alabama. 

(b) BreacWNotice of Breach. In the event the Company fails to comply with any of its 
material obligations under this Agreement (a "Breach"), the City shall notify the Company in 
writing of the nature of the alleged noncompliance. The occurrences that constitute a material 
Breach by the Company, and may result in early termination of this Agreement and cancellation 
of the Franchise granted herein include the following: 

(1) Failure to make any payments to the City required in this 
Agreement; 

(2) Failure to maintain the insurance policies and coverage 
that are required hereunder; 

(3) Failure to provide or furnish the City any information 
required under this Agreement; 

(4) Any breach or violation of any ordinance, rule or 
regulation or any applicable safety or construction 
requirements or regulations that present a threat to health or 
safety; 

(5) The occurrence of any event relating to the financial status 
of the Company which may reasonably lead to the foreclosure 
or other judicial or non-judicial sale of all or any material part 
of the System or the assets of the Company; 

(6)  The condemnation by a public authority, other than the 
City, or sale or dedication under threat or in lieu of 
condemnation, of all or substantially all of the facilities; or 

(7) If (a) the Company shall make an assignment for the 
benefit of creditors, shall become and be adjudicated insolvent, 
shall petition or apply to any tribunal for, or consent to, the 



appointment of, or taking possession by, a receiver, custodian, 
liquidator or trustee or similar official pursuant to state or local 
laws, ordinances or regulations of any substantial part of its 
property or assets, including all or any part of the System; (b) a 
writ of attachment, execution, distraint, levy, possession or any 
similar process shall be issued by any tribunal against all or 
any material part of the Company's property or assets; (c) any 
creditor of the Company petitions or applies to any tribunal for 
the appointment of, or taking possession by, a trustee, receiver, 
custodian, liquidator or similar official for the Company or for 
any material parts of the property or assets of the Company 
under the law of any jurisdiction, whether now or hereafter in 
effect, and a final order, judgment or decree is entered 
appointing any such trustee, receiver, custodian, liquidator or 
similar official, or approving the petition in any such 
proceeding; or (d) any final order, judgment or decree is 
entered in any proceedings against the Company decreeing the 
voluntary or involuntary dissolution of the Company. 

The Company shall not be deemed to have defaulted this Agreement or be in noncompliance 
with its provisions, nor suffer any enforcement or penalty relating thereto, where such 
noncompliance or alleged defaults are caused by strikes, acts of God, power outages or other 
events reasonably beyond the ability to the Company to control; provided that the Company's 
excuse for nonperformance only shall remain in effect as long as the condition causing that 
circumstance remains in existence, and the Company is obligated to recommence its 
performance hereunder when upon the expiration of that condition. 

(c) Company's Right to Cure Breach or Respond. The Company shall have thirty (30) 
days from receipt of the notice of a Breach as provided in subpart (a) above (1) to respond to the 
City by contesting the assertion of noncompliance, (2) to cure such breach, or (c) in the event 
that, by the nature of the Breach, it cannot be cured within the 30-day period for reasons beyond 
the reasonable control of the Company, to initiate reasonable steps to remedy such Breach and 
notify the City of the steps being taken and the projected date that they will be completed. 

(d Remedies. In the event that the Company fails to respond to the notice of Breach 
described in subpart (a), it contests the assertion of noncompliance pursuant to the procedures set 
forth in subpart (b), or it does not remedy the subject Breach within 30 days or by the date 
projected in subpart (b) above, the City may pursue any or all of the following remedies: 

1. Seek specific performance of any provision which reasonably 
lends itself to such a remedy; 

2. Make a claim against any surety with respect to the 
Performance Bond which may be required to be posted; 



3. Restrain by injunction the default or reasonably anticipated 
default by the Company of any provision of this Agreement; 

4. Seek any other available remedy permitted by law or in equity; 

5. Take any other action which it deems appropriate to enforce the City's rights 
under this Agreement in lieu of revocation of the Agreement. 

(e) Revocation of FranchiseIPublic Hearing. In addition to the remedies stated above, 
the City may schedule a public hearing to investigate the Breach and consider whether to 
terminate this Agreement and revoke the Franchise. The City shall notify the Company in 
writing of the time and place of such hearing. Such public hearing may be held at the next 
regularly scheduled meeting of the City's governing body, or at such other time and place which 
is scheduled not less than five business days from the City's notice of hearing. At that hearing 
the City shall give the Company an opportunity to state its position concerning the Breach and 
otherwise be heard, after which its governing body shall determine whether or not this 
Agreement shall be terminated and the Franchise be revoked. In that event, the City may 
terminate the Agreement and the revoke the Franchise effective ten (10) days following the 
determination by it governing body to terminate this Agreement. 

(0 Nothing herein shall preclude the Company from petitioning the Circuit Court of 
Jefferson County, Alabama to challenge a determination by the governing body of the City to 
terminate this Agreement and revoke the Franchise. Such challenge must be taken within thirty 
(30) days of the issuance of that determination. 

(g) Obligations of Company on Expiration or Early Termination of Agreement. Upon the 
expiration or early termination of this Agreement for any reason, the City may request that the 
Company, at its own expense and within a reasonable amount of time following that request, 
remove from the ROW any equipment or facilities that the Company placed thereon to provide 
its services and restore the surrounding property to the condition that existed prior to its 
installation. Any equipment not removed by the Company following that request may be left in 
place by the Company and deemed abandoned. Further, although the respective obligations of 
the Parties concerning further use of the ROW will cease upon the expiration or early 
termination of this Agreement, the Company's obligations to pay Franchise Fees, to permit the 
City to perform audits, to furnish information to the City required hereunder, and to indemnify 
the City and provide insurance with respect to events occurring before the termination shall 
survive and remain in effect for a period of two (2) years following the expiration or effective 
date of early termination. 

10. Designated Representatives/Notices. 

The Parties appoint their respective representatives below to coordinate with the other on 
all matters pertinent to the administration of this Agreement (the "Designated Representative"). 



Designated Representative for City: 
City of Mountain Brook, Alabama 
ATTENTION: City Manager 
56 Church Street 
Mountain Brook, AL 352 13 

Designated Representative of Company: 
Southern Light, LLC 
ATTENTION: Kelly McGriff 
General Counsel 
107 St. Francis Street - Suite 1800 
Mobile, AL 36602 

Each Designated Representative also shall have the authority to act on behalf of its respective 
organization to transmit instructions and receive information. Either Party may substitute a 
Designated Representative other than the person named above upon provision of written notice. 

Any notice required hereunder to be sent in writing shall be sufficiently given (a) in 
writing and (b) when sent to the Designated Representative for the other Party via United States 
certified mail, return receipt requested, or via overnight courier with receipt verification to the 
address set forth herein, or by personally delivering such notice to the Party to be in receipt 
thereof. 

11. Miscellaneous. 

a. Amendment. This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written 
instrument that is executed by duly authorized representatives of both Parties. 

b. Construction Words of any gender used in this Agreement shall be held and construed 
to include any other gender, and words in singular number shall be held to include the plural and 
vice versa, unless context requires otherwise. The captions used in connection with the sections 
of this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not be deemed to construe or limit the 
meaning of the language contained in this Agreement, or be used in interpreting the meanings 
and provisions of this Agreement. 

c. No Presumption against Drafter. The Parties acknowledge that each Party and its 
counsel have had the opportunity to review and revise this Agreement, and the normal rule of 
construction to the effect that any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall 
not be employed in the interpretation of this Agreement or any amendments or exhibits thereto. 

d. Entire Agreement This Agreement (including the attached Exhibit A) constitutes the 
entire agreement between the City and Company with respect to the subject matter contained 
herein and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous discussions, agreements, andlor 
representations of or between them, whether oral or written, regarding the subject matter hereof. 

e. No Waiver. The failure of either Party to enforce any of the terms, conditions or 
provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed as a subsequent waiver of the right to compel 



enforcement of that or any other term, condition or provision. The respective rights, benefits and 
obligations under this Agreement may be waived only in a writing signed by the Parties. 

f. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon and for the benefit of each of 
the Parties and their respective principals, managers, officials, offices, directors, shareholders, 
agents, employees, attorneys, successors and assigns. and any parent, subsidiary or affiliated 
corporation or entity, as applicable. 

g. Counterpart Execution. This Agreement may be signed in one or more counterparts, 
each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the 
same agreement. Signature pages may be transmitted by facsimile and any signature transmitted 
by facsimile will be given the same force and effect as an original signature. 

h. Choice of Law. This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted according to the 
laws of the State of Alabama. 

i. Assignment. The Company's interest in this Agreement and the Franchise shall not be 
assigned, sold, transferred, or otherwise encumbered or disposed of, either by forced or voluntary 
sale or otherwise, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. The City reserves the right to be reimbursed by the Company for costs 
incurred by it in reviewing the request for transfer of ownership. 

j. Independent Contractors. The City and Company are independent contractors. The 
Company exclusively controls the methods and means by which it conducts its operations. 
Further, neither this Agreement nor any provision herein is intended make either Party the agent, 
fiduciary or partner of the other, or grant either Party any authority to bind the other to any 
obligation with a third party. 

k. Other Representations. The Company and the City each represent to the other that it 
has the requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement, that each has secured all 
necessary board, corporate or other required approval to enter this Agreement, and that its 
undersigned representatives are authorized to execute below on behalf of their respective 
organization. 

m. Cooperation. The Company and the City shall cooperate fully with one another to 
execute any and all other documents and take whatever any additional actions (including, 
without limitation, the processing of permits) that may be necessary or appropriate to give full 
force and effect to the terms and intent of this Agreement. 

n. No Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing contained in this Agreement is intended or shall 
be construed as creating or conferring any rights, benefits or remedies upon, or creating any 
obligations of the Parties hereto toward any person or entity not a Party to this Agreement 

o. Attorneys' Fees. If (i) either Party breaches its obligations to the other hereunder, (ii) 
the non-defaulting Party should employ attorneys or incur other expenses in any legal action 
regarding such breach of this Agreement, and (iii) the non-defaulting Party secures a final 
judgment before a court of competent jurisdiction or obtains other relief from an administrative 
body related thereto against the defaulting Party, the losing Party in that proceeding will pay the 



prevailing Party its reasonable attorneys' fees and other reasonable expenses that are incurred in 
that breach-of-contract action. 

p. Severability. If any provision, part, section or subdivision of this Agreement shall be 
held invalid, illegal, unconstitutional or unenforceable for any reason, such holding shall not be 
construed to invalidate or impair its remaining provisions, which shall continue in full force and 
effect notwithstanding such holding. 

q. Exclusion of Consequential Damages. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER 
PROVISION IN THIS AGREEMENT, THE COMPANY AGREES THAT, IN THE EVENT IT 
MAKES OR ASSERTS ANY CLAIM, DEMAND OR ACTION OF ANY TYPE AGAINST 
THE CITY ARISING FROM ITS ALLEGED BREACH OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ITS 
FAILURE TO PERFORM ANY OF ITS OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER, THE MAXIMUM 
AMOUNT THAT THE COMPANY MAY RECOVER FROM THE CITY AS DAMAGES IN 
ANY SUCH ACTION IS LIMITED TO THE COMPANY'S ACTUAL, DIRECT DAMAGES 
ARISING FROM THE CITY'S BREACH. THE COMPANY AGREES AND 
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE TERMS HEREIN WERE PROPOSED AND BASED ON 
THE ASSUMPTION THAT THIS SPECIFIC LIMITATION IS APPLICABLE, AND THAT 
THE CITY WOULD NOT HAVE ENTERED INTO THIS AGREEMENT WITHOUT THE 
INCLUSION OF THIS LIMITATION. IN NO EVENT WILL THE CITY BE LIABLE TO 
THE COMPANY FOR ANY INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, PUNITIVE, 
RELIANCE OR SPECIAL DAMAGES (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION DAMAGES 
FOR LOST PROFITS, LOST ADVANTAGE, LOST OPPORTUNITY, LOSS OF SAVINGS 
OR REVENUES OR FOR INCREASED COST OF OPERATIONS) ARISING FROM ANY 
BREACH OR ALLEGED BREACH OF THIS AGREEMENT BY THE CITY. 

r. LicensingILaws. Before commencing any operations contemplated hereunder, the 
Company, at its own expense, will obtain all licenses, permits or other governmental 
authorizations needed to construct the System, provide its services and perform its Operations, 
including without limitation, any business license issued by applicable governing authorities 
("Licensing"). The Company agrees to maintain that Licensing throughout the performance of 
this Agreement. 

s. Immigration Act. The Company represents and warrants that (a) it does not knowingly 
employ, hire for employment, or continue to employ an "unauthorized alien," as defined by the 
Beason-Hammon Alabama Taxpayer and Citizen Protection Act, Act No. 201 1-535 (H. B. 56), 
as amended from time to time (the "Act") and that, during the performance of this Agreement, 
(a) it shall participate in the E-Verify program as required under the terms of the Act; (b) it will 
comply with all applicable provisions of the Act with respect to its contractors by entering into 
an agreement with or by obtaining an affidavit from such contractors providing that such 
contractors are in compliance with the Act with respect to their participation in the E-verify 
program; (c) it shall not hire, retain or contract with any contractor that it knows is not in 
compliance with the Act; and (d) if it is found to be in violation of this provision, the Company 
shall be deemed in breach of this Agreement and shall be responsible for all damages resulting 
therefrom. 

(Signature Page Follows) 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto, by their duly authorized representatives, 
have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 

SOUTHERN LIGHT, LLC 

By: 

Name: 

Title: 

Date: 

CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK, ALABAMA 

By: 

Name: 

Date: 



EXHIBIT A - INITIAL PROPOSED ROUTE OF SYSTEM 

See attached Map. 

























ORDINANCE NO. 1926 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTIONS 109-3 1,109-32,109-195,109-227, AND 18-20 
OF THE CITY CODE AND ADOPTING 2015 VERSIONS OF SPECIFIED TECHICAL CODES 
RELATING TO INSPECTION ACTIVITIES, ENFORCEMENT OF BUILDING PROVISIONS 

AS PROVIDED IN SAID CODES AND FIRE PREVENTION 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama (the "City Council") 
heretofore has adopted various technical codes promulgated by the International Code Council (the 
"ICC") and the National Fire Protection Association relating to buildings, residences and other structures 
in the City of Mountain Brook (the "City"), and operations in the City concerning fuel gas, mechanical, 
plumbing, and fire protection and life safety (collectively, the "Technical Codes"); 

WHEREAS, the City Council desires that, except to the extent specified herein, the City adopt, 
the 201 5 versions of the Technical Codes (the "201 5 Technical Codes") that are specified herein for use 
and application for buildings and structures within its corporate limits; 

WHEREAS, the adoption of the 201 5 Technical Codes by reference is authorized by § 1 1-45-8 
Code of Alabama (1975); and 

WHEREAS, the adoption of the 2015 Technical Codes will facilitate the performance of 
inspection activities by the City, and promote the public safety, health and general welfare of its citizens 
and owners, occupants and users of buildings and structures in the City. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City as follows: 

Section 1. Section 109-3 1 of the City Code is hereby repealed and replaced with the following: 

"Sec. 109-31. Building Codes-Adoption by reference. 

(a) Except as provided herein, the International Building Code - 2015 
Edition ("ICC Building Code") and International Residential Code - 201 5 Edition 
(the "IRC"), both published by the ICC and available for purchase at 900 
Montclair Road, Birmingham, Alabama, are hereby adopted as the Building 
Code of the City by reference as though they were copied herein. 

(b) With respect to the ICC Building Code and the IRC, the City modifies the 
forms proposed by the ICC as follows: 

(i) Section [A1 10 1.4. of ICC Building Code - Referenced codes: The 
following codes that are referenced in this Section of the ICC Building 
Code are not adopted: (a) the International Property Maintenance Code 
referenced in Section 101.4.4; and (b) the International Existing 
Building Code referenced in Section 10 1.4.7. 

(ii) Section TAl 109.2 of ICC Buildinp Code & Section R108.2 of IRC 
- Schedule of Permit Fees: These Sections are not adopted in the form 
proposed by the ICC, and are replaced in their entirety with the 
following: 



Schedule of Permit Fees. On buildings, structures, electrical, 
gas, mechanical, and plumbing systems or alterations 
requiring a permit, a fee or fees as set forth in City Code 
Section 14-1 shall be paid at the time of filing application, in 
accordance with such fee schedule as shall be set from time to 
time by the city council. A list of such fees shall be kept on 
file in the city clerk's office. 

(iii) Sections [A1 11 1.1 of ICC Building Code & R1lO.l of IRC - Use 
and Occupancy. These Sections are not adopted in the form proposed 
by the ICC, and are replaced in their entirety with the following: 

"Use and occupancy. No residential building or structure 
shall be used or occupied, and no change in the existing 
occupancy classification of a residential building or structure 
or portion thereof shall be made until the building official has 
issued a certificate of occupancy which has been signed by 
the building official and the City Manager. No commercial 
building or structure shall be used or occupied, and no change 
in the existing occupancy classification of a commercial 
building or structure or portion thereof shall be made until the 
building official has issued a certificate of occupancy which 
has been signed by the building off~cial, the fire official, and 
the City Manager. A certificate of occupancy shall not be 
issued until after the City Manager shall have determined that 
the building conforms to all provisions and regulations of the 
city with respect thereto, including its use under the zoning 
ordinances of the city. A certificate of occupancy (whether a 
temporary certificate of the regular certificate) issued without 
the signature or the building official, fire official (in the case 
of commercial buildings), and the City Manager shall not be 
deemed to be a certificate of occupancy issued under this 
code or under the city's zoning ordinance. 

(iv) Sections TAl 113 of ICC Building Code & R112 of the IRC - 
Board of Appeals. These Sections are not adopted in the form proposed 
by the ICC, and are replaced in their entirety with the following: 

"Appeals regarding the application of the adopted building 
codes may be presented to the City Manager for 
consideration. The City Manager may elect to render a 
decision on such appeal or remand the appeal to the board of 
zoning adjustment. In cases where the appeal is heard by the 
City Manager and a decision is rendered, the appellant, if not 
satisfied with the decision, may then appeal to the board of 
zoning adjustment. 

The board of zoning adjustment of the City of Mountain 
Brook, Alabama, as said board is prescribed by Section 11- 
52-80 Code of Alabama (1975), as amended, shall constitute 
a board of adjustments and appeals under these codes." 



(v) Sections TA1114.4 of ICC Building Code & R113.4 of IRC- 
Violation Penalties. These Sections are not adopted in the form 
proposed by the ICC, and are replaced in their entirety with the 
following: 

R113.4 Violation Penalties. Any person who violates a 
provision of these codes or fails to comply with any of the 
requirements thereof or who erects, constructs, alters or 
repairs a building or structure in violation of the approved 
construction documents or directive of the building official, 
or of a permit or certificate issued under the provisions of 
these codes, shall be subject to penalties as prescribed by law. 

In instances where a person commences work prior to making 
application for a required permit, all applicable permit fees 
shall be doubled. Once notified in writing by the building 
official of the City that a report or building permit application 
must be submitted, such person must submit such report 
within ten (10) days. Persons who fail to make such report 
within the time period required shall be subject to additional 
penalties as provided under Sec. 1-6.1 of the City Code and 
by 8 13A- 10-4 of the Code of Alabama. 

(vi) Chapter 11 of IRC- Enerm Efficiency. This Chapter is adopted 
except as follows: (a) notwithstanding any provisions contained 
in Chapter 11 or elsewhere in the IRC, the Energy Efficiency 
requirements in the IRC shall not be applicable to the repair, 
renovation, alteration or reconstruction of existing buildings and 
structures; and (b) the minimum standards for insulation to be 
used in connection with the repair, renovation, alteration or 
reconstruction of existing buildings and structures shall not be 
less than R-30 for ceiling spaces, R-13 for walls and R-19 for 
floors. 

(vii) Section P2904 of the IRC- dwell in^ Unit Fire Sprinkler 
Systems. This Section is adopted, but the following provision is added 
as P2904.8.9: 

P2904.8.9 Residential Sprinkler Exemption. 
Notwithstanding any provision in this Section P2904 or 
elsewhere in the IRC, any homeowner, upon application to 
the City's building official, may request an exemption to the 
sprinkler system requirements of P2904.1 for a dwelling and 
such exemption shall be granted upon satisfaction of each of 
the following: 

a. The applicant must either confer with the City Fire 
Marshal or his or her designee about the benefits of installing 
a residential fire sprinkler system or review presentation 



materials developed by the Fire Marshal concerning sprinkler 
systems; 

b. The applicant must certify that he or she has met the 
requirements in subsection (a) above, and fully understands 
and acknowledges the risks of opting not to install a 
residential fire sprinkler system; 

Exceptions: 

i. No exemption shall be granted for any dwelling 
constructed less than 5 feet from the property line; and 

ii. No exemption shall be granted for 2-family dwelling 
units." 

Section 2. Section 109-32 of the City Code, which reflected amendments to the previously 
enacted Section 109-3 1, is hereby repealed and replaced by the following: 

"Sec. 109-32. Same - Amendments - Reserved." 

Section 3. Section 109-195 of the City Code is repealed and replaced with the following: 

"Sec. 109-195. Gas and Mechanical Codes-Adoption by reference. 

(a) Except as provided herein, the International Fuel Gas Code - 2015 Edition 
(the "Gas Code") and International Mechanical Code - 2015 Edition (the 
"Mechanical Code"), both published by International Code Council ("ICC") and 
available for purchase at 900 Montclair Road, Birmingham, Alabama, are hereby 
adopted as the Gas and Mechanical Code of the City by reference as though they 
were copied herein." 

(b) With respect to the Gas Code and the Mechanical Code, the City amends the 
form proposed by the ICC as follows: 

(i) Sections [A] 106.6.2 of Gas Code & TA1106.5.2 of Mechanical Code 
- Fee Schedule. These Sections are not adopted in the form proposed 
by the ICC, and are replaced in their entirety with the following: 

"Schedule of Permit Fees. On buildings, structures, 
electrical, gas, mechanical, and plumbing systems or 
alterations requiring a permit, a fee or fees as set forth in City 
Code Section .&l shall be paid at the time of filing 
application, in accordance with such fee schedule as shall be 
set from time to time by the city council. A list of such fees 
shall be kept on file in the city clerk's office." 

(ii) Sections TAl 108.4 of Gas Code & Mechanical Codes- Violation 
Penalties. These Sections are not adopted in the form proposed by the 
ICC, and are replaced in their entirety with the following: 



"[A] 108.4 Violation Penalties. Any person who violates a 
provision of these codes or fails to comply with any of the 
requirements thereof or who erects, constructs, alters or 
repairs a building or structure in violation of the approved 
construction documents or directive of the building official, 
or of a permit or certificate issued under the provisions of this 
code, shall be subject to penalties as prescribed by law. 

In instances where a person commences work prior to making 
application for a required permit, all applicable permit fees 
shall be doubled. Once notified in writing by the building 
official of the City that a report or building permit application 
must be submitted, such person must submit such, report 
within ten (10) days. Persons who fail to make such report 
within the time period required shall be subject to additional 
penalties as provided under Sec. 1-6.1 of the city code and by 
§ 13A- 10-4 of the Code of Alabama." 

(iii) Sections 109 of Gas Code & Mechanical Code - Means of 
Appeals. These Sections in these codes are not adopted in the form 
proposed by the ICC, and are replaced in their entirety with the 
following: 

"Appeals regarding the application of the adopted building 
codes may be presented to the City Manager for 
consideration. The City Manager may elect to render a 
decision on such appeal or remand the appeal to the board of 
zoning adjustment. In cases where the appeal is heard by the 
City Manager and a decision is rendered, the appellant, if not 
satisfied with the decision, may then appeal to the board of 
zoning adjustment. 

The board of zoning adjustment of the City of Mountain 
Brook, Alabama, as said board is prescribed by Section 11-  
52-80 Code of Alabama (1975), as amended, shall constitute 
a board of adjustments and appeals under these codes." 

Section 4. Section 109-227 of the City Code is repealed and replaced with the following: 

"Sec. 109-227. Plumbing Code-Adoption by reference. 

(a) Except as provided herein, the International Plumbing Code - 2015 Edition 
published by International Code Council ("ICC") (the "Plumbing Code) and 
available for purchase at 900 Montclair Road, Birmingham, Alabama, is hereby 
adopted as the Plumbing Code of the City by reference as though it were copied 
herein. 

(b) With respect to the Plumbing Code, the City amends the form proposed by 
the ICC as follows: 



(i) Section [A1 106.6.2 of Plumbing Code - Fee Schedule. This Section 
is not adopted in the form proposed by the ICC, and is replaced in its 
entirety with the following: 

Schedule of Permit Fees. On buildings, structures, electrical, 
gas, mechanical, and plumbing systems or alterations 
requiring a permit, a fee or fees as set forth in City Code 
Section 14-1 shall be paid at the time of filing application, in 
accordance with such fee schedule as shall be set from time to 
time by the city council. A list of such fees shall be kept on 
file in the city clerk's office. 

(ii) Section TAl 108.4 of Plumbing Code - Violation Penalties. This 
Section is not adopted, and is replaced in its entirety with the following: 

[A] 108.4 Violation Penalties. Any person who violates a 
provision of this code or fails to comply with any of the 
requirements thereof or who erects, constructs, alters or 
repairs a building or structure in violation of the approved 
construction documents or directive of the building official, 
or of a permit or certificate issued under the provisions of this 
code, shall be subject to penalties as prescribed by law. 

In instances where a person commences work prior to making 
application for a required permit, all applicable permit fees 
shall be doubled. Once notified in writing by the building 
official of the City that a report or building permit application 
must be submitted, such person must submit such report 
within ten (10) days. Persons who fail to, make such report 
within the time period required shall be subject to additional 
penalties as provided under Sec. 1-6.1 of the City Code and 
by 5 13A- 10-4 of the Code of Alabama." 

(iii) Section 109 of Plumbinrr Code - Means of Appeals. This Section is 
not adopted and is replaced in its entirety with the following: 

Appeals regarding the application of the adopted building 
code may be presented to the city manager for consideration. 
The City Manager may elect to render a decision on such 
appeal or remand the appeal to the board of zoning 
adjustment. In cases where the appeal is heard by the City 
Manager and a decision is rendered, the appellant, if not 
satisfied with the decision, may then appeal to the board of 
zoning adjustment. 

The board of zoning adjustment of the City of Mountain 
Brook, Alabama, as said board is prescribed by Section 11- 
52-80 Code of Alabama (1975), as amended, shall constitute 
a board of adjustments and appeals under this code." 



Section 5. Section 18-20 of the City Code is repealed and replaced with the following: 

"Sec. 18-20. Fire Prevention Code - Adoption by reference 

(a) Except as provided herein, the International Fire Code - 2015 Edition 
published by the International Code Council ("ICC") and available for purchase 
at 900 Montclair Road, Birmingham, Alabama (the "Fire Code"), and the Life 
Safety Code CNFPA 101) - 2015 Edition, available for purchase from the 
National Fire Protection Association, 1 Batterymarch Park, Quincy, MA, or by 
calling (800) 344-3555 (the "Life Safety Code"), are hereby adopted as the Fire 
Prevention Code of the City by reference as though they were copied herein. 

(b) With respect to the Fire Code, the City amends the form proposed by the ICC 
as follows: 

(i) Section 108 - Board of Appeals. This Section of the Fire Code is not 
adopted and is replaced in its entirety with the following: 

Appeals regarding the application of the adopted code may be 
presented to the city manager for consideration. The city 
manager may elect to render a decision on such appeal or 
remand the appeal to the board of zoning adjustment. In 
cases where the appeal is heard by the city manager and a 
decision is rendered, the appellant, if not satisfied with the 
decision, may then appeal to the board of zoning adjustment. 

The board of zoning adjustment of the City of Mountain 
Brook, Alabama, as said board is prescribed by Section 11- 
52-80 Code of Alabama (1975), as amended, shall constitute 
a board of adjustments and appeals under this code. 

(ii) Section TAl 109.4 - Violation Penalties. This Section of the Fire 
Code is not adopted and is replaced in its entirety with the following: 

[A] 109.4 Violation Penalties. Any person who violates a 
provision of this code or fails to comply with any of the 
requirements thereof or who erects, constructs, alters or 
repairs a building or structure in violation of the approved 
construction documents or directive of the fire code official, 
or of a permit or certificate issued under the provisions of this 
code, shall be subject to penalties as prescribed by law. 

In instances where a person commences work prior to making 
application for a required permit, all applicable permit fees 
shall be doubled. Once notified in writing by the building or 
fire official of the City that a report or building permit 
application must be submitted, such person must submit such 
report within ten (10) days. Persons who fail to make such 
report within the time period required shall be subject to 
additional penalties as provided under Sec. 1-6.1 of the City 
Code and by 5 13A- 10-4 of the Code of Alabama." 



(iii) Section TAl 113.2 - Schedule of permit fees. This Section of the 
Fire Code is not adopted, and is replaced in its entirety with the 
following: 

Schedule of Permit Fees. On buildings, structures, and other 
matters under this code that require a permit, a fee or fees as 
set forth in City Code Section 14-1 shall be paid at the time of 
filing application, in accordance with such fee schedule as 
shall be set from time to time by the City Council. A list of 
such fees shall be kept on file in the City Clerk's office. 

(iv) Section 912.2 - Location (of Fire Department Connections). This 
Section of the Fire Code is not adopted, and is replaced in its entirety 
with the following: 

9.1.2.2 Location. Fire department connections shall be 
located not more than 100 feet from the nearest fire hydrant. 
With respect to hydrants, driveways, buildings and 
landscaping, fire department connections shall be so located 
that the fire apparatus and hose connected to supply the 
system will not obstruct access to the buildings for other fire 
apparatus. The location of the department connections shall 
be approved by the fire chief or fire official. 

(v) Ado~tion of Certain Appendices: The provisions of Appendix B - 
Fire-Flow Requirements for Buildings, Appendix C - Fire Hydrant 
Locations and Distribution, and Appendix D - Fire Apparatus Access 
Roads each are adopted in their entirety. 

(c) With respect to the Life Safety Code, the City amends the form proposed by 
the National Fire Protection Association as follows: 

(i) Chapter 24 - One-and Two Family Dwellings. This Chapter is not 
adopted. 

(ii) Reserved." 

Section 6. This ordinance is cumulative in nature and is in addition to any power and authority 
which the City of Mountain Brook may have under any other ordinance or law. 

Section 7. If any part, section or subdivision of this ordinance shall be held unconstitutional or 
invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to invalidate or impair the remainder of this 
ordinance, which shall continue in full force and effect, notwithstanding such holding. 

Section 8. Any provisions herein that the City has adopted that deviate from the Technical Codes 
that are adopted by reference shall prevail over any conflicting provision of those Technical Codes. All 
other ordinances or parts of ordinances heretofore adopted by the City Council of the City of Mountain 
Brook, Alabama, which are inconsistent with the provisions of this ordinance, are hereby expressly 
repealed. 



In addition, when a provision in the adopted Technical Codes or this Ordinance refers to the 
duties of certain named officials, the official of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama whose duties most 
closely correspond to those of such named official shall be deemed the official responsible for the 
enforcement of said provision. 

Section 9. The effective date of this Ordinance shall be April 1,2015. 

ADOPTED: This 9th day of February, 2015. 

Council President 

APPROVED: This 9th day of February, 2015. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby certify the above to 
be a true and correct copy of an ordinance adopted by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, 
Alabama, as its meeting held on February 9,201 5, as same appears in the minutes of record of said 
meeting, and published by posting copies thereof on February 10,2015, at the following public places, 
which copies remained posted for five (5) days as required by law. 

City Hall, 56 Church Street 
Gilchrist Pharmacy, 2850 Cahaba Road 
The Invitation Place, 3 150 Overton Road 
Overton Park, 3020 Overton Road 

City Clerk 



Page 1 of 2 

Sam Gaston 

From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Philip Black 

Wednesday, January 14,2015 9:29 AM 

Sam Gaston; Rob Walker; James Carter; hanklong@bellsouth.net; 
lauren@barrettarchstudio.com 

Jerry Weems; Carole Epstein 

Subject: RE: Building Code ordinance 

Attachments: 2015 ICC Important Changes FINAL.pdf 

Sam / Jerry: 
I have attached a helpful table of changes to the codes published by the National Multifamily Housing Council 
which summarizes: Code citation involved, type of change, possible cost implications (Cost Increase or 
Decrease), and comments. 
From my review and general understanding of the changes and from discussion from some of my colleagues, the 
limited number of revisions which result in increased cost do benefit the public health safety and welfare. These 
are mostly residential and multifamily fire protection and detection (particularly carbon monoxide detection) 
systems that might affect Mountain Brook residents. The other notable changes are more geared towards 
highrise and institutional healthcare occupancies. The remaining changes are for clarity, and coordination 
among the codes and other standards. 
Another significant change is the deletion from the IBC of Chapter 34 dealing with existing buildings. The ICC 
Board of Directors and membership decided that existing buildings should be addressed by the International 
Existing Building Code (IEBC). 
In my opinion, I would recommend adoption of the new code editions. 
Please let me know if you have any questions. 

From: Sam Gaston [mailto:gastons@mtnbrook.org] 
Sent: Tuesday, January 13, 2015 354 PM 
To: Rob Walker; Philip Black; James Carter; hanklong@bellsouth.net; lauren@barrettarchstudio.com 
Cc: Jerry Weems; Carole Epstein 
Subject: RE: Building Code ordinance 

The week before if you have any comments. 

Sam S.Gaston 
City Manager 
City of Mountain Brook, AL. 
56 Church Street 
P.O. Box 130009 
Mountain Brook AL. 3521 3 
(205) 802-3803 Phone 
(205) 870-3577 Fax 

From: Rob Walker [mailto:rob@nv4arch.com] 
Sent: Tuesday, January 13, 2015 3:17 PM 
To: Sam Gaston; Philip Black; James Carter; hanklonq@bellsouth.net; lauren@barrettarchstudio.com 
Cc: weemsi@mtnbrook.orq; Carole Epstein 
Subject: RE: Building Code ordinance 

Sam- 
I will take a look and let you know if there are any issues. 



Page 2 of 2 

With the understanding that meeting is on 219, by when do you need any feedback? 

Rob Walker, AIA - LEED AP 
Rob Walker Architects. LLC 
2229 First Avenue South - Suite l I 0  

Birmingham, AL 35233 
ph.205.254.32 12 
ce11.205.542.0342 

From: Sam Gaston [mailto:gastons@mtnbrook.ora] 
Sent: Tuesday, January 13, 2015 3:13 PM 
To: Philip Black; Rob Walker; James Carter; hanklonaBbellsouth.net; laurenBbarrettarchstudio.com 
Cc: weemsi@mtnbrook.or Carole Epstein 
Subject: FW: Building Code ordinance 

Gentlemen, 
The City will consider adopting the 2015 International Building, Residential, Fuel Gas, Mechanical, Plumbing and 
Fire Codes at its February gth meeting. The Council asked me to contact you to see if you had time to review 
some of these codes and give us feedback prior to the February gth meeting. Do you see any major problems 
for architects, builders and property owners by the adoption of these codes? 
Copies of the codes are on file in the Building Inspections Office, on top of the white map file, or at the 
International Code Congress office on Montclair. 

Sam S.Gaston 
City Manager 
City of Mountain Brook, AL. 
56 Church Street 
P.O. Box 130009 
Mountain Brook AL. 3521 3 
(205) 802-3803 Phone 
(205) 870-3577 Fax 

From: Steve Boone [mailto:boones@mtnbrook.orqJ 
Sent: Tuesday, January 13, 2015 11:38 AM 
To: Sam Gaston 
Cc: Jerry N. Weems 
Subject: Building Code ordinance 

For distribution to selected architects 

Steven Boone 
City of Mountain Brook 
P. 0. BOX 130009 
Mountain Brook, AL 35213-0009 
Direct: (205) 802-3825 
Facsimile: (205) 874-061 1 

www.mfnbrook.org 
littp://mfnbrookcitv. blogspot.com/ 
Twittea: @pountain- brook 



BACKGROUNDER I OCTOBER 2014 

2015 ICC Model Codes 
Summary of Important 
Changes 

The 201 5 International Code Council (ICC) model building codes were complet- 
ed in June 2014 and are now available for adoption at the state and local level. 
This document summarizes the significant changes made between the 2012 and 
2015 codes that affect apartments (Residential R-2) and commercial occupancies. 
For the first time, the National Multifamily Housing Council (NMHC), National 
Apartment Association (NAA), Building Owners and Managers Association 
(BOMA) and National Association of Home Builders (NAHB) encourage state 
and local jurisdictions to consider adopting the 2015 I-Codes when updating their 
state or local codes. Two exceptions to this are noted in this document. 

Importantly, this summary does not include all the changes, and therefore devel- 
opers and designers need to consult the codes for other changes that may impact a 
specific design. For each change, the tables included indicate whether the change 
is likely to result in higher or lower costs (or whether the impact is unknown). 

National Multifamily Housing Council 
1850 M Street, NW, Suite 540 
Washington. DC 20036 

202 974 2300 Phone I www.nrnhc.org 

0 This document may not be reproduced or reuansnuned electron~cally. In whole or In part, mmout permlrslon from the Nanonal Mulhfarmly Hounng Council 



This Backgrounder reviews the key changes between the 2012 and 2015 ICC Codes that affect apartments (Res- 
idential R-2) and commercial properties. The good news for designers and developers is that for the first time 
ever, NMHCfNAA, BOMA and NAHB encourage state and local jurisdictions to consider adopting the 2015 I- 
Codes when updating their state or local codes. There are two exceptions to this, however. The first is the In- 
ternational Green Construction Code (IgCC) which has not been published. The second is the International En- 
ergy Conservation Code (IECC), which we suggest be amended in some key areas. Those recommendations are 
included in a separate document titled Recommended Amendments to the 2015 International Energy Conserva- 
tion Code (IECC). 

Although the codes can largely be adopted as is, they do contain meaningful changes. Therefore, designers and 
developers need to be aware of several changes in the 2015 codes that will impact apartments and commercial 
properties. Many of the changes benefit apartment and commercial construction, and taken as a whole these 
positive changes more than offset the changes that might increase construction costs. 

The most beneficial changes, by far, are the ones dealing with podiudpedestal buildings. Most notably, the 
2015 codes remove the restriction limiting the podiudpedestal portion of the building to one story. As a result, 
the podiumlpedestal portion can go to any height without imposing a limit on the number of stories allowed in 
the property. The restrictions on occupancies allowed in the podiudpedestal portion of the building have also 
been revised. In the 2015 codes, the only restriction remaining is that this portion of the building cannot contain 
a Group H (hazard) type occupancy. 

Other beneficial changes include: a rewrite of "Chapter 5, Heights and Area" that makes it more user friendly; 
new requirements for donut-type construction that establish provisions for separating the garage from the apart- 
ment building; permitted uses of NFPA 13R sprinkler systems; and use of cross-laminated and fire-retardant- 
treated lumber. 

The ICC codes included in this summary: 

201 5 International Building Code (IBC) 
20 15 International Fire Code (IFC) 
20 15 International Existins Building Code (IEBC) 
2015 lnternational Plumbing Code (IPC) 
2015 International Energy Conservation Code (IECC) 
Note: A separate document is available that identifies recommended changes to the IECC during the 
local adoption process. 
20 15 lnternational h4echanical Code (IMC) 
2015 International Fuel Gas Code (IFGC) 

The changes are organized by the cost impact they will have. Changes noted as "Decrease" could have a major 
impact on how a structure is built and, in several cases, they clarify unclear or misinterpreted code requirements. 
Major cost-saving changes include: 

1. Removal of the height restriction on the pedestal/podium portion of buildings. 
2. Removal of the limitation on occupancies permitted in the pedestallpodium portion of the building with 

the exception of not permitting Type H occupancies. 
3. Redefine how private garages can be used in multifamily buildings. 
4. Determination of building heights, area and setbacks. 
5. Separation of the apartment building from garages in donut type construction. 

201s ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT CHANGES - OCTOBER 2014 



6 .  Application of the NFPA 13R sprinkler system. 
7. Design and use of assembly occupancies on building roofs. 

Changes noted as "Increase" are important and will impact specific requirements within the building. Major 
changes in this category include: 

1. Requirements for a secondary sprinkler water supply in Seismic Design Category C, D, E, or F. 
2. New requirements for opening protective glazing. 
3. Use of limited area sprinkler systems. 
4. Requirements for alarm systems in college and university buildings. 

The changes noted as having cost implication of "None" or "Unknown" need special attention because they will 
impact the building design and could have an impact on specific provisions in the code. Major changes here 
include: 

1. Revision to requirements on dampers protecting ceiling membrane. 
2. Use of cross-laminated and fire-resistant lumber. 
3. Location of smoke alarms near kitchens and bathrooms. 
4. Use of smoke detection systems as alternative to providing smoke alarms. 
5. Measurement of exit and exit access configuration. 

One additional note: Special awareness should be given to any attempts to adopt Appendix L - Fire Fighter Air 
Replenishment Systems and Appendix M - High-Rise Retro Active Installation of Automatic Sprinkler Systems. 
Appendix items are not part of the code unless they are specifically included during the code adoption process. 

Designers and builders need to consult the 20 15 ICC codes that are not listed for changes that may be of concern 
to specific projects. 

201s ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY O F  IMPORTANT CHANGES -OCTOBER 2014 



2015 ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY O F  IMPORTANT CHANGES - OCTOBER 2014 

Section (s) and Issue(s) 

IBC 202 Definition of 
"Private Garage," 406.3.1 
"Classification," 406.3.2 
"Clear Height" 

IBC 202 Definition of "Fire 
Retardant Treated Wood" 

IBC 503 through 506 Build- 
ing Heights and Area Re- 
quirements 

IBC 5 10.2 "Horizontal 
Building Separation" (i.e., 
Podium/Pedestal 
Structures) 

IBC 705.3 Exception #2 
"Buildings on the Same Lot" 

Important 

o p e  of Chattge 

Major Change 

Major Change 

Makes Code 
More User 
Friendly 

Major Change 

New Provision 

Changes to 

Cost 
Iinplication 
Decrease 

Decrease 

Decrease 

Decrease 

Decrease 

the 2015 IBC 

Comn~ent 

Private garages are no longer limited to a maximum 
of 3,000 sq. ft. in a building. Multiple private gar- 
ages, each a maximum of 1,000 sq. ft., each sepa- 
rated by one-hour fire barriers or horizontal assem- 
blies are now permitted based on their U occupancy 
classification. Also, a minimum of 7' clear height 
will be required in private garages. 
Revised definition to permit other treatment meth- 
ods by other than the pressure process. See also IBC 
Sections 2303.2.2 and 2303.2.3 for further explana- 
tion. 
2012 IBC Table 503 was replaced with the 2015 
IBC Tables 504.3, 504.4 and 506.2 with NO chang- 
es in the technical application, making the code 
more user-friendly. The maximum allowable height 
and number of stories can now be determined di- 
rectly from Tables 504.3 and 504.4. The maximum 
allowable sprinkler area increase can also now be 
determined directly from Table 506.2. 
2012 IBC Section 510.2(2) that limited the Type IA 
portion of the podiudpedestal building below the 
horizontal separation to a maximum of one story 
above grade plane has been deleted in the 2015 IBC 
allowing the podium portion of the building to be of 
any height without any restriction on the number of 
floors. Also, 20 15 IBC Section 5 10.2(5) permits any 
occupancy, except Group H, below the horizontal 
separation. (See also the table entry under IBC Sec- 
tion 903.3.1.2 for further information on podium 
design) 
Permits a parking garage of Construction Type I or 
IIA to abut a Group R-2 building with 1%- hour- 
protected openings (fire doors) in the abutting exte- 
rior wall of the garage and no required opening pro- 
tective(~) in the abutting wall of a sprinklered R-2 
building. Previous editions of the Code did not 
permit any openings in these abutting exterior walls 
that are at a "0" fire separation distance apart and 
required a fire wall design between such buildings 
to be permitted to have openings between the abut- 
ting buildings. 



2015 ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY O F  IMPORTANT CHANGES -OCTOBER 2014 

Section(s) and Issue(s) 

IBC 705.6 "Exterior Wall- 
Structural Stability" 

IBC 707.5 Exception 2 "Fire 
Barriers-Continuity" 

IBC 714.4.2 Exception 7 
"Membrane Penetration" 

IBC 717.1.1 "Ducts and Air 
Transfer Openings" 

IBC 903.2.1.6 "Assembly 
Occupancies on Roof' 

Important 

Type of Cllnttge 

Major Change 

New: 
Clarification 

Revision 

New Provision 

New Provision 

Changes to the 

Cost 
Itnplication 
Decrease 

Decrease 

Decrease 

Decrease 

Decrease 

2015 IBC (cont'd) 

Comment 

Exterior fire-rated walls that are braced by floor or 
roof assemblies that have a lesser fire resistance 
rating are now permitted. Previous editions of the 
IBC Code required Construction Type I11 buildings 
with two -hour fire-rated exterior walls to have 
floors that support the two-hour fire-rated exterior 
walls to be upgraded to the two-hour fire rating. 
This is a major cost since apartment buildings built 
of Construction Type I11 under the legacy codes 
only required one-hour floor and roof assemblies to 
support the two-hour fire-rated exterior walls. 
Clarifies that the walls of an interior exit stairway 
do not need to extend through the attic space to the 
underside of the roof deck if the ceiling of the 
stairway terminates with a fire-rated top enclosure 
complying with Section 713.12. 
This exception was new in the 2012 IBC (Section 
714.4.1.2 Exception #7) and allowed for a practical 
application of the code in circumstances where 
wood-framed walls extend up to and attach directly 
to the underside of joistltrusses floor and roof fire- 
rated assemblies. It was further modified to permit 
the wood framed walls to be sheathed solely with 
Type X gypsum wallboard in lieu of being a fire 
resistance rated wall assembly. 
Duct will be allowed to leave a fire-rated shaft en- 
closure, transition horizontally, and then enter an- 
other fire-rated shaft if the duct penetrations on 
each side of the shafts are protected with fire damp- 
ers. Note that this is not permitted for clothes dryer 
exhaust ducts or any other ducts that the I Codes 
require to be continuous and uninterrupted. 
Code now addresses how to deal with assembly 
occupancies on the roof of a building. When the 
occupant load > 100 for Group A-2 (i.e., restaurant), 
or > 300 for other Group A (i.e., meeting rooms, 
swimming pools) all floors to, and including, level 
of exit discharge are required to be sprinklered per 
NFPA 13 or NFPA 13R, as applicable. Since all new 
Group R occupancies are already required to be 
sprinklered, this new requirement is a good clarifi- 
cation of the Code for such common assembly oc- 
cupancies that are to be located on the roofs of new 
apartment projects. Note that there is an exception 
to this sprinkler requirement for open parking gar- 
ages of Construction Type I or Type 11. 



2015 ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY O F  IMPORTANT CHANGES - OCTOBER 2014 

Sectiot~ (s) and Zssue(s) 

IBC 903.2.11.3 "Automatic 
Sprinkler Systems -Where 
Required- Buildings 55' or 
More in Height" 

903.3.1.1.2 Exception 
"NFPA 13 Exempt 
Bathroom Sprinklers" 

903.3.1.2 "Installation Re- 
quirements NFPA 13R 
Sprinkler Systems" 

IBC 101 1.12 Exception 
"Stairway to Roof' 

IBC 10 1 1.16 "Ladders" 

Important 
Type of Cha~zge 

Revision 

New Provision 

Clarification 

New 
Exception 

New Provision 

Changes to the 

Cost 
Ittplication 
Decrease 

Decrease 

Decrease 

Decrease 

Decrease 

2015 IBC (cont'd) 

Comment 

This revision clarified that the 55' is measured from 
the lowest level of fire department vehicle access to 
the finished floor level of the highest floor with an 
occupant load of > 30. Exceptions are provided for 
open parking garages and F-2 occupancies. 
The 2015 IBC references the 2013 NFPA 13. In the 
2013 NFPA 13 Section 8.15.8.1 the small bathroom 
(1 55 sq. ft.) sprinkler exception was deleted for 
apartment dwelling units. Since the NFPA 13 
Committee deleted this reasonable, long-standing, 
sprinkler exception out of its Code, the NFPA 101 
Committee, as well as the ICC Membership, decid- 
ed to place it back into the 2015 NFPA 101 and 
2015 IBC. The NFPA 13 Committee is in the pro- 
cess of attempting to place the bathroom exception 
for dwelling units back into its 2015 edition of 
NFPA 13. 
Section was revised to correlate with the scope of 
the 2013 NFPA 13R Standard. This should help 
prevent any misapplication of the sprinkler stand- 
ards that apply to "...Group R occupancies up to 
and including four stories in height in buildings not 
exceeding 60 feet in height above grade plane.. .". 
The new second paragraph in this section clarifies 
that the number of stories of Group R occupancies 
above a podium or pedestal designed structure (see 
Section 5 10.4) is measured from the fire-rated hori- 
zontal separation that creates separate buildings. By 
default, this new second paragraph under the NFPA 
13R requirements is also applicable to the number 
of stories of Group R occupancies above a podium 
structure when the entire structure is sprinklered per 
NFPA 13. For example, an R-2 occupancy of Con- 
struction Type IIIA, sprinklered per NFPA 13, can 
be five stories above the Type IA pedestal below as 
long as the overall building height from grade plane 
does not exceed 85 feet (IBC Table 504.3) 
For stairways in buildings > four stories above 
grade plane that do not have an occupied roof or 
elevator equipment on the roof, access to the roof 
does not need to be by one of the stairways in the 
building. It can be provided by an alternating tread 
device, a ship's ladder or a permanent ladder. 
New section with specific requirements for perma- 
nent ladders. Such ladders cannot serve as a part of 
the means of egress from occupied spaces within a 
building. 



2015 ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT CHANGES - OCTOBER 2014 

Sectiott(s) and Issue(s) 

IBC 1016.2(1) "Egress 
through Intervening Spac- 
es," 3006.4 Means of 
Egress" 

IBC 1023.3.1 Exception 2 
"Interior Exit Stairway 
Extension" 

IBC 1107.4 Exceptions 3 
and 4 "Accessible Route" 

Previous 20 12 IBC Section 
3004 "Hoistway 
Venting" 

IBC 101.4.7 "Existing 
Buildings," Previous 2012 
IBC Chapter 34 "Existing 
Buildings" 
IBC 104.1 1 "Alternative 
Materials, Design, and 
Methods of Construction 
and Equipment" 

903.3.1.2.2 "Open-Ended 
Corridors" 

903.3.5 "Water Supplies" 

IBC 907.2.11.4 "Smoke 
Alarms Near Bathrooms" 

Important 
Type of Clrartge 

New Provision 

New Provision 

New Provision 

Deleted 

Deleted 2012 
IBC Chapter 34 

Revision 

New Provision 
- Correlation 

Revision 

New Provision 

Changes to the 
Cost 
I~nplication 
Decrease 

Decrease 

Decrease 

Decrease 

None 

None 

None 

None 

None 

2015 LBC (cont'd) 
Comment 

Exit access is permitted through an enclosed eleva- 
tor lobby that leads to at least one of the required 
exits. Exit access to not less than one of the other 
required exits shall be provided without travel 
through the enclosed elevator lobby. 
An exit stairway does not require a door at the 
stairway opening into an exit passageway if the exit 
passageway has no other openings into it from the 
building. 
Exceptions added to exempt, in certain cases, acces- 
sible stories and mezzanines in buildings with 
Group R-2 units or dormitories if accessibility is 
provided to other facilities. 
The hoistway venting requirements have been de- 
leted from the 2015 IBC since they were antiquated 
and wasted building energy. Only Section 3004.3.1, 
"Plumbing and Mechanical Systems," was retained, 
and it was relocated to Section 3002.9 
The requirements (Chapter 34) for existing struc- 
tures have been removed from the 2015 IBC. All 
existing construction requirements are now in the 
2015 International Existing Building Code (IEBC). 
Last sentence was added that requires the code of i -  
cia1 to provide in writing the reasons why the alter- 
native was not approved if he/she rejects the appli- 
cation for an alternative design under this section of 
the Code. 
This new section was added to the sprinkler re- 
quirements just to clarify that when applying the 
open-ended corridor (i.e., open breezeway) sprin- 
kler requirements of Section 1027.6 Exception 3.1 
to a building sprinklered in accordance with NFPA 
13R, it is the intent of the IBC Code to also require 
the open-ended corridors and its associated exterior 
stairs to be sprinklered when using Exception 3 of 
Section 1027.6. 
New last sentence in section was added to clarifL 
that the fire flow test for the design of the sprinkler 
system needs to be adjusted for seasonal and daily 
pressure fluctuations. 
Smoke alarms are to be located a minimum of three 
feet from the bathroom door when the bathroom 
contains a bathtub or shower. 



2015 ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY O F  IMPORTANT CHANGES -OCTOBER 2014 

Section(s) and Issue(s) 

IBC 907.2.1 1.3 and 
907.2.11.4 "Single and 
Multiple-Station Smoke 
Alarms Near Cooking 
Appliances" 

IBC Table 1006.2.1 "Spaces 
with One Exit or Exit Ac- 
cess Doorway" 

IBC 1006.2.1, Exception 1, 
Table 1006.3.2(1) and 
1006.3.2 Single Exits in 
Buildings 

IBC Section 915 "Carbon 
Monoxide (CO) 
Detection" 

IBC 10 10.1.7, Exception #2 
"Thresholds at Doorways" 

IBC 1210.2.3 "Shower 
Compartments" 

Important 
Type of Change 

New Provision - 
Correlation 

New Provision 

Revised 

Relocated to its 
Own 
Section in 
Chapter 9, 
Reformatted 
and Revised 

New Provision 

Revised 

Changes to the 
Cost 
Zmplicatioil 
None 

None 

None 

None 

None 

None 

2015 IBC (cont'd) 
Cornitlent 

These new sections were added to the alarm re- 
quirements to correlate with the requirements in 
NFPA 72 on the placement of smoke alarms. When 
ionization smoke alarms are to be installed they 
shall be placed a minimum of 20 feet from cooking 
devices, or a minimum of 10 feet if they have an 
alarm-silencing switch. If photoelectric smoke 
alarms are to be installed they shall be placed a 
minimum of six feet from cooking devices. 
Combined 2012 IBC Tables 1014.3 and 1015.1 into 
a single table for user-friendliness. Note that Table 
1006.2.1 covers the maximum common path of 
egress travel distance to that point where the occu- 
pants have separate access to two exits (or are al- 
ready outside the building), whereas Table 1017.2 
covers the total exit access travel distance to an exit. 
It is permitted for multiple dwelling units, in groups 
of four units or less per floor, to have access to a 
single means of egress. The change also reflects the 
revised travel distance for single exit design allow- 
ing a maximum common path of egress travel dis- 
tance of 125 feet. 
The CO alarm requirements that were new in the 
2012 IBC and located in Section 908.7 have been 
relocated and extensively revised and clarified in 
the 201 5 IBC. A CO alarm is to be installed outside 
of each separate sleeping area in the immediate vi- 
cinity of the bedrooms in R-2 occupancies that have 
fuel-burning appliances/fireplaces and/or attached 
private garages. Buildings with open parking gar- 
ages complying with Section 406.5 or enclosed 
parking garages complying with Section 406.6 are 
not considered private garages. 

In Type B dwelling units that permit a four -inch 
elevation change at the door, the threshold height on 
the exterior side of the door shall not exceed 4%" in 
height above the exterior deck, patio or balcony for 
sliding doors and not more than 4!4" for other 
doors. 
The height of the required nonabsorbent surface has 
been raised from 70 inches to 72 inches. 



z o i ~  ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY O F  IMPORTANT CHANGES - OCTOBER 7.014 

Section(s) nttd Zssue(s) 

IBC 1405.3 "Vapor 
Retarders" 

IBC 3 104.5 Connections of 
Pedestrian Walkway to 
Buildings" 
IBC Section 3006 
"Elevator Lobbies and 
Hoistway Opening 
Protection 
IBC 403.3.3 "Sprinkler Sec- 
ondary Water Supply" 

IBC 202 Definition of"Cor- 
ridor Damper," 71 7.3.2.4 
"Corridor Damper Rating," 
7 17.3.3.5 "Corridor Damper 
Actuation," 71 7.5.4.1 Ex- 
ception #1 "Where Re- 
quired-Corridors" 
IBC 602.4 Cross-Laminated 
Timber Use in Construction 
Type IV 
IBC 703.2.4 Fire-Resistance 
Ratings and Fire Tests: Sup- 
plemental 
Features" 
IBC 705.2 "Projections," 
705.2.3 "Combustible Pro- 
j ections" 

907.2.11.7 "Smoke Detec- 
tion System" 

Important 
Tvpe of Clzn~zge 

Revised 

Makes Code 
More User 
Friendly 
New Section 
with Relocated 
Requirements 

Relocated 

New Provision 

New Provision 

New Provision 

Major Change 

New Provision 

Changes to the 
Cost 
Intplication 
None 

None 

None 

None 

Unknown 

Unknown 

Unknown 

Unknown 

Unknown 

2015 IBC (cont'd) 
Commetzt 

Requirements for vapor retarders have been modi- 
fied. In Climate Zones 1 and 2, Class I and I1 vapor 
retarders are not permitted on the interior side of 
frame walls. In Climate Zones 3 and 4, Class I va- 
por retarders are not permitted on the interior of 
frame walls. Class I11 vapor retarders are required 
in specific locations. 
Revised, reformatted section with no intended 
changes to the existing requirements. 

The elevator lobby requirements that were located 
in 2012 IBC Section 713.14.1 were reformatted and 
relocated into newly created Sections 3006.2 and 
3006.3 in the 2015 IBC. 
Sprinkler systems in high-rise buildings in Seismic 
Design Category C, D, E or F are required to have a 
secondary water supply. 
New design option protecting the ceiling mem- 
brane's HVAC penetrations for a fire-rated exit ac- 
cess corridor where the ceiling of the corridor is 
constructed using a fire-rated corridor wall assem- 
bly placed horizontally. 

Revisions allow the use of fire-retardant-treated 
lumber, cross-laminated timber and glued-laminated 
plank in specific applications. 
When a listed fire resistance assembly is modified, 
sufficient data shall be made available to the code 
official to show that the required fire resistance rat- 
ing is not reduced. 
Table 705.2, "Minimum Distance of Projections," 
was modified and simplified and now requires an 
increase in the separation required between the 
leading edge of a building's projection and the 
property line (or fire separation distance line). Sec- 
tion 705.2.3 was simplified and requires added pro- 
tection where a combustible projection is within 5' 
of a property line (or FSD). 
Clarifies that an acceptable alternative to providing 
single and multiple-station smoke alarms is to use 
smoke detectors, listed per UL 268, that are part of 
the building's fire alarm system. 



2015 ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY O F  IMPORTANT CHANGES - OCTOBER 2014 

Sectioi~ (s) and Issue(s) 

913.2.2 "Circuits 
Supplying Fire Pumps" 

IBC 1019 Exception 3, "Exit 
Access Stairways and 
Ramps" 
IBC 308.3 "Group 1-1," 
308.3.1 "Condition 1, 308.3.2 
"Condition 2," 404.5 Excep- 
tion "Smoke Control," 420.4. 
"Smoke Barriers in Group 1-1, 
Condition 2," 420.5 "Auto- 
matic Sprinkler System," 
420.6 "Fire Alarm Systems 
and Smoke Alarms," 709.5 
Exceptions "Openings," 
903.2.6 Exception 1 "Group 
I," 903.3.2(3) "Quick- 
response and Residential 
Sprinklers," 904.13 "Domes- 
tic Cooking Systems in Group 
1-2 Condition 1 ," 907.2.6 
Group I Manual Fire Alarm," 
907.2.11.2 ""Smoke Alarms," 
907.2.1 1.5 "Intercomection 
of Smoke Alarms," 907.2.13 
Exception 6 "High-Rise 
Buildings," 907.5.2.2 Excep- 
tion "Emergency Voice/Alarm 
Communications," 
907.5.2.3.2 "Group 1-1 Visi- 
ble Alarms," 909.5.3 Excep- 
tion 3 and 909.5.3.1 "Smoke 
Barrier Opening Protection," 
9 15.1.1 "CO Detection," 
10 10.1.9.6 "Controlled Egress 
Doors in Group I- 1 and 1-2," 
1010.1.9.8 "Sensor Release of 
Electrically Locked Egress 
Doors," 101 0.1.9.9 "Electro- 
magnetically Locked Egress 
Doors," 1020.1 Exception 2 
"Corridor Construction," Ta- 
ble 1020.1 "Corridor Fire- 
Resistance Rating," 3006.2(2) 
"Hoistway Opening Protec- 
tion Required" 

Important 
Type of Cl~ni~ge 

New Provision 

New Provision 

Major 
Changes for 
1-1 
occupancies 

Changes to the 
Cost 
Implication 
Unknown 

Unknown 

Unknown 

2015 IBC (cont'd) 
Comment 

New section requires that the power supply cables 
shall be listed and installed in accordance with UL 
2196. 
New provisions for exit stairways and ramps require 
enclosed stairways and ramps with exception for 
interior of dwelling units. 
There have been a number of requests for conver- 
sions of existing R-2 projects into assisted living 
facilities as the baby boomers are now in their 60s. 
To provide some general guidance to firms that may 
be considering either the construction of new pro- 
jects or conversion of existing buildings to such 
occupancies, the two rows on 1-1 and R-4 occupan- 
cies are provided showing the revised requirements 
in the 2015 IBC for these occupancies. 

Also be aware that there may be modifications to 
the requirements in the 2015 IBC that relate to an 
existing building's conversion to another occupan- 
cy. See the requirements in the 2015 International 
Existing Building Code (IEBC), Chapter 10, 
"Change of Occupancy". 

Assisted living facilities (2 17 persons) are now 
divided into two conditions with different require- 
ments throughout the Code. 1-1 Condition 1 only 
applies to occupants who are capable of responding 
to an emergency without any assistance to leave the 
building. 1-1 Condition 2 applies to occupants who 
will require limited verbal or physical assistance to 
respond to an emergency and safely egress from the 
building. 



2015 ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY O F  IMPORTANT CHANGES -OCTOBER 2014 

Section(s) artd Issue(s) 

Chapter 10 "Means of 
Egress" 

IBC 1007 "Exit and Exit 
Access Doorway 
Configuration" 
IBC 10 15.7 Exception 
"Roof Access" 

IBC 2406.4.7 "Safety Glaz- 
ing Adjacent to the Bottom 
Stairway Landing" 

IBC 11 1.1 "Use and 
Occupancy" 

IBC 716.5.8.4 "Opening 
Protectives-Safety 
Glazing" 

903.3.8 "Limited Area 
Sprinkler Systems" 

Important 
Type of Change 

Major 
Revisions, Re- 
locations and 
Clarifications 

New Provision 

New 
Exception 

Revision 

Revision 

Revision 

Major 
Revisions 

Changes to the 
Cost 
Implicntiort 
Unknown 

Unknown 

Unknown 

Unknown 

Increase 

Increase 

Increase 

2015 IBC (cont'd) 
Corrtmertt 

2012 IBC Sections 1015 and 1021 requirements 
were relocated and revised into the general provi- 
sions of Sections 1006 and 1007. All the section 
numbers that were in the 2012 IBC have been 
changed in the 2015 IBC because of the extensive 
reorganization and revisions during this code cycle. 
Users of the Code are cautioned to do an extensive 
review of Chapter 10 before designing a project 
under this new edition of the Code. 
New section with specific requirements on how to 
measure the separation distance between exits, exit 
access doorwayslstairways and ramps. 
Exception eliminates the guards required for roof 
access where the roof hatch opening is located with- 
in 10' of the roof edge or the open side is located > 
30" above the floor, roof or grade above, where 
permanent fall arrestlrestraint anchorage connector 
devices complying with ANSIIASSE Z 359.1 are 
provided. 
Requires safety glazing if glazing is located < 60" 
above the bottom of a stair, or within a 60" horizon- 
tal arc if < 180 degrees from the bottom tread nos- 
ing. 
A change in a building use, or portion thereof, with 
no change in its occupancy classification will now 
require a new Certificate of Occupancy. 
Previous editions of the Code only required safety 
glazing for "fire protection-rated" glazing in fire 
door assemblies, now it will be required also for 
"fire resistance-rated" glazing in fire door assem- 
blies. Note that Section 716.5.8.1.1 provides the 
locations where "fire resistance-rated" glazing in 
fire door assemblies can be used, and Section 
716.5.8.1.2 provides the requirements where "fire 
protection-rated" glazing in fire door assemblies 
can be used. 
In existing, non-sprinklered apartment buildings, 
limited area sprinkler systems were mostly provided 
in basements where storage rooms, boiler rooms 
and similar spaces were located. Revisions reduced 
the number of sprinklers from 20 to six that can be 
used on a "limited area sprinkler system" in any 
single fire area. In addition, it now requires hydrau- 
lic calculations to be done to show that these sprin- 
klers that are piped off the domestic water supply 
can control a fire. 



2015 ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY O F  IMPORTANT CHANGES - OCTOBER 2014 

Section(s) and Issue(s) 

IBC 907.2.9.3 "Alarm Sys- 
tems - Group R-2 
College and University 
Buildings" 

IBC 1015.8 "Window Open- 
ing Guard 
Protection" 

IBC 11 07.6.2.1 "LiveIWork 
Units" 

IBC 1107.7.2 Multistory 
Type B Dwelling Units 

IBC 11 10.2.2, 11 10.2.3 and 
11 10.4.13, Exception 3. 
"Accessible 
Recreational Facilities" 

IBC 1203.2 "Attic 
Ventilation" 

IBC Chapter 17 "Special 
Inspections and Tests" 

Important 
o p e  of Clrarige 

Clarification 

New Provision 

New Provision 

New Provision 

New Provision 

New Provision 

New Provision 
and Revised 

Changes to the 
Cost 
Implication 
Increase 

Increase 

Increase 

Increase 

Increase 

Increase 

Increase 

2015 IBC (cont'd) 
Comment 

In the previous edition of the IBC, the alarm re- 
quirements of this section appeared to apply to 
buildings that are owned by a college or university. 
For the 2015 IBC it was clarified that this require- 
ment was for Group R-2 occupancies that are 
"...operated by a college or university for student or 
staff housing.. ." Requires an automatic smoke de- 
tection system in the common corridors/spaces, 
laundry, mechanical equipment and storage rooms. 
It also requires the smoke alarms in the dwell- 
inglsleeping units to be interconnected with the fire 
alarm system 
Window openings more than 72" above grade that 
are less than 36" above the floor must be protected 
with guards or fixed openings that will not allow the 
passage of a four-inch-diameter sphere. 
The nonresidential portion of a livelwork unit is 
required to be accessible. The entire livelwork unit 
is required to be accessible if the residential portion 
of the livelwork unit is required to be a Type B 
dwelling unit. 
The primary entry level in a multistory Type B 
dwelling unit that is served by an elevator must 
have a living area, kitchen and toilet facility. 
New requirement that apartment properties comply 
with ANSI A117.1 recreational facility require- 
ments. Accessible means of entry into a swimming 
pool, spa or similar water feature is not required in 
R-2, R-3 and R-4 occupancies. 
The ventilation requirements for attics have been 
upgraded to reflect the new code requirements for 
energy conservation. Specific requirements have 
been added for enclosed attics and a new section 
(IBC 1203.3) has been added for unvented attic and 
unvented enclosed rated assemblies. 
New requirements for special testing have been 
added detailing specific requirements that must be 
complied with when special inspection is required. 
Requirements for inspection of specific materials 
have been modified or added. 



2015 ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY O F  IMPORTANT CHANGES - OCTOBER 2014 

Section(s) and Issfre(s) 

IFC 11 03.3.2 Elevator 
Emergency Operation 

IFC 1104.22(4) "Means of 
Egress for Existing 
Buildings-Exterior Stairway 
Protection" 
IFC 1103.7.6 Exception 4 
"Manual Fire Alarm 
System in Existing Group 
R-2 Occupancies" 

IFC Appendix B B 105 "Fire 
Flow Requirements for 
Buildings" 

IFC Appendix C "Fire 
Hydrant Locations and 
Distribution" 

IFC Appendix L "Fire 
Fighter Air Replenishment 
Systems (FARS)" 

IFC Appendix M "High- 
Rise - Retroactive 
Automatic Sprinkler 
Requirement" 

Important 

Type of C/~ange 

New Provision 

Deletion of 
2012 IFC 
Section 
1104.21(4.1) 
New 
Exception 

Revisions 

Revisions 

New Provision 

New Provision 

Changes to 

Cost 
Implication 

Decrease 

Decrease 

Decrease 

Unknown 

Unknown 

Increase 

Increase 

the 2015 IFC 

Comn~er~t 

New exception to requirements for updating eleva- 
tors to latest standard which include installation of 
protective doors, sprinkler protection, and for 
freight elevators sprinkler protection provided at 
least one elevator complies with A 17.3. 
Remainder of Section 1104.21 was moved to 
1104.22. The requirement to retroactively sprinkler 
existing, open-ended corridor (i.e., open breezeway) 
buildings was deleted. 
Exception 4 eliminates the requirement for a manu- 
al fire alarm system in an existing R-2 occupancy 
where all four requirements are met: 

1. Building is I three stories in height above 
grade plane. 

2. Dwelling units are not sewed by interior cor- 
ridors. 

3. Dwelling units are separated from each other 
by 314 hour fire barriers. 

4. Dwelling units are provided with smoke 
alarms per Section 907.2.1 1. 

If a jurisdiction adopts the IFC and makes Appendix 
B mandatory in the adopting ordinance, then fire 
flows for townhouses and other buildings can be 
reduced based on the construction type and sprin- 
kler system installed (NFPA 13, NFPA 13R or 
NFPA 13D). 
If a jurisdiction adopts the IFC and makes Appendix 
C mandatory in the adopting ordinance, then the 
revisions to Sections C103.2 Exception and C104.1 
provide increased spacing for existing fire hydrants 
and credit for existing fire hydrants on adjacent 
properties that can be used. Also new footnotes "f' 
and "g" permit fire hydrant spacing increases based 
on the type of sprinkler system installed in the 
building. 
If a jurisdiction adopts the IFC and makes Appendix 
L mandatory in the adopting ordinance, then build- 
ings required by the local adopting ordinance to 
have FARS would be required to comply with Ap- 
pendix L's design, installation, testing and mainte- 
nance requirements. 
If a jurisdiction adopts the IFC and makes Appendix 
M mandatory in the adopting ordinance, then all 
existing high-rise buildings in that jurisdiction will 
be required to be sprinklered. 



2015 ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY O F  IMPORTANT CHANGES - OCTOBER 2014 

Sectiott(s) nnd Issue(s) 

IEBC 406.3 and 702.5 - 
"Replacement Window 
Emergency Escape and Res- 
cue Openings" 
IEBC 803.6 "Fire- 
Resistance Rating" 

IEBC 706 "Reroofing" 

2012 IBC Chapter 34 has 
been deleted and all of the 
requirements for 
existing buildings are now 
found in the 20 15 IEBC 
IEBC 906.2 Alterations 
Level 111 

IEBC 406.2 and 702.4 - 
Replacement Window Fall 
Protection 

IEBC 904.2 Fire Alarm Sys- 
tem - Alteration 
Level 3 

Important 

o p e  of 
Clr ange 

New Provision 

New Provision 

New Provision 

Editorial 

New Provision 
- Clarification 

New Provision 

New Provision 

Changes to 

Cost 
In plicntion 

Decrease 

Decrease 

Unknown 

None 

None 

Increase 

Increase 

the 2015 IEBC 

Comment 

Under the Prescriptive Compliance Method or Lev- 
el 1 Alterations, the replacement window must be 
the largest standard size that will fit within the ex- 
isting frame. 
Under Level 2 Alterations, in buildings where an 
automatic sprinkler system is installed throughout, 
the required fire resistance rating of building ele- 
ments and materials can be reduced to meet the 
requirements of the current building code. 
Under Level 1 Alterations, requirements from 2015 
IBC Section 15 11 were also placed in the IEBC. 
The 2015 IEBC applies to repair, alteration, and 
change of occupancy, additions, and relocations of 
existing buildings. 

Revised to clarifL that where four or more Group I- 
1, 1-2, R-1, R-2, R-3 or R4 dwelling or sleeping 
units are be altered, the requirements of Section 
1107 of the IBC for Type B units and Chapter 9 of 
the IBC for visible alarms apply only to the spaces 
being altered. Exception: Group I-1,I-2, R-1, R-2, 
R-3 and R-4 dwelling or sleeping units where the 
first certificate of occupancy was issued before 
March 15, 199 1 are not required to provide Type B 
dwelling or sleeping units. 
Under the Prescriptive Compliance Method or Lev- 
el 1 Alterations, requirements for limits on window 
openings, similar to those for new construction, are 
required for replacement windows. Window open- 
ings more than 72 inches above the exterior grade 
and less than 36 inches above the finished floor are 
required to have control devices that limit the open- 
ing so that a four-inch sphere will not pass. 
Install fire alarm and detection system with any 
Level 3 alteration. 



Important Changes to the 2015 IPC 

201s ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT CHANGES -OCTOBER 2014 

Section(s) arrd Issrre(s) 

P C  106.1.1 "Annual Per- 
mit" 

Important Changes to the 2015 IECC 

Section(s) arrd Issue(s) 

IECC C402 and Chapter 5 
Performance 
Compliance Options 

IECC (304.2.3 Roof Cover- 
ing Air Barrier 
IECC C406 and Chapter 5 
Energy Efficiency 
Packages 
IECC Tables C402.1, 
C402.4, R402.1.2 and 
R402.1.4-R-values and U- 
values 

IECC R402.4.1.2-Thermal 
Envelope Air Barrier Testing 

IECC Commercial and Res- 
idential Provisions 

IECC C403.3.2.1 and Chap- 
ter 5 

Type of Change 

New Provision 

Tvpe of Clzatrge 

Revision 

Revision 

Revision 

No Change 
from the 2012 
IECC 

No Change 
from the 2012 
IECC 

Revisions and 
Editorial 

Revision 

Cost 
Implication 

Decrease 

Commerrt 

An annual permit for plumbing repairs can be is- 
sued to a person, firm or corporation to perform 
plumbing work on individual plumbing items that 
have already been approved when they employ a 
qualified tradesperson. 

Cost 
Inzplicatior~ 

Decrease 

Decrease 

Unknown 

Increase from 
the 2009 
IECC 

Increase from 
the 2009 
IECC 

Increase 

Increase 

Cotrrmerrt 

Allow component performance design options for 
wall, floor, roof and other systems using overall 
building insulation values to reduce insulation val- 
ues in individual components. 
Exemption for repairlreplacement of roof recover- 
ing from the requirement for an air barrier. 
Additional choices for required additional energy 
efficiency packages that can be more cost-effective 
for new and existing buildings. 
The R-value and corresponding U-value tables for 
the commercial and residential requirements have 
not been changed (except roof insulation), and are 
the same as in the 2012 versions of the IECC which 
are not cost effective. See separate document, Rec- 
ommended Amendments to the 2015 International 
Energy Conservation Code (IECC), for more in- 
formation. 
The residential Section R402.1.2 requires that the 
air barrier be pressure tested in accordance with a 
test method for one- and two-family dwellings that 
is not appropriate for R-2 occupancies. See sepa- 
rate document, Recommended Amendments to the 
2015 International Energy Conservation Code 
(IECC), for more information. 
The Commercial portions, which apply to R-2 oc- 
cupancies four-or-more stories in height; and the 
Residential portions, which apply to R-2 occupan- 
cies three-or-less stories in height, have major revi- 
sions to text which need to be considered during the 
design process. 
Increased hot water piping insulation levels with 
limits on lengths of hot water piping. 



Important Changes to the 2015 IECC (cont'd) 

zois ICC MODEL CODES SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT CHANGES -OCTOBER 2014 

Important Changes to the 2015 IMC 

Comment 

Increased stringency of computer room HVAC min- 
imum efficiency levels. 

Required inclusion of a fault detection and diagnos- 
tics reporting system on all 4.5 ton or larger air- 
cooled, HVAC systems. 
Mandatory installation of automatic garage con- 
trols. 
Additional more stringent requirements for day- 
lighting, lighting controls and allowed lighting 
power densities in new and existing buildings. 
Lighting contractor required to provide operations 
and maintenance manuals for lighting and lighting 
controls. 
Requirement for functional testing of occupant sen- 
sor controls and time-switch controls. 
New Chapter 5, Existing Structures with provisions 
for existing buildings in addition to those contained 
in the IEBC. 

Cost 
Inyllication 
Increase 

Increase 

Increase 

Increase 

Increase 

Increase 

Increase 

Section(s) and Issue(s) 

IECC Table C403.2.3(9) 
Minimum Efliciency Air 
Conditioners and 
Condensing Units Serving 
Computer Rooms 
IECC C403.2.4.7 Fault De- 
tection 

IECC C403.2.6.2 Garage 
Ventilation Controls 
IECC C405 and Chapter 5 
Lighting Controls 

IECC C408.2.5.2.6 
Lighting Operation and 
Maintenance Manuals 
IECC C408.3.1 Occupant 
Sensor Controls 
IECC Chapter 5 Existing 
Buildings 

Section(s) and Issue(s) 

IMC 106.1.1 "Annual Per- 
mit" 

IMC 403.3.2 Mechanical 
Ventilation 

Tvpe of Clmnge 

Revision 

New Provision 

New Provision 

New Provision 

New Provision 

Revision 

New Provision 

Cost 
Itnplication 

Decrease 

Increase 

TJ'pe of Cltat1ge 

New Provision 

New Provision 

Comnzent 

An annual permit for mechanical repairs can be 
issued to a person, firm or corporation to perform 
mechanical work on individual mechanical system 
or equipment that has already been approved when 
they employ a qualified tradesperson. 
Ventilation requirements for R-2 occupancies three 
stories or less in height have been completely re- 
vised to include requirements for inclusion of me- 
chanical exhaust and supply for each dwelling unit. 



2015 1CC MODEL CODES SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT CHANGES - OCTOBER 2014 

Important Changes to the 2015 IFGC 

Section(s) and Issue(s) 

IFGC 307.6 AIC 
Condensation Pumps 

IFGC 404.7 "Protection 
Against Physical 
Damage" 

Type of 
Change 

New Provision 

New Provision 

Cost 
Implication 

Increase 

Increase 

Comment 

Condensation pumps located in attics, crawl spaces 
and other uninhabited spaces must have controls 
that shut down the appliance upon failure of the 
pumping system. 
Provisions added to protect concealed piping from 
penetration by nails, screws and other fasteners. 



ORDINANCE NO. 1927 

AN ORDINANCE TO PROHIBIT THE DRIVER OF A VEHICLE FROM MAKING 
1) A RIGHT TURN ON SOUTH BROOKWOOD ROAD NORTHBOUND AT THE UPPER 
ACCESS TO BROOKWOOD FOREST ELEMENTARY SCHOOL AND 2) A LEFT TURN 

ON SOUTH BROOKWOOD ROAD SOUTHBOUND AT THE LOWER ACCESS TO 
BROOKWOOD FOREST ELEMENTARY SCHOOL BOTH BETWEEN THE HOURS OF 

2:45 P.M. TO 3:15 P.M. 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, as follows: 

1. Amendatory Provisions. Pursuant to Sec. 1-10 of the City Code, it shall be unlawful for 
the driver of a vehicle traveling in a: a) northbound direction on South Brookwood Road 
to make a right turn at the upper access to Brookwood Forest Elementary School between 
the hours of 2:45 p.m. to 3: 15 p.m. and 2) southbound direction on South Brookwood 
Road to make a left turn at the lower access to Brookwood Forest Elementary School 
between the hours of 2:45 p.m. to 3: 15 p.m. 

2. Renealer. All ordinances or parts of ordinances heretofore adopted by the City Council 
of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama that are inconsistent with the provisions of this 
ordinance are hereby expressly repealed. 

3. Severability. If any part, section or subdivision of this ordinance shall be held 
unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be construed to 
invalidate or impair the remainder of this ordinance, which shall continue in full force 
and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

4. Effective Date. This ordinance shall become effective immediately upon adoption, 
publication as provided by law, and the installation of appropriate traffic signage 
indicating that such turns are prohibited. 

ADOPTED: The 9th day of February, 20 15. 

Council President 

APPROVED: The 9th day of February, 20 15. 

Mayor 



CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby certifj the above to 
be a true and correct copy of an ordinance adopted by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, 
Alabama, as its meeting held on February 9,20 15, as same appears in the minutes of record of said 
meeting, and published by posting copies thereof on February 10, 2015, at the following public places, 
which copies remained posted for five (5) days as required by law. 

City Hall, 56 Church Street The Invitation Place, 3 150 Overton Road 
Gilchrist Pharmacy, 2850 Cahaba Road Overton Park, 3020 Overton Road 

City Clerk 



RECOMMENDATIONS 

Considering the data collected during this study and analysis of alternatives, this study makes the 

following recommendations: 

Install left and right turn restriction signage on South Brookwood Road. Required signs are: 

o No right turn on South Brookwood Road northbound at the Upper Access from 2:45 to 

3:15 p.m. 

o No left turn on South Brookwood Road southbound at the Lower Access from 2:45 to 

3:15 p.m. 

These signs are illustrated in Figure 17. 

Figure 17. Turn Restriction Signs 

In order to be effective, these signs must be enforced. These are regulatory signs which can be enforced 

and ticketed by the Mountain Brook Police Department. Brookwood Forest Elementary School can also 

employee individuals (staff or volunteers) to remind carpool drivers of the turn restriction signs. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 22 



2. Instoll four (4) "Do Not Pass" signs on South Brookwood Road. Two signs per approach are i 
I 

recommended. These first signs would need to be erected in advance of the maximum queues 

on South Brookwood Road - just north of the intersection of Overton Road for South 

Brookwood Road northbound and approximately 750 feet northwest of the school property for 

South Brookwood Road southeast-bound. The second set of signs would be placed 

approximately half-way between the first signs and the edge of the school property, at 

approximately 375 feet from the edge of the school property. This sign is illustrated in Figure 18. 

Figure 18. Do Not Pass Sign 

4 

DO 
NOT 

PASS 
P 

3. Letter to parents. Brookwood Forest Elementary School should send a letter to  all parents 

concerning the requisite carpool patterns to be used approaching the campus, the turn 

restrictions and the need to prohibit passing on South Brookwood Road near the school. The 

letter should also address the need for parents to limit their arrival time for afternoon carpool 

to no earlier than 2:45 p.m. 

\ 

y 

4. Replace the existing warning signs on South Brookwood Road. The existing S1-1 School signs 

and flashing beacons should be replaced with School Speed Limit signs with flashing beacons, as 

illustrated in Figure 19. In general, each approach to  the school on South Brookwood Road 

should have an S1-1 School sign (without flashing beacons) and an 55-1 School Speed Limit sign 

assembly (with flashing beacons). 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 23 



Page 1 o f  2 

Sam Gaston 

From: Richard Caudle 

Sent: Wednesday, January 28,2015 1:35 PM 

To: PITNER, RICHARD (NATHAN); Sam Gaston; CHRISTIAN, CHRISTY; BARLOW, DICKY 

Cc: Ted Cook; Charles Clark; Ronald Vaughn 
Subject: RE: South Brookwood Road traffic study 

See some minor edits below. 

From: PITNER, RICHARD (NATHAN) [mailto:P~ERR@rntnbrook.kl2.al.u~] 
Sent: Wednesday, January 28,2015 1:32 PM 
To: Sam Gaston; CHRISTIAN, CHRISTY; BARLOW, DICKY 
Cc: Richard Caudle; Ted Caok; Charles Clark; Ronald Vaughn 
Subject: RE: South Brookwood Road traffic study 

Below is a draft of the communication we are planning to send. You'll note we abbreviated the 
recommendations. I wasn't sure if you'd prefer we send more. I'd like your feedback on whether this 
is what everyone had in mind before moving forward. 

Recently the Mountain Brook City Council commissioned a traffic study to investigate South 
Brookwood Road, specifically in regard to  our morning and afternoon carpool situations. While the 
traffic study firm was highly complementary of the steps previously taken to ensure safety and 
efficiency in regard to  current procedures, BWF wants to constantly engage in conversations that lead 
to continuous improvement in these areas. The logistics associated with our location and the 
surrounding roads don't lend themselves to  any obvious solutions, but the firm was able to make a 
handful of recommendations that we hope will be beneficial to  parents, students, and the community 
at large. The recommendations reflect the collaborative relationship that the school, community, city, 
and police have come to enjoy. To that end, this email represents an attempt to  ensure that our 
families are properly informed regarding the recommendations that will be discussed at the City 

Council meeting on Monday, February gth at 7:00 p.m. Below you will find a simplified l is t  of those 
recommendations, but we'd encourage you to attend the public hearing if you'd like to know more. 

Recommendations: 

1. Install left and right turn restriction signage on South Brookwood Road during carpool times. 
a. No right turn on South Brookwood Road northbound at the Upper Access from 2:45 to 

3:15 p.m. 
b. No left turn on South Brookwood Road southbound at the Lower Access from 2:45 to 

3:15 p.m. 
2. Install four "Do Not Pass" signs on South Brookwood Road. 
3. Replace the existing warning signs on South Brookwood Road with School Zone Speed Limit 

Signs - 15 MPH When Flashing. 
4. More strictly enforce the 15 miles per hour speed limit around school. 

From: Sam Gaston [gastons@mtnbrook.org] 



Page 2 of 2 

Sent: Tuesday, January 27, 2015 10:26 AM 
To: CHRISTIAN, CHRISPI; PmER, RICHARD (NATHAN); BARLOW, DICKY 
Cc: Richard Caudle; Ted Cook; Charles Clark; Ronald Vaughn 
Subject: South Brookwood Road traffic study 

The City Council asked if BWF would send out an email blast about the proposed 
recommendations from the recent traffic study and that the City Council would hold a 
public hearing on Monday, February 9" at 7pm at their regular meeting on this matter. 
Please send me a copy of the email so I can place in the City Council's agenda packet. 

Sam S.Gaston 
City Manager 
City of Mountain Brook, AL. 
56 Church Street 
P.O. Box 130009 
Mountain Brook AL. 3521 3 
(205) 802-3803 Phone 
(205) 870-3577 Fax 



South Brookwood Road at Brookwood 
Forest Elementary School 
Mountain Brook, Alabama 

Traffic Study 

Prepared for: 

The City of Mountain Brook 
P.O. Box 130009 
Mountain Brook, Alabama 352 13 
Phone (205) 802-2400 Fax (205) 879-69 13 

Prepared by: 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. 
3644 Vann Road, Suite 100 
Birmingham, Alabama 35235 
Phone (205) 655-8855 Fax (205) 655-8825 

c December, 20 14 
SIGNED: 

D A l E  



INTRODUCTION 

This report documents a traffic study performed for the C i  of Mountain Brook, Alabama in response to 

public concerns regarding traffic safety on South Brookwood Road in the vicinity of Brookwood Forest 

Elementary School. The location of the school with respect to the area roadway network is shown in 

Figure 1. 

Forest ' 1  
Elementary 

Figure 1. Site Location Map 

The existing campus of Brookwood Forest Elementary School is sewed by three access points to South 

Brookwood Road. There is a bidirectional access to the school on the south side of the school which 

lines up with Brookwood Trace. This will be known as the "Lower Access" in this study. And there is a 

pair of one-way accesses to the school on the northwest side of the school. These will be known 

collectively as the "Upper Access" in this study. An aerial photograph with access features annotated in 

included in Figure 2. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 1 



Figure 2. Aerial View - Brookwood Forest Elementary School 

C A summary of the traffic concerns raised by parents of children at the school was provided to Skipper 

Consulting, Inc. in the form of notes from a meeting dated October 8, 2014. A copy of these meeting 

notes is  included in Appendix A of this report. The concerns which are addressed in this study are as 

follows: 

South Brookwood Road southeast-bound is blocked coming from Brookwood Road during the 

time of the afternoon carpool. The existing on-campus vehicle storage and left turn lane on 

South Brookwood Road are of insufficient length to store the standing carpool queue. This 

results in vehicles attempting to  pass the standing queue of vehicles waiting in the carpool line, 

either in the northwest-bound lane of South Brookwood Road or on the shoulder. 

South Brookwood Road northbound is blocked coming from Overton Road during the time of 

the afternoon carpool. The existing on-campus vehicle storage is of insufficient length to store 

the standing carpool queue. This results in vehicles attempting to pass the standing queue of 

vehicles waiting in the carpool line in the southbound lane of South Brookwood Road. 

Erratic and unsafe actions by driven attempting to  go around the standing queues of vehicles 

c results in safety concerns for pedestrians. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 2 



I' 

There have been several different attempts made to  rectify these concerns in the past without apparent / 
success. These attempts were documented in the October 8, 2014 meeting minutes. Some of these 

efforts have included: 

Changing carpool procedures 

Police presence and enforcement 

Public awareness 

Volunteer traffic control by parents 

Previous studies have been performed and solutions have been recommended; however none of the 

previous recommendations have been implemented. Fnr example: 

In 2006, Skipper Consulting, Inc. produced a document which made the following 

recommendations concerning the carpool operation at Brookwood Forest Elementary School. A 

summary of this document is included in Appendix B. 

o Widen the Lower Access to allow two inbound lanes 

o Construct a right turn lane on South Brookwood Road northbound at the Lower Access 

o Modify the on-site circulation at the Upper Access to allow more vehicles to be stored 
C 

on-site 

o Extend the existing left turn lane on South Brookwood Road southeast-bound at the 

Upper Access 

In 2005, Sain Associates undertook a safety study for all the schools in the Mountain Brook 

school system. Regarding Brookwood Forest Elementary School, it was recommended that the 

parking area at the Upper Access be striped and carpool operations be modified. A sketch from 

the Sain Associates report is included in Appendix C. 

This report addresses recommendations which would normally be considered "low-cost" and "short- 

term". It is still the opinion of Skipper Consulting, Inc. that long-term improvements which would entail 

higher costs, such as the improvements included in our 2006 recommendations, are needed to correct 

existing deficiencies in the carpool operation at Brookwood Forest Elementary School. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 3 



c BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

In the vicinity of the site, South Brookwood Road is a 

two lane local roadway with a posted speed limit of 

25 miles per hour. A school zone speed limit of 15 

miles per hour ("When Children Are Present") has also 

been established on South Brookwood Road. There is 

a sidewalk along the west side of South Brookwood 

Road from Overton Road to Hermitage Road. See 

Figure 3 for a general representation of South 

Brookwood Road. 

Existing Roadwav Geometric Data 

Figure 3. South Brookwood Road 

'L Figure 4 provides a depiction of relevant roadway geometric data for South Brookwood Road and 

Brookwood Forest Elementary School. 

Exinina Intersection T urnlna Movement Traffic Counts 

Existing intersection turning movement traffic counts were performed at the intersections of South 

Brookwood Road with the Upper and Lower Accesses on Wednesday to Thursday, October 29 to 30, 

2014 from 7:15 to 8:15 a.m. and 2:30 to 3:30 p.m. by Traffic Data, LLC on behalf of Skipper Consulting, 

Inc. The intersection turning movement traffic count data is included in Appendix D and is summarized 

in Figures 5 and 6. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 4 









f 
i exist in^ Machine Traffic Counts 

Existing machine traffic counts were performed on South Brookwood Road to the south and to the 

northwest of Brookwood Forest Elementary School for twenty-four continuous hours on Wednesday, 

October 29, 2014. The machine counts included speed and vehicle classification. The traffic count data is 

included in Appendix E and is summarized below: 

South Brookwood Road north of Overton Road 

Traffic Volume Northbound Southbound 
Daily 1,261 1,296 2,557 
AM Peak 190 188 378 
PM Peak 127 154 281 

Speed 
Average (Daily) 28 mph 
8~~ Percentile (Daily) 3 1  mph 

Classification 
Heavy Trucks 6 
Light Trucks 64 
Passenger Vehicles 2,485 
Motorcycles 2 

South Brookwood Road northwest of Brookwood Forest Elementaw School 

Traffic Volume Eastbound Westbound 
Daily 1,272 1,241 2,513 
AM Peak 279 211 490 
PM Peak 103 174 277 

Speed 
Average (Daily) 34 mph 
8 5 ~  Percentile (Daily) 39 mph 

Classification 
Heavy Trucks 6 
Light Trucks 50 
Passenger Vehicles 2,453 
Motorcycles 4 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 8 



The travel speed on South Brookwood Road is of concern. The average speed of all vehicles is almost 10 

miles per hour over the posted speed limit, and the 85* percentile travel speed of all vehicles is almost 

15 miles per hour over the posted speed limit. A further review of travel speeds by hour of the day was 

performed, concentrating on the hours when school is beginning and ending. This review is detailed in 

Table 1. 

Table 1. Detailed Speed Study South Brookwood Road North west of Brookwood Forest Elementary School 

As seen in Table 1, a small percentage (12%) of the vehicles on South Brookwood Road are traveling 

within the posted speed limit. 59% of the vehicles are traveling from 1 to 10 miles per hour over the 

posted speed limit. The remainder (29%) are traveling greater than 10 miles per hour over the posted 

speed limit. 

Based on this data, a recommendation of this study is for the increased enforcement of the posted 

speed limit on South Brookwood Road by the Mountain Brook Police Department, particularly during 

the hours when school is beginning and ending. 

Observations 

Observations of traffic flow on South Brookwood Road in the vicinity of Brookwood Forest Elementary 

School were conducted on Wednesday, October 29,2014 from 7:00 to 8:30 a.m. and 2:15 to 3:30 p.m. 

by Skipper Consulting, Inc. The review included traffic flows on South Brookwood Road, operation of the 

carpool pick up and drop off, and pedestrian traffic. During the morning, the observations indicated that 

there were no traffic patterns or problems which need to be addressed. During the afternoon, the 

observations indicated that there are standing queues of vehicles on South Brookwood Road southeast- 

bound at the Upper Access and northbound at the Lower Access. These queues impede traffic flow on 

South Brookwood Road. The maximum queues observed are-as follows: 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 9 



U ~ p e r  Access 
Vehicles in front of school 10 
Vehicles on South Brookwood Road 29 

Lower Access 
Vehicles in school driveway 32 
Vehicles on South Brookwood Road 25 
Vehicles on Brookwood Trace 8 

Queues begin to form on South Brookwood Road at 2:40 p.m. The maximum observed queues occurred 

from 2:50-2:55 p.m. South Brookwood Road was cleared by 3:12 p.m. 

Crash Data 

Crash data for South Brookwood Road from Overton Road to Brookwood Road was provided by the 

Mountain Brook Police Department for the yean 2012,2013 and 2014 (through October 31). During the 

period, a total of 18 crashes were reported (6 in 2012, 10 in 2013 and 2 in 2014). Of these crashes, 15 

were related to the intersections of Overton Road and Brookwood Road. The remaining three crashes 

are described as follows. It should be noted that none of these crashes was directly related to the traffic 

conditions of Brookwood Forest Elementary School. 

Crash #I occurred on Monday, April 12, 2012, at 5:54 p.m. The weather was dry. A vehicle on 

South Brookwood Road southbound slowed to turn left into a private driveway at 3344 South 

Brookwood Road. A second vehicle attempted to  pass the turning vehicle on the left and was 

struck by the turning vehicle. This crash was property damage only. 

Crash #2 occurred on Tuesday, July 17, 2012, at 6:24 p.m. The weather was dry. A vehicle 

traveling on South Brookwood Road southbound between Brookwood Road and Hermitage 

Road lost control and ran off the road. One injury was reported. 

Crash #3 occurred on Wednesday, September 26, 2012 at 2:35 p.m. The weather was dry. A 

vehicle exiting a private driveway at 3330 South Brookwood Road struck a vehicle traveling 

eastbound on South Brookwood Road. One injury was reported. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 10 



ANALYSIS OF ALTERNATIVES 

Basis of Analvsis 

Based on obsenrations, attematives were developed to mitigate the negative impacts of traffic related 

to South Brookwood Elementary School on South Brookwood Road. It was evident that the observed 

problems are limited to the afternoon pick up time, and occur from approximately 2:45 p.m. to 3:15 

p.m. The traffic and pedestrian counts performed for this study were refined to this period in order to 

analyze specific alternatives. The turning movement traffic count for 2:45 to 3:15 p.m. is shown in Figure 

7. As shown in Figure 7, the majority of the existing traffic on this section of South Brookwood Road is 

directly related to the school. During the 30 minute period from 2:45 to 3:15 p.m., there were counted 9 

through vehicles (vehicles not directly generated by the school) in the northbound direction and 8 

through vehicles in the southbound direction. 

A THROUGH TRAFFIC = 9 VEH. 

I 
THROUGH TRAFFIC = 8 VEH. 

Figure 7. Existing Traflc Counts - 2:45-3:15 PM 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 11 



Alternative A -Traffic Control Measures 

The first alternative considered was the use of traffic control measures to  mitigate traffic concerns. 

Based on the peak 30 minute afternoon traffic count, there was the possibility of up to 20 vehicles in the 

northbound direction and 12 vehicles in the southbound direction who desire to  continue straight 

through the intersections which have queued vehicles. It is unclear whether those vehicles which are, in 

fact, crossing the double yellow line to  pass are through vehicles or school-related vehicles, or a 

combination of both. During the observations, no vehicles were seen passing to the left of the double 

yellow line on South Brookwood Road southbound northwest of the school. There were eight (8) 

vehicles which were observed to pass on South Brookwood Road northbound south of the school. Some 

of these turned left onto Brookwood Trace, and some continued north on South Brookwood Road. 

Measure #1- Turn Restrictions. The desire for school-related vehicles to pass to the left of the double 

yellow line can be removed by restricting turns on South Brookwood Road at the two school accesses, 

namely: 

No right turn on South Brookwood Road northbound at the Upper Access from 2:45 to 3:15 p.m. 

No left turn on South Brookwood Road southbound at the Lower Access from 2:45 to  3:15 p.m. 

These signs are illustrated in Figure 8. 

Figure 8. Turn Restriction Signs 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 12 



The turn restrictions will cause some re-routing of school-related traffic. During the peak 30 minutes, i 
there were 2 vehicles which turned left into the Lower Access and 11 vehicles which turned right into 

the Upper Access. The turn restrictions, therefore, would have affected 13 vehicles during the 30 minute 

period. Furthermore, the effect of the turn restrictions would be to force all carpool activity bound for 

the Upper Access to  approach the campus on South Brookwood Road southbound from the northwest, 

and all carpool activity bound for the Lower Access to approach the campus on South Brookwood Road 

northbound from Overton Road. 

In order to  be effective, these signs must be enforced. These are regulatory signs which can be enforced 

and ticketed by the Mountain Brook Police Department. Brookwood Forest Elementary School can also 

employee individuals (staff or volunteers) to remind carpool drivers of the turn restriction signs. The 

school can also disseminate information to families concerning the requisite carpool patterns to be used 

approaching the campus. 

Measure #Z - Passina Restriction. For both the school-related and through traffic, the existing double 

yellow line on South Brookwood Road can be reinforced with a "Do Not Pass" sign. Two signs per 

approach are recommended. These first signs would need to be erected in advance of the maximum 

queues on South Brookwood Road - just north of the intersection of Overton Road for South 

Brookwood Road northbound and approximately 750 feet northwest of the school property for South 

Brookwood Road southeast-bound. The second set of signs would be placed approximately half-way 

between the first signs and the edge of the school property, at approximately 375 feet from the edge of 

the school property. This sign is illustrated in Figure 9. 

Figure 9. Do Not Pass Sign 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 13 



Alternative 6 - Carpool Operation Modifications 

In our review of the carpool operations on the Brookwood Forest Elementary School campus, we did not 

note any changes which should be made to the Lower Access which do not involve additional roadway 

lanes. At the Upper Access, the existing carpool loading and stacking area is shown in red in Figure 10. 

The operation of the existing carpool could be improved during the afternoon by requesting that the 

first three vehicles pull all the way to the end of the area designated in red. 

An alternative arrangement for extending the carpool operation would be to extend the pickup area 

alongside of the gym building as shown in blue in Figure 10. The existing parking area would need to be 

restriped in order to provide a continuous turning path at the end of the parking area. It is estimated 

that an extra one or two vehicles may be able to be stored on campus with this alternative. 

Figure 10. Upper Access Carpool Pick Up Extension 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 14 



Alternative C - One-way Treatment of South Brookwood Road: Northbound 

The issue of vehicles crossing the double yellow line to  pass standing queues of vehicles on South 

Brookwood Road can be mitigated by establishing a section of South Brookwood Road as a one-way 

roadway from 2:45 p.m. to 3:15 p.m. Alternative C considers making South Brookwood Road one way 

northbound. An operational concept for Alternative C is shown in Figure 11. 

Figure 11. Alternative C - South Brookwood Road One Way Northbound 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 15 



The traffic reassignment for this alternative is shown in Figure 12. 

ti& 
Sma nts 

f 
Y 
'l W I 

Figure 12. Traffic Reassignment 2:45-3:15 PM - One Way Northbound 

I 

In reviewing the potential traffic operations of Alternative C, three immediate concerns are noted: 

1. The distance between the Lower Access and the Upper Access is approximately 625 feet, 

sufficient to stack approximately 25 to 28 vehicles. The anticipated maximum queue, based on 

obse~ations, for the Upper Access is  approximately 30 vehicles. Therefore, traffic queued to 

enter the Upper Access will conflict with traffic exiting the Lower Access. 

2. The one-way treatment northbound would logically begin at Overton Road. However, there is 

no convenient location to the northwest of the school to end the one-way treatment. The most 

logical place to end the one way treatment would be at Woodridge Road or Spring Hill Road, but 

this would affect traffic access to multiple private driveways and two public roadways (South 

Brookwood Circle and North Woodridge Road). 

3. The diversion routes for southbound traffic on South Brookwood Road to reach Overton Road 

are lengthy and circuitous, and one route would involve mixing with traffic at Mountain Brook 

High School. 

Based on these factors, Alternative C does not appear to be desirable for implementation. 

rr) 
Q, 

4 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. 

1 
il 
5 

-19 

I i 

Page 16 

8 

3 g 

67 
3-19 el *all 

south BmokwDod Road 

h 3 6  
87 

~ 1 0  -Q 

a t  
Mo 

e 
i m 



Alternative D - One-Wav Treatment of South Brookwood Road: Southbound 

Alternative D considers making South Brookwood Road one way southbound from 2:45 to 3:15 p.m. An 

operational concept for Alternative D is shown in Figure 13. 

Figure 13. Alternative D -South Brookwood Road One Way Southbound 

Skipper Consulting, lnc. Page 17 



The traffic reassignment for this alternative is shown in Figure 14. 

Road 

Figure 14. Traffic Reassignment 2:45-3:15 PM - One Way Southbound 

In reviewing the potential traffic operations of Alternative D, four immediate concerns are noted: 

1. The carpool queue lane is on the side of the road which would be typically driving on the wrong 

side of the road. The process of getting driven to move into this lane to stack for carpool would 

be problematic. 

2. The distance between the Lower Access and the Upper Access is approximately 625 feet, 

sufficient to stack approximately 25 to 28 vehicles. The anticipated maximum queue, based on 

observations, for the Lower Access is approximately 25 vehicles. Therefore, traffic queued to 

enter the Lower Access will completely fill the carpool queue lane between the Upper Access 

and the Lower Access. There would be no room for future growth in traffic at the Lower Access. 

3. The one-way treatment northbound would logically end at Overton Road. However, there is no 

convenient location to the northwest of the school to begin the one-way treatment. The most 

logical place to begin the one way treatment would be at Woodridge Road or Spring Hill Road, 

but this would affect traffic access to multiple p i ia te  driveways and two public roadways 

(South Brookwood Circle and North Woodridge Road). 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 18 



4. The diversion routes for northbound traffic on South Brookwood Road to reach Brookwood 

Road from Overton Road are lengthy and circuitous, and one route would involve mixing with 

traffic at Mountain Brook High School. 

Based on these factors, Alternative D does not appear to be desirable for implementation. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 19 



Alternative E -Roadwav Closure of South Brookwood Road 

Alternative E considers a closure of South Brookwood Road between the Upper Access and the Lower 

Access from 2:45 to 3:15 p.m. An operational concept for Alternative E is shown in Figure 15. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. 

Figure IS. Alternative E-  South Brookwood Road Closure 

Page 20 



The traffic reassignment for this alternative is shown in Figure 16. 

Figure 16. Tragic Reassignment 2:45-3:15 PM - Closure 

Alternative E does not have as many negative implications as Alternatives C and D. However, there are L. 
certain concerns regarding implementation of Alternative E: 

1. The divenion routes for northbound and southbound traffic on South Brookwood Road to reach 

Brookwood Road and Overton Road are lengthy and circuitous, and one route would involve 

mixing with traffic at Mountain Brook High School. 

2. Complex signing would be required to notify the traveling public of the closed roadway section, 

and signage would have to  be installed far enough in advance to  allow divenion. 

3. Manual labor will be required to erect traffic control devices each school day at each end of the 

closed roadway section. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 21 



RECOMMENDATIONS 

Considering the data collected during this study and analysis of alternatives, this study makes the 

following recommendations: 

Install left and right turn restriction signage on South Brookwood Road. Required signs are: 

o No right turn on South Brookwood Road northbound at the Upper Access from 2:45 to 

3:15 p.m. 

o No left turn on South Brookwood Road southbound at the Lower Access from 2:45 to 

3:15 p.m. 

These signs are illustrated in Figure 17. 

Figure 17. Turn Restriction Signs 

In order to be effective, these signs must be enforced. These are regulatory signs which can be enforced 

and ticketed by the Mountain Brook Police Department. Brookwood Forest Elementary School can also 

employee individuals (staff or volunteers) to remind carpool drivers of the turn restriction signs. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 22 



2. Install four (4) "00 Not Pass" signs on South Brookwood Road. Two signs per approach are 

recommended. These first signs would need to be erected in advance of the maximum queues 

on South Brookwood Road - just north of the intersection of Overton Road for South 

Brookwood Road northbound and approximately 750 feet northwest of the school property for 

South Brookwood Road southeast-bound. The second set of signs would be placed 

approximately half-way between the first signs and the edge of the school property, at 

approximately 375 feet from the edge of the school property. This sign is illustrated in Figure 18. 

Figure 18. Do Not Pass Sign 

DO 
NOT 

PASS 
* 

3. Letter to porents. Brookwood Forest Elementary School should send a letter to all parents 

concerning the requisite carpool patterns to be used approaching the campus, the turn 

restrictions and the need to prohibit passing on South Brookwood Road near the school. The 

letter should also address the need for parents to limit their arrival time for afternoon carpool 

to  no earlier than 2:45 p.m. 

9 

4. Replace the existing warning signs on South Brookwood Road. The existing S1-1 School signs 

and flashing beacons should be replaced with School Speed Limit signs with flashing beacons, as 

illustrated in Figure 19. In general, each approach to the school on South Brookwood Road 

should have an S1-1 School sign (without flashing beacons) and an SS-1 School Speed Limit sign 

assembly (with flashing beacons). 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 23 



Figure 19. SchoolSpeed Limit Sign Assembly 

5. Enforce speed limit on South Brookwood Road. The travel speed on South Brookwood Road is 

of concern. The average speed of all vehicles is  almost 10 miles per hour over the posted speed 

limit, and the 85th percentile travel speed of all vehicles is almost 15 miles per hour over the 

posted speed limit. During the beginning and ending of school, a small percentage (12%) of the 

vehicles on South Brookwood Road are traveling within the posted speed limit. 59% of the 

vehicles are traveling from 1 to  10 miles per hour over the posted speed limit. The remainder 

(29%) are traveling greater than 10 miles per hour over the posted speed limit. Based on this 

data, a recommendation of this study is for the increased enforcement of the posted speed limit 

on South Brookwood Road by the Mountain Brook Police Department, particularly during the 

hours when school is beginning and ending. 

6. Monitor situation and implement Alternative E if needed. The traffic should be monitored for 

the remainder of the 2014-2015 school year. If the problems which were addressed in this study 

have not been mitigated by implementation of the recommendations in this study, then 

Alternative E should be considered for implementation for school year 2015-2016. 

Skipper Consulting, lnc. Page 24 



Appendix A 

Brookwood Forest Carpool Meeting Notes 
October 8,2014 



BROOKWOOD FOREST ELEMENTARY CARPOOL MEETING 10.814 

PROB~EMS: 
South Brookwood Road from the direction of Brookwood Road is blocked daily from approximately 
2:40-3: 10, making it impassible for through traffic. The left-turn lane is too short to accommodate all the 
waiting cars. 
From the direction of Brookwood Road before reaching the school, through traffic attempts to cross the 
double yellow line and pass on the left, risking head-on collisions and putting themselves, children and other 
drivers at risk. (No Passing Zone with Limited Sight Distance) 
Through traffic also attempts to pass on the right, risking sttlkiag walking children 
From the direction of Overton Road, cars are also passing (although sight distance is much better), and drivers 
often pass through the stop sign in their huny to get around the stopped trac. 

PRIOR ATTEMPTS TO RESOLVE TEE PROBLEMS: 
1. Carpool Procedures Redesign 
Result: Parents are still blocking the road. 
Problem with this approach: There's just not enough space on-property to accommodate all of the cars. 
Additionally, when we are frantically rushing children into cars in an effort to move the line more quickly, we 
increase the risk of accidents. 

2. Police Intervention 
Blinking signs were placed, but instructed parents not to block the road, rather than clarifying the area as a No 
Passing Zone. Parents were threatened with tickets. Uncertain if any drivers passing on the left were ticketed. 
Result: Parents are still blocking the road, cars are still passing on the left, and the hazardous situation still 
exists, posing a continued danger to anyone on this section of South Brookwood Road during carpool hours. 
Parents are afraid to request police assistance again for fear of being ticketed while trying to pick up their 
children from school. 
Problem with this approach: If parents are not allowed to queue up for the left-turn lane as they would on any 
other road anywhere but are forced to keep moving, more traffc will be driven through up to 3 intersections 
where children are crossing on foot: across South Brookwood fiom the school, at Brodrwd  Trace, and at 
South Brookwood and Overtan, thereby increasing the risk to the walkers. 

3. Public Shaming of Reckless Drivers on Social Medh 
Result: A lot of uproar, with no discernible reduction in the incidence of offenders. 
Problem witb this approach: Its only benefit is catharsis. Drivers who break the law and don't get tickets 
don't change their behaviors. Eventually, the shock value wears off and people become apathetic. 

4. Homemade Traffi Delay Signs at the Top of Soutb Brookwood 
Result: Unclear. 
Problem witb this approach: Some drivers who passed on the left stated they did not see the signs. They are 
not very visible, and have no flashing lights or "official appearancen to draw attention. 

5. Volunteer Parent Waffle Control 
Result: Visible presence seemed to discourage through traflic from attempting to pass. 
Problem with this approach: Lack of parent volunteers and potential danger to inexperienced volunteers. 



BROOKWOOD FOREST ELEMENTARY CARPOOL MEETING 10-8-14 

POSSIBLE SOLUTIONS: 
Signage clarifying the area as a No Passing Zone- include flashing lights. 
Signage requesting no through W c  during carpool hours-- include flashing lights. 
Request parents not to queue up for afternoon carpool until 2 5 5  or 3:00 if possible. 
Remind parents to not enter front carpool from the direction of Overton Road, which prevents parents fiom 
the direction of Brookwood Road from turning in, fbrther increasing the delay on South Brookwood Road. 
Instruct the crossing guard to enforce this. 
Police patr61 to ticket reckless drivers who disregard the safety of our children, families and community 
members. 
Police patrol (or teachers or parents, if appropriate) to help direct M c  so that through traffic may pass 
safely. 
A new drive paved somewhere on school property to be used as a carpod lane (and ovefflow parking for 
special events) to help alleviate the backup on South Brookwood Road. 
Widen the road to allow for a longer left turn lane. 
Install more guardrails to keep walking children safe. 



Appendix B 

C 2006 Skipper Consulting Recommendations 
Brookwood Forest Elementary School 



Brookwood Forrest Elementary School 
Mountain Brook, Alabama 

Traffic Circulation Improvement AIternatives - Lower Access 

1. Widen lower driveway to school to provide two inbound lanes and one outbound 
lane. This would allow for all observed storage to occur on the school access and not 
South Brookwood Road. 

Approximate Cost Range (including engineering): $50,000 - $65,000. 

2. Construct a right turn deceleration lane on South Brookwood Road at the approach to 
the lower school access. This lane is assumed to be 250 feet which would fall short 
of the peak storage needs for afternoon school pick-up, but would not extend in front 
of the houses on South Brookwood Road. 

Approximate Cost Range (including engineering): $30,000 - $40,000. 

Traffic Circulation Improvement Alternatives - Upper Access 

3. Modifj on-site trafic circulation for afternoon pick-up at the upper school access via 
striping and channelization. This would include utilizing the parking lot for 
additional storage and striping a cul-de-sac north of the gymnasium. 

Approximately Cost Range (including engineering): $1,500 - $2,500. 

4. Construct a traffic circle on South Brookwood Road at the lower access and construct 
a right turn deceleration lane on South Brookwood School approaching the upper 
school access. This would require traffic to pass the school, u-turn at the traffic 
circle, and store in the right-turn lane adjacent to the school. 

Approximate Cost Range (including engineering): $90,000 - $120,000. 

5. Extend the existing left turn lane on South Brookwood Road to the west 
approximately 500 feet. This would provide off-site storage for the peak queues 
experienced during the afternoon pick-up period. 

Approximate Cost Range: ???? 

Note: Observations during the morning peak hour indicate the adequate storage is 
available at each access. The problems with inadequate storage primarily occur 
during the afternoon pick-up periods. 



Appendix C 

2005 Sain Associates Recommendations 
Brookwood Forest Elementary School 





Appendix D 

C Existing Turning Movement Traffic Counts 



Mountain Brook, AL 

TRAFFIC DATA, LLC 
1409 Turnham Lane 

Birmingham, AL 35216 File Name : inbrook02 
205-824-01 25 Site Code : 00000000 

Start Date : 10/29/2014 
Page No : 1 



Mountain Brook, AL 

TRAFFIC DATA, LLC 
1409 Turnham Lane 

Birmingham, AL 35216 File Name : mbrook04 
206-824-01 26 Site Code : 00000000 

Start Date : 10/29/2014 
Page No : 1 



Mountain Brook, AL 

TRAFFIC DATA, LLC 
1409 Turnham Lane 

Birmingham, AL 35216 File Name : mbrook03 
206-824-01 26 Site Code : 00000000 

Start Date : 10128/2014 
Page No : 1 

OtOO AM 0 21 2 1 10 0 34 
Grand Tdal 0 384 77 

. !  27.6 
202 0 824 

&PM % 0.0 100.0 72.4 0.0 99.4 0.0 
Total % 0.0 46.8 0.0 9.3 24.5 0.0 1 ltJ.4 0.0 0.1 

07:30 AM 0 168 0 25 79 0 

! 

0 0 1 3W 
OR45 AM 0 28 0 - 6 15 0 

0 Total 0 253 0 1 44 121 

(I. 

i 
k 

z 9  0 0 
0 

64 
83 o! 601 

I 



Appendix E 

Existing Machine Traffic Counts 



TRAFFIC DATA, U C  
1409 Twnharn Lane, Birmingham, AL 35216 

205-8244 125 
~oca-n: : S BROOKWOOD RD we& Or SWOOL 
Cky, State: : MOUNTPIN BROOK, AL hte: 10A9~2014 
S W U n d t :  25mph Wednesday 

24 Hour Volume -. . . 
WB EB Combinad a h  WB =-- &%binad- -. 

- - - - 7 z O O A M D  1 0 1 0- 2- 1 :mPM 7 46 9 59 1-5- 
1215 AM 0 D 0 12:15 PM 9 14 23 
12:M AM 1 0 1 12:N PM 11 15 26 

0 1WL??L-- 1 1 12:45 PM 19 40 
1:oo AM o 1 0-0 1 r:ckiip~ 1 7 ! - 5 9  3-3 
1:LS AM 0 0 0 1:15 PM 20 13 33 
1:30 AM 1 0 1 1:X PH 13 16 29 
1:45 AM 0 0 0 1s PM 12 

0- m 11 
200 AM 0 0 0 2:w PM 19 84 

0 0 
1 2 ~ F i F m  

2:s AM 0 2 :s  PM 5 26 31 
230  AM 0 0 0 2:30 PM 21 44 65 
PAS AM 0 0 245 PM 39 51 :- 3TO AM 0 1 2 0 3 h i  11-2s 
3:15 AM 0 1 1 3:15 PM 28 18 46 

-- 

9 : s  AM 7 17 24 
9:45 AM 9 16 25 

1 o i i  AM 9-35 11 49 a-a 
10:s AM 6 13 19 
10- AM 9 10 19 
10-S AM 11 15 26 
11ao AM 14 61 i6-a 307Ti 
11:~s AM 17 11 28 
11:m AM 11 7 18 
11:45 AM 19 16 35 

24 Hour Vduma 
m EB 
1241 (49.446) un (50.69s) 

44.4 )6 
Poak Wur 215AM 

Volume 211 
Muor 0.61 



TRAFFIC DATA, U C  
1409 Turnham Lane, Birmingham, AL 35216 

205-824-0125 
Location: : S BROOKWOOD RD west of SCHOOL ACCESS 
Qty, State: : MOUNTAIN BROOK, AL Date: 10/29/2014 
speed Umu: : 25 mph Wednesday 

24 Hour Speed 
Combined Channels 

1OmphPacefpeed 29.2 - 39.2 Average 335 mph 
Number in Psce 1814 (72.2 %) Minimum 5.8 mph 

Maximum 64.8 mph 

Count 2491 2353 2030 



TRAFFIC DATA, LlC 
1409 Tumham Lane, Birmingham, At 35216 

205-824-0125 
~ ~ c a t l ~ n :  : S BROOKWOOD RD west of SCHOOL ACCESS 
Clv, State: : MOUNTAIN SROOK, A 1  
Speed Wnlt: : 25 rnph 

24 Hour Vehlcle Classlfimtlon 

m. lO/zs/2014 
Wednesday 

Combined Channels 

On& 2Axle 2Axle 3 a l e  4 Axle c5 Axl 5 Axle >6Axl c6 Axl 6 W e  >6 Ax1 
Time Total Bike M l e r  lanq Buses 6Tlre Sinale Slngle Double Double DouMe Multl Multi Multl 

l2:OO AM 2  0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

10:OO PM 16 0 14 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
11:OO PM 7 ' 0  7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 2 5 0  4 1895 !iS8 6 44 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 
% 0.2 75.4 22.2 0.2 1.8 0.0 0.0 0 2  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 



r', TRAFFIC -. .,A, U C  f-7 
1409 Twnham bne, Birmingham, AL 35216 

205-824-0125 
m: : S 8RWKWOOD RD MJth of OVERTON Rb 
Q*I. sue: : MOUNTAIN EUWK, AL Date: lW2912m4 
spwd Wt:: 25 rnph W a n e s a y  

24 Hour-me --- CijmWnd TB CZiiiblned 
- 

-I!n 
0 0 1  0 2 

-&ln 
11 db 9- 

12- AM Z 12:00 PM 11 65 Z2-ii5- 
e l 5  AM 0 0 0 12:15 PM 10 14 24 
12a AM 1 0 1 1230 PM 18 17 35 
12:45 AM ------ 0 1 

0 -bb-;-_ - - 12:45 PM 21 g- 44 
1- AM 1 1 I:&JTM 14 53 $7 3-4 1'5 
1:s AM 0 0 0 1: 15 PM 19 13 32 
1:30 M 1 0 1 1:30 PM 10 18 28 
1:45 AM 0 0 

0 :-- - 1:45 PM 15 6 
2- AM 0 0- 0 0 2700 PM 24 132 12 87 36 219 

%--. 
2:lS AM 0 0 0 2:15 PM 23 21 44 
2 3 0  AM 0 0 0 2:30 PM 63 19 82 - 2:45 AM 0 :7-7-----o- 0 - 245  PM 22 35 57 
3?CEAM-- 0 1 5 -:@-hl 56-& 7 0 7 5 4  g0-2~i 
3:15 AM 0 0 0 3:15 PM 22 30 52 
3- AM 1 1 2 3:30 PM 20 28 48 
3:45 AM 0 1 1 3 : a  PM 

2 &L 
26 

4:0a-m-- 4 a 4 e' 4:00 PM 1% 23-2 g--- 237 
4:15 AM 0 1 1 4:15 PM 29 25 54 
4:30 AM 2 2 4 4:30 PM 33 34 67 
4:45 AM 0 1 L 4:45 PU 

2--. g-- 30 
E i i i~~ 2-I 7 4 7 9  KWTM 122 
5:15 AM 5 2 7 5:15 PM 38 30 68 

17-r4-27, 

5:30 AM 3 1 4 530  PM 27 31 58 
5:45 AM 2 2 5:45 pH 25 72 ;-a 6 -  3--20-' 0 17 63di,-PM 27 9 5 i 6 - 7 - 2 9  5'ii2i6 
6:XS AM 2 3 5 6:15 PM 27 24 51 
6:30 AM 2 9 11 6:30 PM 18 35 53 
6:45 AM ----- 13 5 6:45 PM 25 30 55 i"23-a 200  AM a4 la4 s 184 200 P M % S - 8  16 61 41 133 
2 1 5  AM 49 25 74 7:15 PM 16 13 29 
7:30 AM 81 69 150 230  PM 24 11 35 
7:45 AM 40 112 G!!Ss? g-a--+- 34 

20 ~g 67 8:WAM --- 42 la 8 a  PM 51 1 7 5 9  
8:15 AM U - 16 29 8:15 PM 5 4 9 
830  AM 17 IS 32 8:30 PM 10 7 17 
8:45 AM ---- 15 &-.-. 8:45 PM 3 ki 9:OO AM 14 34 ?$ *-9-& 4 14 

U 16-- 37 .. 
9:15 AM 4 17 21 9:15 PM 2 4 6 
9:30 AM 8 20 28 930 pH 6 3 9 
9:45 AH 8 17- 25 9:45 PM 6 3 9 

10:OO AM 11 44 14 57 25 l b i  1 7 3 -  7 5 1 0  8 7  
8 10:lSAH 16 24 10:15 PM 1 0 1 

10:30 AH 13 11 24 1090 pH 2 4 6 
1k45 AM 

tg-67- -6- 
28 10:45 PM 1 

11 :b-O-m-- !Zl 31 1Zd 11:W-i i- 2 1 4 3- 6 
2 

1l:lSAM S9 13 32 11:15 PM 0 1 1 
11:30 AH 15 6 21 11:30 PM 0 2 2 
1 1 : 4 5 ~  18 IS 36 11:45 PM 0 0 0 

lu SB 
24 Hour Voiuna 1261 (49.3%) 1796 (50.7%) E?=' 

48.1 % 
~ d y k  naur 7:15 AM 

Volume 190 -- - -. - 
Factor 0.~59 065  0.63 



TRAFFIC DATA, LLC 
1409 Turnham Lane, Birmingham, AL 35216 

205-824-0125 
Location: : S BROOKWOOD Rb north of OVERTON RD 
Clty, State: : MOUNTAIN BROOK, AL Date: 10/29/2014 
Speed Umit: : 25 mph 

24 Hour Speed 
Wednesday 

Comblned Channels 

~ m p h p ~ s p e e d  23.3 - 33.3 Average 27.6 mph 
Number in Pace 2159 (84.4 %) Minimum 5.6 mph 

#aximum 4 0 3  mph 

Speeds Exceeded L5 ZSUlQh 3almh 
99.2 % 78.0 % 15 % 

Count 2537 1994 39 



TRAFFIC DATA, L C  
1409 Tumham Lane, Bimingharn, AL 35216 

205-824-0125 
Lacation: : S BROOKWOOD RD north of WERTON RD 
aty, ~ t a ~ e :  : MOUNTAIN BROOK, AL 
Spetd Limlt: : 25 mph 

24 Hour Vehide Uaslflcalon 

Date: 10/29/2014 
Wednesday 

Cars8 2Awle 2Axle 3Axle 4 Axle 4 AxI SAxle >6 AxI c6 Axl 6 A*k >6 Ax1 
Time Total Bike Trailer Lana Buses 6 Tlre Slnale Slnale Double Double Double Multl Multl Multl 

1200 AM 2 0 1 1 0 O. 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
.l:OOAM :.:.,I :0 .,..: ..l o..: . . 0. .. ., 20.- . . - .- 0 ,. .; 0: 0 ... .:",.: , o  1'. . ..:. ;O . ,A. , 0 . ., 0 ."-.- ,,. 0 
2:00 AM 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 . . 0"':. .... :,. .3 0 .. 0 :.. 0 , 0 0 0 

, 390 AM L- - 3  . ..-. . 0 !! : . , 0 .:.. ::0.. 0 O:.- -, ::O .;. 1 .,.::O .: -. - ,... 0 ,;.:.f.,;:.:::O .,.. ::D , + -, 0 
4:OO AM 8 .o .,: 4 . " .  0 , O  . 0 0 .o 4 . .  . . .... 0 .  0 0 0 
5:OOAM. .:; .:19 ...... 10 ..:::.:.17 Z . . . . .  0 . . 0 . 0 . ..-'.:0: ....... : ... O.'..:,. .fi:;,O;..;.. ... ;O, .  .,. ,. 0 ..',:O: :. . , O  
6:00 AM 37 0 30 6 . .  0 1 0 O . O ,  . ..... no . . . O 0 0 0 
7:Oo An . ". 368 . 1 . ,  2 7  . -  3 , . . 4 . - 0 . . . 0 . .  1 .  . . O , . : . . :  0 , . , 1 . . . ,O  .. ..'.: .. .O 
8:OO AM 132 . :,  0 .  97 31 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
.9:00,AM: 109 . . ..:..;O ::,-.,..86 : 1 8 . .  0 . 5 _J ...... - _ .  0 .' . . 0 . : . 0 ' ~ . , . . : . ; 0  0 ..- :..O :':: . . ;O 

10:OOAM 101 0 , .  79 '19 0 3 0 0 0 . .  . O .  0 0 0 0 
ll:00 AM . :.:.120 . . 0 . : . : : . . ; . :  1 -,.:25:.::::. , . .O,- ,.... .:SO::.. , ... .:.O, ,...-, *;;:;0:. I:..:. . ,.~O"-.~:,~~;:;O ., - :, . :,0 _,.: . . .. 0 
12:OO PM 125 .. . 0 94 26 1 4 0 .  0 0 .  0 0 0 0 0 

1:00 PM .::La15 . ..TO :,:! ... 1-61 .. ..:.::28<ii::, .1 .-  .:, .;hr .,..:..,.Or, .:. ,:,i:O..: .... . . ..I.. .. .:;,10...'.,. . ..:O. ,.::.21LO.:~~ ,... ..;:0 ,: . .O 
2:OO PM 219 ' 1 151 58 3 4 0 0 2 . . . . O  . O.. . ,. O .. 0 0 
.3:00 PM , . .., 240 .::0.. :.". 180 .,, *.S. : .: , , 0 ,. ;2+:$.;--. '-.O , .:'.::;LO..'..! , .,O. ... .::;.;.:O, ,:. .. : ... 0.- ;::>:,:O. . ,.,,.:,LO, .. : .. 0 
4:00 PM - 237 . 0, .  . , -176 58 . O , ,.. 3 ' . ...o ... 0 0 ... .?. . . !' .*.. , 0 .  0 . , 0 

..S:00 W. ...,, 247 . .:'::O Lr.::191~ .. :53 .,.., . . 0 . . ... . ;31~..',~.::0-,- .'. .2.100.... ..-;.0. .. : ,.,. ;:;.O,'.i..:- .,,,: 0 ...; ::-:::.0;,.. :,.: ::O . - . . :O 
6:OO pH 216 : ,O , , . 16s 47 0 3 0. 0 ,.. . 1 .... 0 .  0 0 0 0 
.7:00 PH. ..A 139 .,i..,O 1:;%::;109',. .: :: -.27 . . ..,O+ .- : ,.,::3.5;;:.<..,:0:..: ,::.*:LO..:.:... .-!LO .,,.. ,:.:;:.:;O. ... :. . . ..:.0 ::.::::;;; .0 -:: +.:L.o ; . .. 0 
8:OO PM . 59 . 0 51 6 .  . . 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 . . . . . 0 . ,  0 .  0 

4:00 PM . :.;,. 37 : .:.i02.::,:::.-29 i ..... -,.7-:.,..:: .... -0 :. .. : ..r:.l?:; i .;- ..O' :.r:. ..L ',Q,:,:.'... -':.:o . . ..?$!.0'. . .:::. ..:LO :. :...::.il::O ... ..:..0 1 .;. -.., :O 
1O:OO PM 17 0 14 '. 3 .. 0 ,..?:.;. .. ,o 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

. 6. ,. .:O,ir> .. ' 0  .. :>O... . 0 . .  .-::o ' - ' .  1 1l:OO pM' . , - '  6 :-"O ...:.'.:* , . -0 . .. "q-j'. '. . :O .' :::.:.;:o,.: . ' :,o , . . ::'o 
T0t.d 2557 2 1915 570 9 51 4 0 5 0 0 1 0 0 

% 0.1 74.9 2 2 3  0.4 2.0 0 3  0.0 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 



ORDINANCE NO. 1928 

AN ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE FOR STOP SIGNS AT VARIOUS 
INTERSECTIONS ALONG HASTINGS ROAD, LAUREL LANE, AND OVERHILL ROAD AND 

TO PROVIDE FOR PUNISHMENT FOR VIOLATIONS THEREOF 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, as follows: 

Section 1. It shall be unlawful for the driver of any vehicle to cause or allow such vehicle 
traveling in a southeasterly Overhill Road to pass its intersection with Balmoral RoadIOverhill Road 
when there is standing at said intersection a "Stop" sign facing in the direction of such driver without 
having first brought such vehicle to a complete stop within ten (10) feet of said intersection (Figure 13 [I] 
- "Intersection C"). 

Section 2. It shall be unlawful for the driver of any vehicle to cause or allow such vehicle 
traveling in a northeasterly direction on Laurel Lane to pass its intersection with Overhill Road when 
there is standing at said intersection a "Stop" sign facing in the direction of such driver without having 
first brought such vehicle to a complete stop within ten (10) feet of said intersection (Figure 13 [2] - 
"Intersection D"). 

Section 3. It shall be unlawful for the driver of any vehicle to cause or allow such vehicle 
traveling in a northwesterly on Overhill RoadlHastings Road to pass its intersection with Overhill Road 
when there is standing at said intersection a "Stop" sign facing in the direction of such driver without 
having first brought such vehicle to a complete stop within ten (10) feet of said intersection (Figure 14 [I] 
- "Intersection E?'). 

Section 4. It shall be unlawful for the driver of any vehicle to cause or allow such vehicle 
traveling in a northerly direction on Overhill Road to pass its intersection with Overhill Road when there 
is standing at said intersection a "Stop" sign facing in the direction of such driver without having first 
brought such vehicle to a complete stop within ten (10) feet of said intersection (Figure 14 [2] - 
"Intersection E"). 

Section 5. It shall be unlawful for the driver of any vehicle to cause or allow such vehicle 
traveling in a easterly direction on Overhill RoadIHastings Road to pass its intersection with Hastings 
Road when there is standing at said intersection a "Stop" sign facing in the direction of such driver 
without having first brought such vehicle to a complete stop within ten (10) feet of said intersection 
(Figure 15 - "Intersection G"). 

Section 6 .  Any person violating the provisions of this ordinance shall be punished by a fine 
not to exceed $500.00, or by imprisonment not to exceed 180 days, or both. 

Section 7. All ordinances or portions of ordinances conflicting with this ordinance are 
hereby repealed. 

Section 8. This ordinance shall become effective when published as required by law. 

ADOPTED: This 9th day of February, 2015. 

Council President 



APPROVED: This 9th day of February, 201 5. 

Mayor 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Steven Boone, City Clerk of the City of Mountain Brook, Alabama, hereby certify the above to 
be a true and correct copy of an ordinance adopted by the City Council of the City of Mountain Brook, 
Alabama, as its meeting held on February 9,2015, as same appears in the minutes of record of said 
meeting, and published by posting copies thereof on February 10,2015, at the following public places, 
which copies remained posted for five (5) days as required by law. 

City Hall, 56 Church Street 
Gilchrist Pharmacy, 2850 Cahaba Road 
Overton Park, 3020 Overton Road 
The Invitation Place, 3 150 Overton Road 

City Clerk 



Overhill Road/Balmoral RoadIHastings Road/Laurel Lane 

Recommendations to Correct Sight Distance Deficiencies 

In order to mitigate sight distance deficiencies identified in Figures 6 through 12, revisions are needed to 

two existing traffic control devices (change YIELD signs to STOP signs) and two new traffic control 

devices would be required (two STOP signs). Also, a STOP sign needed to be added to Laurel Lane to 

reinforce what is already required by State Law. The proposed recommendations are shown in Figures 

13 through 15. 

Figure 13. Recommendations - Intersections C and D 

Figure 14. Recommendotions - Intersection E 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 9 



Overhill RoadIBalmoral Road/Hastings RoadILaurel Lane 

Frgure 15. Recommendations - intersection G 

An overall view of the signing which would be in place for the intersections should all the 

recommendations be implemented in shown in Figure 16. 

Skipper Consulting, lnc. Page 110 



CITY OF MOUNTAIN BROOK 

56 Church Street 

KO. Boa 130009 
Mounloin Brook, Alobomo 3521 3 
Telephone: 205.802.3803 
fax. 205.870.3577 
gos~ons@minbrook.org 

SAM S.  GASTON 
CITY MANAGER 

January 28,2015 

Dear Resident: 

The Mountain Brook City Council, at its February 9,2025 meeting, will hold a public 
hearing to consider traffic changes to the Overhill RoadILawel LaneMastings Road area. 
(See attached map.) The City Council meeting will begin at 7:00 p.m. 

The proposed traffic changes, recommended by Skipper Consultants and requested by 
some residents in this area, consists of adding three (3) new stop signs and replacing two 
(2) yield signs with stop signs. 

You are invited to attend the City Council meeting on Monday, February 9' at 7:00 p.m. 
to voice your comments on these proposed traffic changes. If you cannot attend, but 
would like to make comments, please contact me at 802-3800 or ptons6lrntnbrwk.orq. 
Questions about the traffic study and the recommendations can also be addressed to 
Richard Caudle at Skipper Consultants. His contact information is 655-8855 or 
-. 

Sincerely, 

smu Sam S. Gaston 

City Manager 



EXISTING STOP SlGN 
(OR YIELD SIGN) 

REPLACE YIELD SlGN WITH 

. . 



Overhill Road at Balmoral Road, 
Hastings Road, and Laurel Lane 
Mountain Brook, Alabama 

Traffic Study 

Prepared for: 

The City of Mountain Brook 
P.O. BOX i30009 
Mountain Brook, Alabama 352 13 
Phone (205) 802-2400 Fax (205) 879-69 13 

Prepared by: 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. 
3644 Vann Road, Suite 100 
Birmingham, Alabama 35235 
Phone (205) 655-8855 Fax (205) 655-8825 

C January, 20 1 5 



Overhill Road/Balmoral RoadIHastings RoadILaurel Lane 

Introduction 

This report documents a study performed for the complex intersection of Overhill Road/Balmoral 

RoadIHastings RoadILaurel Lane in the C i  of Mountain Brook. The complexity of the intersection is due 

to the geometry of the intersecting roads: two triangles with an intersection intermediate between the 

two triangles. In order to effectively describe the intersections considered in this study, the intersections 

were assigned letters A-G, as shown in Figure 1. 

Figure 1. Study Intersection Key Map 

This study was commissioned by the City of Mountain Brook to respond to concerns raised by residents 

regarding lack of sight distance to exit Laurel Lane onto Overhill Road (Intersection D). In performing a 

preliminary field review of the concern, it was apparent that this concern was due to not only specific 

circumstances related to the intersection of Overhill Road at Laurel Lane (Intersection D), but to the 

extended geometry, traffic control devices, and sight distance issues at other intersections in the two 

triangles. Therefore, a scope of work was proposed to provide a more comprehensive study of traffic 

conditions at all intersection within the two triangles. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 1 



Overhill RoadIBalmoral RoadIHastings RoadILaurel Lane 

Existina Traffic Counts 

Machine traffic counts on roadways surrounding the intersections were performed for twenty-four 

continuous hours on Thursday to Friday, December 4 to 5,2014, by Traffic Data, LLC on behalf of Skipper 

Consulting, Inc. The traffic count data is included in Appendix A of this report. The 24 hour, a.m. peak 

hour, and p.m. peak hour traffic counts are shown in Figures 2 and 3. 

Figure 2. Existing Traffic Counts (Intenections A-0) 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 2 



Overhill Road/Balmoral RoadIHastings RoadILaurel Lane 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. 

Figure 3. Existing Trafic Counts (Intersections E-G) 

Page 3 



Overhill Road/Balmoral RoadIHastings RoadILwrel Lane 

Existinn Traffic Control 

The traffic control devices used on each approach to the intersection vary by location. An inventory of 

existing traffic control devices is shown in Figure 4. 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. 

Figure 4. Existing Traffic Control Devices 

Page 4 



Overhill Road/Balmorai RoadIHastings RoadlLaurel Lane 

Amarent Traffic Control Conflicts 

In reviewing the existing traffic control, it appears that there may be a perceived conflict in rights-of-way 

between two movements at Intersection E. A perceived conflict occur where two (or more) vehicles 

might appear to both have right-of-way due to intersection geometry and lack of traffic control. This 

perceived conflict in who has right-of-way is illustrated in Figure 5. The recommendations included in a 

later section of this report include proposed measures to eliminate this perceived conflict. 

Figure 5. Perceived Rightsf- Way Conflict 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 5 



Overhill RoadIBalmoral RoadIHastings RoadILaurel Lane 

Existing Intersection Sight Distance 

Sight distance measurements were made for all movements at each of the seven intersections for all 

movements where sight distance of approaching vehicles is required in order to make the desired 

movement. The minimum required sight distance according to the AASHTO Policy on the Geometric 

Design of Highways and Streets (Green Book) is 240 feet, based on 25 miles per hour. 25 miles per hour 

is the posted speed limit on the roadways in the area, and is also the 85* percentile speed of traffic on 

Overhill Road as recorded by the Mountain Brook Police Department. The sight distance measurements 

are shown on Figures 6 through 12. 

Figure 6. Sight Distance -Intersection A 

Figure 7. Sight Distance - Intersection B 

Skipper Consulting, lnc. Page 6 



Overhill Road/Balmoral RoadIHastings RoadILaurel Lane 

Figure 8. Sight Distance -Intersection C 

Figure 10. Sight Distance - Intersection E 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 7 



Overhill Road/Balmoral Road/Hastings Road/Laurel Lane 

figure 11. Sight Distance -Intersection F 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. 

Figure 12. Sight Distance - Intersection G 

Page 8 



Overhill Road/Balmoral Road/Hastings Road/Laurel Lane 

Recommendations to  Correct S i~h t  Distance Deficiencies 

In order to  mitigate sight distance deficiencies identified in Figures 6 through 12, revisions are needed to  

two existing traffic control devices (change YIELD signs to  STOP signs) and two new traffic control 

devices would be required (two STOP signs). Also, a STOP sign needed to be added to Laurel Lane to 

reinforce what is already required by State Law. The proposed recommendations are shown in Figures 

13 through 15. 

Figure 1~~'Recommendations - Interseitions C and D 

Figure 14. Recommendations - Intersection E 

Skipper Consulting, Inc. Page 9 



Overhill Road/Balmoral RoadIHastings Road/Laurel Lane 

An overall view of the signing which would be in place for the intersections should all the 

recommendations be implemented in shown in Figure 16. 

Skipper Consulting, lnc. Page 10 



Figure 16. Overoll Concept 



Overhill Road/Balmoral Road/Hastings Road/Laurel Lane 

Other Sight Distance Issues 

Implementation of the proposed recommendations in Figures 13 through 15 will mitigate sight distance 

deficiencies related to vehicles being able to  see approaching conflicting vehicles in enough time to  

make safe maneuvers. However, there are two other sight distance issues related to vehicles being able 

to see an object (such as a pedestrian) on the side of the roadway due to obstructions caused by 

vegetation immediately behind the gutter. 

The first issue is for vehicles which make a right turn from Hastings Road onto Overhill Road (from 

lntersection G to  lntersection E). This is illustrated in Figure 17. 

The second issue is for vehicles which make a right turn from Overhill Drive onto Balmoral Road (from 

lntersection C to  lntersection 0). This is illustrated in Figure 18.. 

The only reasonable method to  mitigate these sight distance issues is to remove the existing vegetation 

to  the point where the sight lines are clear. A clear sight line of 240 feet is desirable. It is evident that the 

vegetation which needs to be removed is largely on the right-of-way. However, it is also evident that the 

vegetation to be removed is both ornamental and used for screening. It would be prudent for the City of 

Mountain Brook to contact the propetty owners at these two locations and discuss the possibility of 

removing or trimming back the vegetation in order to  improve these sight lines. 

Skipper Consulting, lnc. Page 12 



Overhill Road/Balmoral Road/Hastings RoadILaurel Lane 

Skipper Consulting, lnc. Page 13 



Appendix A 

Existing Traffic Counts 



TRAFFIC DATA, LLC 
1409 Tumham Lane, Birmingham, AL 35216 

205-824-0125 
Loatlon: : OVERnlll RD south of EIAWORAL RD (A) 
Uty, Stsb: : MOUMTAIN BROOK, AL Date: lU4/2014 

m a y  
24 Hour Volumr 

WB BB nd Wb WB 
23 5 30 1 0  43 l&.m PM a 1 1 1 _tqmb;nad-- 

8 3 11 10:lS PM 0 0 0 
10:30 m 4 6 10 10:30 PM 1 0 1 
10:45-. ---- 6 6 12 10:45 PM 0 0 0 
11:m AM 3 23 3 19 6 7  1l:OO PM 0 0 -  1 0-- 1 
11:15 AM 6 5 11 11:15 PM 0 0 0 
11:30 AM 9 1 10 11:30 PM 0 1 1 
11:45 AIY 5 10 15 11:45 PM 0 0 
1-15wih 5 1 9  4--9- 12/5/2014 12:OO AM 0 1 :- 0 0- 1 
12:15 PN 6 5 11 12:15AM 0 0 0 
12:30 PN 3 6 9 12:m AM 0 0 0 
12:45 PN 5 5 12:45 AM 1 0 1 
 EM-^ 4 22 0 6o ia AaM o o ~ a o a  
1:15 PM 10 8 18 1:15 AM 0 0 0 
1 : s  PN 5 8 13 1:M AM 0 0 0 
1:45 M 3 l2 1 :45 AM 0 0 
3:&-PN 6 32 8 - t : ~  2 B i i  0 0 0 0 0 -  0 0 
2:15 PN 3 8 11 2:15 AM 0 0 0 
230 PN 5 8 13 2:M AM 0 0 0 
245 18 9 27 2:45 AM 0 0 

. P N  6 27 9 3 3 1 5 -  3 i d o ' h - d  0 0 0 
:;*urn 5 5 10 3:lS AM 0 0 0 
3:30 M 11 11 22 3:30 AM 0 0 0 
3:45 M 5 8 l3 3:45 AM 0 0 
4 - : a 7 6  16 9 44 lS-7Ri 0 
4:15 PM 0 9 9 4:15 AM 0 0 0 

O h - 0 -  

4:30 m 7 12 19 4:30 AM 0 0 0 
4:45 mi 3 14 4:45 AM 0 0 0 
5:bd-PP3 6 25 lO-;rk--jg 5:W PM 0 4 0 0 d 4 
5:15 PM 7 9 16 5:15 AM 2 0 2 
s:m m 7 9 16 S:M AM 1 o 1 
545 PM 5 5 10 5:45 AM 1 
' P M  5 16 7-12- 6:OO-AM giz W 6 5 11 6:15 AM 1 0 1 

_ o h - 6  

6:30 PM 2 8 10 6:M AM 0 2 2 
6:45 PM 3 4 7 6:45 AM 8 3 11 
7m FW 2 - 5  16 n 7 : 6 6 7 3 7  5 31 8 67 
7:15 PM 1 3 4 7:15 AM 7 4 11 
7:30 PM 1 4 5 7:30 AM 12 12 24 
7:4SE 1 6 7:45 AM 14 24 

pn 1 4 2 12 i n  &wm----- 7 7 7 2 r - - - l 4  21 12 43 E! PM 0 3 3 8:lS AM 5 8 13 
8:30 PM 2 5 7 8:30 AM 5 6 11 - 8:45-PM 1 2 3 8 s  AM 5 2 7 
9.m PM 1 4 5 10 6 14 9:W AH 4 24 4 7 7  41 
9:15 M 2 2 4 9:15 AM 5 2 7 
9:30 PM 1 2 3 9% AM 10 4 14 
9:45_PM 0 1 1 9:45pM 5 7 

m E E i i  
-12- - 

24 Hour Vdwns 314 (45.3%) 379 (54.7%) 693 



T R A F F I ~ A .  LLC 
1409 Tumham Lane~~~mingham, AL 35216 

205-824-0125 
LocaUon: : W O R A L  BMD nocth af OVERHILL RD (8) 
at% w e :  : MOUNTAIN BROOK, AL m: lu4i2014 

mursday 
24 Hour Volume 

Se 
- 

NB Me Eiedn Com#ncd SB ComMned 
10:OO AM 28 4 l b  13 43 10:OO PM 114---- 1 4 
10:15 AM 9 6 15 10:15 PM 0 2 2 
10:U) AM 9 1 10 1090 PM 0 1 1 
10:45 AM 1 4 5 10:45 PM 0 0 0 
11:W AM 6 23 1 13 7 a 1 l : O c 7 0  0 0 0 
1l:lf AW 8 5 13 11:15 PM 0 0 0 

0 0  

1130 AM 4 5 9 l1:30 PM 0 0 0 
11:45 m 5 2 7 11:45 PM 0 0 0 
1 : 1 8  7 i m a i 4  I ~ ~ A M  o 1 0 o 0- 1 
12:15 PM 4 4 8 12:15 AM 1 0 1 
12:30 PM 5 5 10 1230 AM 0 0 0 
1245 pM 8 3 

5 5 E-3 12:45 AM 0 0 
1:OO PM 18 16 1:OO AM 0 - 0 t O  -0--0 
1 :s  PM 2 1 3 1:15AM 0 0 0 
1:U) PM 3 6 9 1:m AM 0 0 0 
1:45 PM 8 4 1:45 AM 0 0 0 

8 2:a-I% 4 22 43 2 5 ~ 0 ~ ~  CI 0 0 07 
2:15 PM 5 9 14 2:15 AM 0 0 0 
230 PM 6 15 21 2:m AM 0 0 0 
2:45 pN 7 2~45 AM 0 0 i d 8 d 2 2 ~  0 

3 5 1 0 ~ ~  0 0 b 0 0-7 gi2 zy 9 12 21 3:15 AM 0 0 0 
3:#) PM 5 10 15 3:m AM 0 0 0 
345 PM 7 9 16 3:45 AM 0 0 0 
4:w PCI 6 33 6 1 2 7  4:m AM a 1 o o 0- 1 
4:15 PM 7 6 13 4:15 AM 0 0 0 
4:30 PM 10 7 17 4'30 AM 1 0 1 
4:45 PM 10 4:45 AM 0 0 0 

-bobof& 1 4 ~ z - i h  5 3 n M  0 1 1 2 1 3 
515 PM 9 14 23 5:15 AM 1 0 1 
5:30 PM 21 8 29 5:30 AM 0 1 1 
5:4s I'M 11 4- 15 5:45 AM 0 0 0 

34 ' P M  10 7 1 3 7  6:m +W 0 2 2 6 2 8 z PM 16 2 18 6:15AM 1 2 3 
6:30 PM 5 1 6 6:30 AM 0 1 1 
6:45 pH 3 1 4 6:45 AM 1 
7 m P M  3 20 4 7 7 7  7:~-i 1 4  6 62 
7:15 PM 4 2 6 7:15 AM 4 10 

5 - 8 8  
14 

230  PM 8 1 9 7:30 AM 9 31 40 
7:45 PM 5 5 7:45 IW 9 15 24 

- 2 4 - 4 -  14 1-12- ti2 W 2 3 5 8: 15 AM 4 6 10 
8:30 PM 0 0 0 8:30 AM 4 3 7 
8:45 I'M 2 8:45 AM 9 -:am~l 3 7 1 5 4 1 2  9:bo-t I I  3 11 13- 7 27 
9: 15 PM 1 2 3 9:15AM 2 1 3 
9:30 PM z 2 4 9:m AM 3 4 7 - 9:4JPW 1 0 1 9:45 AM 7 3 

58 a i a i -  
10 

24 Hour Va*l*r 360 (52.0%) 332 (48.W) 692 

Count 
SB LIB 
110 137 

Comblncd 
247 

44.5 n 
PeakHour l0:OO AM 

W m a  28 
Factor 0.78 



TRAFFTC DATA, LLC 
1409 Tumham Lane, Blrmlngham, AL 35216 

205-824-0125 
l.ocaW. : W.MUW RD north of OMRHIU RD (C) 
c~ty, scb~e: : noum~a saoo~, AL ~a tc :  12/4/2014 

Thurrdsy 
24 Hwr Volume - 

-In SB CombW Sg 
5 " i 6  

tbpln NB Corncombined 
10:Oo AM 11 i- Zf 10:m PM d 1 - 0 -  0- - 1 
10: 15 AM 4 3 7 10:15 PM 1 0 1 
10:30AM 2 9 11 10:30 PM 0 0 0 
l a 4 5  AM 0 2 2 10:45 PM 0 0 0 
11:MAM 3 18 1 9 4 27 1 l a - 7 0 - 0 -  - - o - - - o -  0 0 
11:ISAM 9 3 12 11:15 PM 0 0 0 
II:30AM 6 3 9 11:30 PM 0 0 0 

- l l:45 &4 2 11:45 PM 0 0 :- :-Ti2 
0 

11:m PM 10 4 12 1-14 12:w AM 0 - a b  0 70 
12:lSPM 2 4 6 12:15 AM 0 0 0 
1230 PM 2 2 4 1230 AM 0 0 0 - lt:45= 2 2 12;45 AM 0 0 :--n 1:OO ffl 1 13 3 13 1:dd AM 
1:15 PM 5 3 8 1:IS AM 0 0 0 

0 0 : -  

130 PM 6 4 10 1:30 AM 0 0 0 
1:45 PM 1 3 1:45 AM 0 r : a  m 3 9 1-t- 2 : ~ :  0 0 0 0 
2: 15 PM 

:- 
1 4 5 2:15 AM 0 0 0 

2:30 PM 3 4 7 2:30 AM 0 0 0 
245 PM 2 4 6 245 AM 0 0 0 

2 17 5 IS 7 7  3 j 6  AM 0 0 0 0 0- 0 3% E 9 2 11 3:15AM O O O 
3:30 PM 5 3 8 3:30 AM 0 0 0 
3:45 PM 1 6 7 3:45 AM 0 0 
4:m PH 2 11 3 20 5 31 4:W AM 0 D 0 0 t- 0 
4:15 Pi4 5 4 9 4:15 AM 0 0 0 
4:30 PM 0 8 8 4:30 AM 0 0 0 
4:45 PM 5 9 4:45 AM 0 0 0 

- - - - % : + *  11 4 19 5:dO AM 0 1 0 - 1 
5:15PM 2 5 7 5:15 AM 1 0 1 
5 : s  PM 3 2 5 5:10 AM 0 0 0 
5:45 pM 1 2 3 5:4_s-AM 0 0 0 
6.- PM 2 10 4 11 - - 6 7  63Xl Ah 2 4 0 1 2 5  
6: 15 PM 4 1 5 6:15 AM 0 0 0 
6:30 PM 3 5 8 6:30 AM 0 0 0 
6:45 PM 1 1 2 6:45 AM 2 1 3 
7 m P M  0 5 2 6 2 1D -:MI AM 3 17 1 9 4 26 
7:15 PM 1 0 1 7:15 AM 2 3 S 
7:30 PM 1 2 3 7:30 AM 5 2 7 
7:45 pM 3 1 4 7;4s AM 7 3 

2 3 
10- -- -7 8:& AM 3 I3 1 4 4 17 

8:15 M 1 1 2 8:lS AM 4 0 4 
8:s  P)rO 0 1 1 8:s AM 4 2 6 
8H5 PM 0 1 1 8:45 M4 1 3 9 m a - H  2 3 0 4 2 7 S:V$V 1 6 1 14 

--- 

9:15 PM 0 1 1 9:lS AM 1 2 3 
9:30 PM 0 1 1 9:30 AM 5 1 6 
9~5-m 1 2 3 9~45-AM 2 2 4 

%a La 
24 Hour Voluma 162 (51.3%) 154 (48.7%) 316 

SR 
count n 117 90 

fa 
45 

Comblmd m 
109 

Cambkad 
199 

615 96 38.5 $6 45.2 96 54.8 9C 
Pwk nopr 230 AM 10:OO AM lo:% AM 2:45 PM 3:45 PM 300 PM 

Wume 19 16 29 18 21 33 
Factor 0.68 0.44 0.60 0.50 0.66 0.75 

Tc7 '7 



TRAFFIC DATA, LLC 205-824-0125 

Location: OVERHILL RD south of HASTINGS RD (D) 
Count Interval: 15 minutes 
Count Date: Thursday - December 4, 2014 /FriBay - December 5, 2014 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
NorthBound SouthBound Total 

Time Volume Volume Volume . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
10:OO - 10:14 7 6 13 
10:15 - 10:29 6 6 12 
10:30 - 10:44 9 3 12 
10:45 - 10:59 3 1 4 

Hour Total 25 16 41 
11:OO - 11:14 2 4 6 
11:15 - 11:29 4 7 11 
11:30 - 11:44 6 6 12 
11:45 - 11:59 4 7 11 

Hour Total 16 24 40 
12:OO - 12:14 8 6 14 

C 
12:15 - 12:29 4 2 6 
12:30 - 12:44 7 4 11 
12:45 - 12:59 3 4 7 

Hour Total 22 16 38 
13:OO - 13:14 6 4 10 
13:15 - 13:29 7 9 16 
13:30 - 13:44 5 10 15 
13:45 - 13:59 5 7 12 

Hour Total 23 30 53 
14:OO - 14:14 7 11 18 
14:15 - 14:29 6 4 10 
14:30 - 14:44 5 8 13 
14:45 - 14:59 19 6 25 

Hour Total 37 29 66 
15:OO - 15:14 8 7 15 
15:15 - 15:29 2 6 8 
15:30 - 15:44 9 12 21 
15:45 - 15:59 7 8 15 

Hour Total 26 33 5 9 
16:OO - 16:14 4 5 9 
16:15 - 16:29 2 7 9 
16:30 - 16:44 7 4 11 
16:45 - 16:59 5 10 15 

Hour Total 18 26 . 44 
17:OO - 17:14 6 . 8 14 
17:15 - 17:29 ' 8 6 14 
17:30 - 17:44 7 7 14 



HiccoCounts da l 
Page 2 C:\mOAIO14\HBR001;20 

Location: OVBRHILL RD south of HASTINGS RD (D) 
Count Date: Thursday - December 4, 2014 / ~ r i d a y  - December 5 ,  2014 

--------------------------------------------------------------  
Nor t hBound SouthBound Total 

Time Volume Volume Volume . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
17:45 - 17~59 6 3 9 

Hour Total 27 24 51 
18:OO - 18:14 5 5 10 
18:15 - 18:29 4 7 11 
18:30 - 18:44 5 3 8 
18:45 - 18:59 3 4 7 

HOUr Total 17 19 36 
19:OO - 19:14 2 4 6 
19:15 - 19:29 1 1 2 
19:30 - 19:44 2 2 4 
19:45 - 19:59 0 6 6 

Hour Total 5 13 18 
20:OO - 20:14 3 3 6 
20:15 - 20:29 2 3 5 
20:30 - 20:44 1 2 3 
20:45 - 20:59 2 1 3 

Hour Total 
21:OO - 21:14 
21:15 - 21:29 
21:30 - 21:44 
21:45 - 21:59 

Hour Total 
22:OO - 22:14 
22:15 - 22:29 
22:30 - 22:44 
23:45 - 22:59 

Hour Total 
23:OO - 23:14 
23:15 - 23:29 
23:30 - 23:44 
23:45 - 23:59 

Hour Total 
Mid - 12:14 

12:15 - 12:29 
12:30 - 12:44 
12:45 - 12:59 

Hour Tot a1 
1:OO - 1:14 
1:15 - 1:29 
1:30 - 1:44 
1:45 - 1:59 
Hour Total 

2:OO - 2:14 
2:15 - 2:29 
2:30 - 2:44 
2:45 - 2 : 5 9  
Hour Total 



(- Location: OVERHILL RD south of HASTINGS RD (D) 
Count Date: Thursday - December 4, 2014 /Friday - December 5 ,  2014 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
NorthBound SouthBound Total 

Time Volume Volume Volume 
-___-_--- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - .  

3:OO - 3:14 0 0 0 
3:15 - 3:29 0 0 0 
3:30 - 3:44 0 0 0 
3:45 - 3:59 0 0 0 
Hour Total 0 0 0 

4:OO - 4:14 0 0 0 
4:15 - 4:29 0 0 0 
4:30 - 4:44 0 0 0 
4:45 - 4:59 0 0 0 
Hour Total 0 0 0 

5:OO - 5:14 0 0 0 
5:15 - 5:29 0 1 1 
5:30 - 5:44 0 0 0 
5:45 - 5:59 0 0 0 
Hour Tot a1 0 1 1 

6:OO - 6:14 0 2 2 
6:15 - 6:29 1 0 1 
6:30 - 6:44 0 1 1 
6:45 - 6:59 3 3 6 
Hour Total 4 6 10 

7:OO - 7:14 3 4 7 
7:15 - 7:29 2 3 5 
7:30 - 7:44 4 5 9 
7:45 - 7:59 10 11 21 
Hour Total 19 23 42 

8:OO - 8:14 5 7 12 
8:15 - 8:29 1 7 8 
8:30 - 8:44 3 6 9 
8:45 - 8:59 4 3 7 
Hour Total 13 23 36 

9:OO - 9:14 5 3 8 
9:15 - 9:29 8 3 11 
9:30 - 9:44 6 9 15 
9:45 - 9:59 7 5 12 
Hour Total 26 20 46 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

ADT 2 94 318 612 
AM Peak Time : 9:45-10:45 7:45- 8:45 9:30-10:30 
AM Peak Volume: 29 31 52 
PM Peak T i m e  : 14:15-15:15 13:15-14:15 14:45-15:45 
PM Peak Volume: 38 37 . 69 



TRAFFIC DATA, LLC 205-824-0125 

Location: HASTINGS RD east of OVERHILL RD (E) 
Count Interval: 15 minutes 
Count Date : Thursday - December 4,2014 /Friday - December 5, 2014 

* -_-_-- -* - - - - * - - - - - - - - " - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  

Eas tBound WestBound Total 
Time Volume Volume Volume . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

1O:OO - 10:14 2 2 4 
10~15 - 10:29 1 1 2 
10:30 - 10:44 3 0 3 
10:45 - 10:59 4 0 4 

Hour Total 10 3 13 
11:OO - 11:14 0 1 1 
11:15 - 11:29 6 1 7 
11:30 - 11:44 1 6 7 
11:45 - 11:59 3 3 6 

Hour Total 10 11 21 
12:OO - 12:14 0 1 1 
12:15 - 12:29 5 2 7 
12:30 - 12:44 4 0 4 
12:45 - 12 :59 3 5 8 

Hour Total 12 8 20 
13:OO - 13:14 3 0 3 
13:15 - 13:29 1 3 ' 4 
13:30 - 13:44 2 1 3 
13:45 - 13:59 5 1 6 

Hour Total 11 5 16 
14:OO - 14:14 0 1 1 
14:15 - 14:29 3 2 5 
14:30 - 14:44 3 1 4 
14:45 - 14:59 4 0 4 

Hour Total 10 4 14 
15:OO - 15:14 5 3 8 
15:15 - 15:29 7 3 10 
15:30 - 15:44 5 6 11 
15:45 - 15:59 4 2 6 

Hour Total 21 14 35 
16:OO - 16:14 5 4 9 
16:15 - 16:29 5 0 5 
16:30 - 16:44 6 5 11 
16:45 - 16:59 8 2 10 

Hour Total 2 4 11 . 35 
17:OO - 17:14 3 4 7 
17:15 - 17:29 ' 3 4 7 
17:30 - 17:44 4 2 6 



i. Location: HASTINGS RD east of OVERHILL RD (E) 
Count Date: Thursday - December 4,2014 /Friday - December 5, 2014 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
EastBound WestBound Total 

Time Volume Volume Volume .............................................................. 
17:45 - 17:59 4 1 5 

Hour Total 14 11 25 
18:OO - 18:14 3 2 5 
18:15 - 18:29 1 3 4 
18:30 - l8:44 6 3 9 
18:45 - 18:59 2 0 2 

Hour Total 12 8 20 
19:OO - 19:14 2 1 3 
19:15 - 19:29 2 1 3 
19:30 - 19:44 3 1 4 
19:45 - 19:59 3 1 4 

Hour Total 10 4 14 
20:OO - 20:14 2 0 2 
20:15 - 20:29 0 0 0 
20:30 - 20:44 3 1 4 
20:45 - 20:59 0 1 1 

Hour Total 5 2 7 

C 
21:OO - 21:14 1 0 1 
21:15 - 21:29 2 0 2 
21:30 - 21:44 1 1 2 
21:45 - 21:59 1 0 1 

Hour Total 5 1 6 
22:OO - 22:14 1 0 1 
22:15 - 22:29 0 0 0 
22:30 - 22:44 0 0 0 
23:45 - 22:59 0 0 0 

Hour Total 1 0 1 
23:OO - 23:14 0 0 0 
23:15 - 23:29 0 0 0 
23:30 - 23:44 1 0 1 
23:45 - 23:59 0 0 0 

Hour Total 
Mid - 12 :14 

12:15 - 12:29 
12:30 - 12:44 
12:45 - 12:59 

Hour Tot a1 
1:00 - 1:14 
1:15 - 1:29 
1:30 - 1:44 
1:45 - 1:59 
Hour Total 

2:OO - 2:14 
2:15 - 2:29 
2:30 - 2:44 
2:45 - 2:59 
Hour Total 



nt crotounts 
Page 3 

Location: HASTINGS RD east of OVERHILL RD (E) 
Count Date: Thursday - December 4,2014 /Friday - December 5, 2014 \ 

- -_-----------------------------------------------------------  
Ea s tBound We8 ~ B O W ~  Total 

Time Volume Volume Volume . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
3:OO - 3:14 0 0 0 
3:15 - 3:29 0 0 0 
3:30 - 3:44 0 0 0 
3:45 - 3:59 0 0 0 
Hour Total 0 0 0 

4:OO - 4:14 0 0 0 
4:15 - 4:29 0 0 0 
4:30 - 4:44 0 0 0 
4:45 - 4:59 0 0 0 
Hour Total 0 0 0 

5:OO - 5:14 0 0 0 
5:15 - 5:29 0 2 2 
5:30 - 5:44 0 1 1 
5:45 - 5:59 0 0 0 
Hour Total 0 3 3 

6:OO - 6:14 1 1 2 
6:15 - 6:29 0 0 0 
6:30 - 6:44 1 0 1 
6:45 - 6:59 1 3 4 
Hour Total 3 4 7 

7:OO - 7:14 3 1 4 
7:15 - 7:29 3 5 8 
7:30 - 7:44 11 7 18 

(1 
7:45 - 7:59 4 4 8 
Hour Total 21 17 38 

8:OO - 8:14 3 3 6 
8:15 - 8:29 3 4 7 
8:30 - 8:44 3 4 7 
8:45 - 8:59 0 1 1 
Hour Total 9 12 21 

9:OO - 9:14 1 1 2 
9:15 - 9:29 1 0 1 
9:30 - 9:44 3 2 5 
9:45 - 9:59 3 1 4 
Hour Total 8 4 12 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

ADT 187 122 309 
AM Peak Time : 7:OO- 8:OO 7:15- 8:15 7:15- 8:15 
AM Peak Volume: 21 19 40 
PM Peak Time : 16:OO-17:OO 15:15-16:15 15:15-16:15 
PM Peak Volume: 2 4 15 . 36 



r TRAFFIC DATA, UC 205-824-0125 

Location: HASTINGS RD north of OVERHILL RD (F) 
Count Interval: 15 minutes 
Count Date: Thursday - December 4, 2014 /Friday - December 5, 2014 

Time 
SouthBound NorthBound 

Volume Volume 
Total 
Volume . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

10:OO - 10:14 0 1 1 
10:15 - 10:29 3 2 5 
10:30 - 10:44 0 1 1 
10:45 - 10:59 0 0 0 

Hour Total 3 4 7 
11:OO - 11:14 1 0 1 
11:15 - 11:29 1 0 1 
11~30 - 11~44 0 0 0 
11:45 - 11:59 0 0 0 

Hour Total 2 0 2 
12:OO - 12:14 2 1 3 
12:15 - 12:29 2 1 3 
12:30 - 12:44 0 0 0 
12:45 - 12:59 0 0 0 

Hour Total 4 2 6 
13:OO - 13:14 2 0 2 
13:15 - 13:29 2 0 2 
13:30 - 13:44 0 0 0 
13:45 - 13~59 1 0 1 

Hour Total 5 0 5 
14:OO - 14:14 0 2 2 
14:15 - 14:29 2 0 2 
14:30 - 14:44 1 3 4 
14:45 - 14:59 1 3 4 

Hour Total 4 8 12 
15:OO - 15:14 1 0 1 
15:15 - 15:29 0 0 0 
15:30 - 15:44 2 0 2 
15:45 - 15:59 0 0 0 

Hour Total 3 0 3 
16:OO - 16:14 0 0 0 
16:15 - 16:29 0 0 0 
16:30 - 16:44 1 0 1 
16:45 - 16:59 1 2 3 

Hour Total 2 2 4 
17:OO - 17:14 0 0 . 0 
17:15 - 17:29 1 1 2 
17:30 - 17:44 ' 0 0 0 



HicroCounts da l 
Page 2 C: \ T O O A I 0 1 4 ~ K 1 3  .PA 1 

i 

Location: HASTINGS RD north of OVBRHILL RD [F) [ ... . 
Count Date: Thursday - December 4,2014 /Friday - December 5,2014 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
Sout hBound Nor t hBound Total 

Time Volume Volume Volume -_-__--------------------------------------------------------- 
17:45 - 17:59 0 0 0 

Hour Total 1 1 2 
18:OO - 18:14 0 0 0 
18:15 - 18:29 2 0 2 
18:30 - 18:44 0 0 0 
18:45 - 18:59 0 1 1 

Hour Total 2 1 3 
19:OO - 19:14 0 0 0 
19:15 - 19:29 0 0 0 
19:30 - 19~44 1 1 2 
19:45 - 19:59 0 0 0 

Hour Total 1 1 2 
20:OO - 20:14 0 0 0 
20:15 - 20:29 0 0 0 
20:30 - 20:44 0 1 1 
20:45 - 20:.59 0 1 1 

Hour Tot a1 0 2 2 
21:OO - 21:14 1 1 2 
21:15 - 21:29 0 0 0 
21:30 - 21:44 1 1 2 
21:45 - 21:59 0 0 0 

Hour Total 2 2 4 
22:OO - 22:14 0 1 1 
22~15 - 22:29 0 0 0 
22:30 - 22:44 0 0 0 
23:45 - 22:59 0 0 0 

Hour Total 0 1 1 
23:OO - 23:14 0 0 0 
23:15 - 23:29 0 0 0 
23:30 - 23:44 0 0 0 
23:45 - 23:59 0 0 0 

Hour Total 0 0 0 
Mid - 12:14 0 0 0 

12:15 - 12:29 . 0 0 0 
12:30 - 12:44 0 1 1 
12:45 - 12:59 0 0 0 

Hour Total 0 1 1 
1:00 - 1:14 0 0 0 
1:15 - 1:29 0 0 0 
1:30 - 1:44 0 0 0 
1:45 - 1:59 0 0 0 
Hour Total 0 0 0 

2:OO - 2:14 ' 0 0 0 
2:15 - 2:29 0 0 0 
2:30 - 2:44 0 0 0 
2:45 - 2:59 0 0 0 
Hour Total 0 0 0 



c. Location: HASTINGS RD north of OVERHILL RD (F) 
Count Date: Thursday - December 4, 2014 /Friday - December 5, 2014 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
SouthBound NorthBound Total 

Time Volume Volume Volume . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  
3:OO - 3:14 0 0 0 
3:15 - 3:29 0 0 0 
3:30 - 3:44 0 0 0 
3:45 - 3:59 0 0 0 
Hour Total 0 0 0 

4:OO - 4:14 0 0 0 
4:15 - 4:29 0 0 0 
4:30 - 4:44 0 0 0 
4:45 - 4:59 0 0 0 
Hour Total 0 0 0 

5:OO - 5:14 0 0 0 
5:15 - 5:29 1 1 2 
5:30 - 5:44 0 0 0 
5:45 - 5:59 0 0 0 
Hour Total 1 1 2 

6:OO - 6:14 0 0 0 
6:15 - 6:29 0 0 0 
6:30 - 6:44 0 0 0 
6:45 - 6:59 0 0 0 
Hour Total 0 0 0 

7:OO - 7:14 0 0 0 
7:15 - 7:29 0 1 1 
7:30 - 7:44 1 0 1 
7:45 - 7:59 0 0 0 
Hour Total 1 1 2 

8:OO - 8:14 0 0 0 
8:15 - 8:29 0 1 1 
8:30 - 8:44 1 0 1 
8:45 - 8:59 1 0 1 
Hour Total 2 1 3 

9:OO - 9:14 0 0 0 
9:15 - 9:29 0 2 2 
9:30 - 9:44 1 1 2 
9:45 - 9:59 0 0 0 
Hour Total 1 3 4 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

ADT 34 31 6 5 
AM Peak Time : 9:30-10:30 9:15-10:15 9:30-10:30 
AM Peak Volume: 4 4 8 
PM peak Time : 13:OO-14:OO 14:OO-15:OO 14:OO-15:Oo 
PM Peak Volume: 5 8 - 12 


	2015-Feb-9 Meeting Agenda
	1.  2015-Jan-26 E911 Board minutes
	2.  2015-Jan-26 Council minutes
	3.  Sec 115 trust amendments
	4.  Southern Light franchise agreement
	5.  Work comp addendum/renewal
	6.  Building code update
	     Commentary
	7.  South Brookwood Road traffic improvements
	     Skipper traffic study
	8.  Hastings, Laurel, Overhill Traffic Improvements
	     Skipper traffic study



